












T HE 

Arraignment, Tryal, and Condemnation 
F 

tam 'illiam Kidd, 

M ii 
N D 

PIRACY, 
Upon Six feveral Indiaments, 

At the Admiralty-Seffions, held by His Majefly's Corn-
ninon at the Old-Bally, on Thurfday the 8th. and Friday the 9th. 
of May, 1701. who, upon full Evidence, was found Guilty, 
receiv'd Sentence, and was accordingly Executed at Execution-
Dock, May the 2 3 d. 

AS ALSO, 
The TRYALS of Nicholas Cburchill, James Howe, Robert 

Lamley, William lenkins, Gabriel Leff, Hugh Parrot, RichardBarlicorn, 
Abel avons,, and Darby Mullins, at the fame Time and Place 
fur PIRACY. 

Perul¿q by the judges and Council. 

To which are added, 

Captain Kit D D s Two Comrniffions 
One under the Great Seal of ENGLAND, and the Other under 

the Great Seal of the Court of Admirllty. 

LO ND ON: 

Printed for j. Nutt, near Stationers-Hag. r 7 of. 
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At the Admiralty Seftionsheld at the Old 
Bally, London, on the 8th. and 9th. of May, 170 t. 

T
H E King's Commiftion for holding the Court, being firfl read, the Court pro-
ceeded to call the Gentlemen fummon'd upon the Grand Jury, and che Perfons 
Sworn were thefe Seventeen following, Viz,. 

William Broughton. Stephen Thom4n. 
Thomas Hanwelt. Thomas Cooper. 
Daniel Bor2velt. Robert Gower. 
llumphry Bellamy. Robert Clement. 
.Nath. R0111071, Senior. Thomas Siffon. yoilma Bolton. William Goodwin. 
Benjamin Pike. Robert Callow. 
jofeph Marlow. Thomas Haws. 
Benjamin Travis. 

Cl, of .Arr. Gentlemen of the Grand Jury, land together, and hear the Charge 
The King's MajeFty commands all 7ugices of the High Court of ikebriiralty, that have .any Aii— 

thority to take any Inquifitions, Reeogn;zances, Examin,tzons, or Informations .of Offences committed 
within the 7urirdiaion of the Admiralty of England, to deliver the Records of the fame into this 
C(Iurt, &c. And all others are commanded to keep Silence on Pain of Imprifonrnent. . 
Then Dr. Oxenden gave the .Charge to the Grand Jury, explaining the Nature of the 

Commiffion, and the Crimes inquirable by vertue of it by the Grand Jury. 
• Then the Grand yury withe'.irew, and after fome time returned into'.Cor, and found the Bill' 

of IndiEtment againfl- Captain Kidd for Murther, and another againfl him and Nicholas 
Churchill, James Howe, Robert Larnley,. William Jenkins, ' 'Gabriel Loff, Hugh 
Parrot, Richard Barlicorn, Abel Owens; and liarby ylullins,-für Piracy, Then Pro-
clamati.on (69 kifiJal) being made the foretold Prifoners. were brought to the Bar, imd,,iir-, , • 

• f,aignel - •` , , i 
Cl. of ../irr. William Kidd, bold up thy Fiand, , 

L. Will. -Kidd:, May it pleate yótir Lordihips, I delve you to pern-íit rtie to have Councel., 

• Mr. Recorders. What would you llave Councel for ? 
Will. Kidd. My Lord, I have fame matter of Law relating to the Indiertnent, and I delire I 

may llave Councel to fpeak to it, 
I - Dr. Oxenden. What matter of Law can you have ? 

Cl. of Arr. How does he know what it is he is charged with ? I have not told him. 
Mr. Recorder. You muff let the Court know what thole Matters of Law are, before you 

can have Councel afligned you. 
Will. Kid'. They be Matters of Law., my Lord. 
Mr. Recorder., Mr. Kidd., Do you know what you mean by Matters of Law ? 

' Will. Kidd. I know what I mean, I delire- to put off nu Tryal as long as I can, till I can 

get. my Evidence ready. 
" Mr. Recorder. Mr. Kidd. -You had heft mention the Matter of Law you would infif1 on. 

Dr. Oxenden. It cannot be Matter of Law to put off your Try al, but Matter of Faa. 
Will. Kidd. I defire your Lordlhip's Favour, 1 delire Dr. Oldifii and Mr. Lemmor, may be 

heard as to my Cafe. . 
Cl., of Arr. What can he have Councel for before he has pleaded ? • 
4ir. Recorder. Mr. Kidd, The Court tells you, you fhall be heard what you have to fa.Y 

when you have pleaded to your Indi&ment. If you plead to it, if you will,' you may af-
fign Matter of Law, if you have any ; but then you man let the Court know what you 

Will. Kidd. I beg your Lordfhip's Patience till I can procure my Papers, I had a couple of 
would infill on. 

French Paffes, which 1 mutt make ufe of in order to my juflification• - 
Mr. Recorder. That is not matter of Law. You have had long Notice of your Tryal, 

and might have prepared for it. How long have you had Notice, 01, your Tryal ? 
Will. Kidd. A matter of a Fortnight. \ 
Dr. Oxenden. Can you tell the Names of any Perfons that you would make ufe of in your 

Defence ? 
will. Kidd. I fent for them, but I could not have them. 
Dr. Oxenden. Where were they then ? . . 
Will. Kidd. I brought them to my Lord Bellamont in New England. 
Mr. Recorder. What were their Names ? You cannot tell without Book. Mr. Kitigij the 

Court fees no Reafon to put off your Tryal, therefore you muft plead. 
, Cl. of dn.. Will. Kidd, hold up thy Hand. 
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will. Kidd. I beg your Lordfhips I may have Councel admitted, and that my Trval may n • 
be put of am not really prepared for it. 

Mr. Recorder.* Nor never will if you could help it. 
Dr. Oxenden. Mr. Kidd, You have had realdnable Notice, and you knew you muff be tri-

ed, and therefore you cannot plead you are not ready. 
Will. Kidd. If your Lordfhip permit chofe Papers to be read, they will ¡Ladle me. I &fire - 

my Councel may be heard. 
Mr. Coniers. We admit of no Courted for him. 
Mr. Recorder. There is no ate joined, and therefore there can be no Councelaffigned. 

Mr. Kidd, you mutt plead. 
Will. Kidd. I cannot plead till I have chofe Papers that I infifted upon. 
Mr. Lemmon. He ought to have his Papers delivered to him, becaufe they are very mate-

rial for his Defence. He hP.s endeavoured to have them, but could not get them. 
Mr. Conierf. You are not to appear for arty one till he pleads, and that the Court afligns 

you for his Councel. 
Mr. Recorder. They would only put off the Tryal. 
Mr. Coniers. He mull plead to the tridia-tnent. Cl. of Arr. Make Silence. 
Will. Kidd. My Papers were all feized, and I 'cannot make my Defence without them. I 

delire my Tryal may be put of milt can have them. 
Mr. Recorder. The Court is of Opinion, they ought not to flay for all your Evidence, it 

may be they may never come. You muff plead, and then if you can Iátisfie the Court, 
that there is Reaton to put off your Tryal, you may. 

WI!. Kidd. My Lord, I have Bufinefs in Law, and I delire Councel. 
Mr. Recorder. Mr. Kidd, The Courfe of Courts is, when you have pleaded, the matter of • 

Tryal is next; if you can then Ihow there is caufe to put off the Tryal, you may; but 
now the matter is to plead. 

Will. Kidd. it is a hard cafe, when all tilde things fhall be kept from me, and I be iorcéd 
to plead. 

Mr. Recorder. If he will not plead, there muff be Judgment. 
Well. Kidd. My Lord, would you have me plead, and not have my Vindication by me ? 
Cl. of Arr. Will you plead to the Indiament? 
Will. Kidd. I would beg that I may have my Papers for my Vindication. 
Cl. of Arr. Nich. Churchill, hold up thy Hand. 
Nich. Churchill. My Lord, I delire I may have the Benefit of the King's Proclamation, 

I came in upon the King's Proclamation. 
Mr. Recorder. 11 you do not plead, the Court mull pafs Judgment upon you. You can 

have no Benefit in what you fay, till you have pleaded. If you were indi¿ted for Felony, 
- • A you will not plead, the Law takes it in nature of a Confeffion, and Judgment muft 

fr you were proved guilty. 
hold up thy Hand. arnes Howe) hold up thy Liand. Rcb.-rt 

p th.. P.4 I.. they did.) 
Mr. Recordir. s s. K. d has not held up his Viand, 
Cl. of Arr, He does hold L's Hand. William 7enkins, hold up thy Hand. Gabriel Lei, 

hold up thy Hand hold ur) thy Hand. Rich. Barlicurn, hold up thy Hand. 
.444 Owens, 1,-' y 

Al' C. r..a-tne n upon the King's Proclamation, and entred my fell into the King's 

mo. 7ccorder. You Mull plead &It, and then, if there be Occafion, you will have the 
Benefit .of it. (Then be held up his Hand.) 

Cl. of Arr. Derby Mui/irs. hold up thy Hand. 
D. Mullins. May it pleafe your Lo..dihips, I came in voluntarily on the King's Proclama-

tion. 
Mr. Recorder. That is the fame Cafe with Owens, you muff fpeak to that afterwards. 
Cl. of Arr Will. Kid, You ftand indicled by the Name of Will. Kid, &c. Art thou guilty, 

or not guilty ? 
Will. Kidd. I cannot plead to this Indiament, till my French Palies are delivered to me. 
Cl. of Arr. Are you guilty, or not guilty ? 
Will. Kidd. My Lord, I infili upon my French Papers, pray let me have them. 
Mr. Recorder. That muff not be now, till you have put your felt on your Try al. 
Will. Kidd. That muff jultifie me. 
Mr. Recorder. You may plead it then, if the Court fee caufe. 
will. Kidd. My Juflification depends upon them. 
Mr. Recorder. Mr. Kidd, I muff tell you, if you will not plead, you muff have Judgment 

againft you, as ftanding mute. 
Will. Kidd. I cannot plead tin have thele Papers, and I hare not my Witnefres here. 
Mr. Recorder. You do not know your own Interefl; if you will not plead, you ruilfl have 

judgment againft you. 
Kidd. If I plead, I {hall be acceflary to my own Death, till I have Perfons to plead - 

for me. 
Mr. Recorder. You are acceffary to your own Death, if you do not plead. We cannoc 

enter into the Evidence, unle5 you plead. Cl. of 4rr. 
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Cl. of _Arr. Are you Guilty, or not Guilty ? 
Mr. Recorder. He do's not underfiand the Law, you muff read the Statute to him. 
Cl. of Arr. Will. Kidd, are you Guilty of this Piracy, or not Guilty ? 
Will. Kidd. 11 you will give me a little Time to find my Papers, I will plead. 
Cl. of Arr. There is no Reafon to give you Time; Will you plead, or not ? 
Mr. Corners. Be pleafed to acquaint him with the Danger he fiands in by not Pleading. 

Whatever he fays, nothing can avail him till he pleads. 
Mr. Recorder. He has been told fo, but he do's not believe us. 
Mr. Coniers. If there be any reafon to put off his Tryal, it muff be made appear after 

ihue is joined. 
Mr. Recorder. If you fay, Guilty, there is an end of it; but if you fay, Not Guilty, the 

Court can examine into the Fad. 
Officer. He 1-ays he will plead. 
Cl. of Arr. Will. Kidd, art thou Guilty, or not Guilty WilL Kidd. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be tried? Will. Kuld.• By God and my Country. 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. (And fo of all the res.) 
Will. Kidd. My Lord, I beg I may .have my Tryal put off for Three or Four Days, till / 

have got my Papers. 
Mr. Recorder. The Judges will be here by and by, and you may move the Court then; 

we are only to prepare for your Tryal: We do not deny your Motion; but when the 
Court is full, they will confider of the Reafons you have to offer. 
• Then Will. Kidd was tried upon the Indikiment for Murtber. 

Cl. of Arr. Will. Kidd, hold up thy Hand, Thou Itandeli indicted by the Name .of 
William Kidd, l4te of London, Mariner, &e. 

The Firft Indidment for MURT 14 E R 

T HE, 7urcrs for our Sovereign Lord the King, (19, upon thier Oath, prefent, That 
William Kidd, late of London, Mariner, not having tte Fear of God before his 

Eyes, but being MOV 4 and feduc'd by the Inffigation ef the Devil, the 3 oth. Day of 
0,-Stober, in the Ninth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord, William the Third, by 
the Grace of God, of England, Scotland, France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the 
Faith, &c. by Force anel.Arms, .&c, upon the High Sea, near the Coalt of Malabar, in 
the Eaft-Indies, and within the 7urilditlion of the Admiralty of England, in a cer-
tain Ship ca. ll'd the Adventure-Galley, (whereof he the laid William Kidd, then as 
Commander ;) then and !here being,felonioufly, 'voluntarily, and 1 his Malice afore- thought, 
then and there did make an Affault, in and upon one William Moore, in the Peace of God, 
and of our faid Sovereign Lord the King , to wit, then and there being, and to the Ship 
aforefaid call"el the Adventure Galley, then and there belonging ; and that the aforefaid 
William Kidd, with ../ certain wooden Bucket, bound with Iron Hceps, of the Value of 
Eight Pence, which he the laid William Kidd, then and there had and held in his Right-
hand, did violently, felenicufly, 'voluntarily, and of his Malice afore-thought, bear and 
.drike the aforefaid William Moore, in and upon the right part of the head of him the 
laid William Moore, a little above the Right-ear of the raid William Moore, then and 
there upon the High Sea, in the Ship afore faid, and within the Jurifilidion of the Admi-
ralty of England aforefaid,  giving to the faid William Moore, then and there with the 
Bucket aforefaid, in and upen the aforefaid right part of the Head of him the faid Willi-
am Moore, a little above the Right-ear of the faid William Moore, one mortal Bruifs 
of which mortal Bruife the aforefaid William Moore, from the faj 30th. Day of Oólo-
ber, in the Ninth Tear afirefaid, until! the One and thirtieth Day of the laid Month of 
Odober, in- the Year aforefaid, upon the High Sea aforefaid, in the Ship aforefaid, and 
within the 7urifdi¿lion of the Admiralty cf England aftraid, did languifb' and langutfh-
ing did live; upon which One and thirtieth Day of Oclober, in the Ninth Tear aforefaid, 
the aforefaid William Moore upon the High Sea aforefaid, near the aforefaid Coafi of Ma-
labar, in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid, in the Ship aforefaid, can! the Adventure-Galley, 
and within the yurifdieticn- of the Admiralty of England aforefaid, did die; and fo the 
furors aforefaid, upon their Oath aforefaid, do fay, That the ,eforefaid William Kidd, felo-. nioufly, voluntarily, and of his Malice afore-thought, did kill and murther the aforefaid 
William Moore, upon the High Sea aforefaid, and within the juriPi8ion of the Ad-
miralty of England aforefaid,  in manner and form aforefaid, againfl- the Peace of our 
¡aid Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, &c. 

How fay'fi thou, Will. Kidd, art thou Guilty of this Murther, whereof thou flandell 
indiaed, or Not Guilty ? 
. Will. Kidd. Not Guilty. 

Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be tried ? Will. Kidd. By God and my Country. 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. Nicholas Churchill, 'fames Howe, Robert 

Lamley, William 7enkins, Gabriel Loll; Hugh Parrot, Richard Barlicorn, Abel Owens, Dart' 
Mullins, bold up your Hands. "You the ['goners at the Bar, thofe Men that you fhall hear 
called, and perfonally appear, are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King and you, 

B upon 



[ 
upon Tryal oF your feveral Lives and Deaths: If therefore you, or any of you, Will eial. 
lenge them, or any of them ; your time is to fpeak to them as they come to the Book to gi 
be fworn, and before they be fworn. rn 

Mr. Recorder. Capt Kidd, I told you it would be your Will. Kidd. My Lord, I delire Councel may affign'tdinTee,. when the Jury was cali'd, to. 

offer what you had to offer; therefore, if you have any thing nerroonvwmidonetod, ttfhhaaeytrettohbeetyhaenn:a,on:larl: 

ter of Law that he has to plead; otherwife he mull be tried. 

t_ 

heard on my behalf. 

you had belt lay it. 

Will. Kidd. I beg I may have Councel, Dr. 0/di(12, and Mr. m Lmay 

A4,.. 7. Powel. If he delires it, you may be Councel for him, p 

Dr. Oldi[b My Lord, he moves that his Tryal for Piracy be put off for feveral Rea-. 
fons; one is, there is one Davis, that is a neceffary Witnefs for him ; he was taken a Paf-
fenger into the Ship, and therefore could not be concerned in any Piracy: Now this 
Davis {hinds indited, fo that he is deprived of this Perfon, who is a neceffary Witnefi for 
him in this Cafe. 

Mr. Coniers. He is not indided yet, he may call him if he thinks fit. 
Mr., 7. Powel. If he be indifted, yet he may be a Witnefs. up 
Dr. Oldifh. My Lord, we delire he may be here. Mr. 7. Powel. Where is he ? K 
Cl. of Arr. He. is in Newgate. Mr. 7. Powel. Let him be tent for. th 
Dr. Oldifb. My Lord, it is very fit his Tryal fhould be delay'd for fbme Time, becaufe try 

he wants fotne Papers very neceffary for his Defence. It's very true, he is charged with Mt 
Piracies in feveral Ships; but they had French Pails when the Seifure was made. Now, 
if there were French Palles it was a lawful Seifure. 

Air. J. Powel. E-Iave you thofe Paffes ? 3.c 
Will. Kidd. They were taken from me by my Lord Bellamont, and thefe Paffes would bc 

my Defence. Bt, 
Dr. Oxenden. Had you any other Paffes when you took the Armenian Ship ? ed 
Dr. 02411. If thofe Ships that he took had French Paffes, there was juft caule of Seifure; ed 

and it will excule him from Piracy. 
Will. Kidd. The Palles were feifed by my Lord Bellamont, that we will prove as clear as as 

the Day. in i 
Mr. Lemmon. My Lord, I delire one word as to this Circumftance, he was doing his 

King and Country Service, inftead of being a Pirate: For in this very Ship there was a 
t t1' French Pals, and it was fhown to Mr. Davis, and carried to my Lord Bellamont, and he Gh.1 

made a Seifure of it. And there was a Letter writ to teftifie it, which was produced before CiV 

the Parliament; and that Letter has been tranfinitted from Hand to Hand, to that we can- Da 
not at prefent come by it. There are feveral other Papers and Letters that we cannot 

the 
Pai 

and therefore we delire the Tryal may be put off till we can procure them. 
L. C. B. Ward. Where are they ? 
Mr. Lemmon We cannot yet tell whether they are-in the Admiralty Office, or whether on 

Mr. 7odrell hath them. ne 1 
bar Mr. 7. P072,,ei. Let us fee on what you go. You talk of French Palles, you fhould have 

been prepared to make Affidavit of it. What Ship was that which had the French Paffes? 
Mr. Lemmon. The fame we were in, the fame that he is indided for. 
Mr. 7. Towel. Make out this, Mr. Lemmon. th 
Mr. Lemmon. My Lord, we delire Mr. Davis may be fent for, he will prove it. tht 
L. C. B. Wak(1,- Send for Edward Davis. a 
Mr. Fell. My Lord, will you have him brought into Court ? 
L. C. B. Warl Yes. fa, 
Mr. Sell. Gen. They have had a Fortnights Notice to prepare for the Tryal. 
Dr. Oldifb. We petitioned for Money, and the Court ordered Fifty Pounds; but the Per-

fen that received it went away, and we had none till laft Night. 
Dr. Oxenden. I ordered that the Money might be paid into his own hands, that he might 

he hire to have it. 
fo Mr. Crawley, Regifter, Declar'd, That he paid the lo 1. into his own Hands on Tareflar 

Morning. 

L. C. B. Warii. You ought to make it out, that there is a reafonable Caufe to put off the th 
Tryal, or elfe it cannot be allowed. 

Mr. Lemmon. My Lord, we will be ready to morrow morning. 
L. C. B. Ward. They ought to have had due Notice, What Notice have they had ? 
Mr. Sol. Gen. A Fortnights Notice, this Day Fortnight. 
Dr. Oldifb. My Lord, he fhould have had his Money delivered to him. 
Will. Kidd. I had no Money nor Friends to prepare for my Tryal till laft Night.; Col 

L. C. B. Ward. Why did you not fignifie lb much to the King's Officers. ver 
Mr. ol. Gen. My Lord, this we will do, let Davis be brought into Court; and if that be 

a juft Excufe, we are contented. In the mean time, let him be tried for the Murther, 
wherein there is no pretence of want of Witneffes or Papers. 

Officer. Davis is here, My Lord. 

am 
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Nathaniel Long. 
7o. Ewers. 
*Yo Child. 
Ed. Reeves. 
Tho. Clark. 
Nath. Green. 

Henry Sherbrook. 
Henry Dry. 
Rich. Greenaway. 
7o. Sherbrook. 

Emms. 
Rog. Mott. 

Cl. of Arr. Set all afide but Captain Kidd. William Kidd, You are now to be tried on the 
Ic to Bill of Murther, the Jury is going to be fworn; if you have any Caule of Exception, yott 

may fpeak to them as they come to the Book. 
Will. Kidd. I thall challengé none, I know nothing to the contray but they are honeft Med. 

After Proclamation made, (as ufual) the Court proceeded to the Tryal, as follows: 

Cl. of Arr. Will. Kidd, hold up thy Hand. (wkich he did) You Gentlemen of the Jury, look 
upon the Prifoner, and hearken to his Caufe. He 'lands indi¿ted by the Name of William 
Kidd, &c. as before in the Indiament. Upon this Indiament he has been arraigned, and 
thereunto has pleaded, Not Guilty, and for his Tryal has put himfelf on God and his Coun-
try, which Country you are. Your Charge is to enquire. Whether he heG uilty of the 
Murther whereof he is Indiaed, in manner and form as he [lands indided, or Not guilty,&c. 
Mr. 1<nap. My Lord and you Gentlemen of the Jury, 
This is an Indiament of Murther. 'The Indictment fets forth, That William Kidd, on the 

;.0th. of Oaoher, on the High Sea, on the Coal of Malabar, did affault one William Moore, on 
Board a Ship called the Adventure, whereof William Kidd was Captain ,puck him with a Wooden 
Bucket, hooped with Iron, on the [1(le of the Head, near the right Ear, and that of this Bruife he di-
ed the next Day, and fi) that he has murdered the laid Per/on. To this Indidment he has plead-
ed Not Guilty; if we prove him Guilty, you mull find him fo. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, We will prove this as particularly 
as can be, that William Kidd was Captain of the Ship, and that William Moore was under him 
in the Ship, and that witliout any Provocation he gave him this Blow, whereof he died. 
M. Coniers My Lord, It will appear to be a moll barbarous Faft, to murther a Man in 

thil manner; for the M.in gave him no manner of Provocation. This William Moore was a 
Gunner in the Ship, and this William Kick! abufes him, and calls him Loufie Dog; and upon a 
civil Anfwer he takes this Bucket, and knocks him on the Head, whereof he died the next 
Day. Call 7ofeph Palmer; arid !Wert Bradinharn. (Who appeared, and Were Sworn.) Yofepb 
Palmer, give my Lord and the Jury ani Account of w.wh you faw done by William Kidd, on 
the Coaft of Malabar, as to William Moore his Gunner. 

fcf. Palmer. About a Fortnight before this Accident fell out, Captain Kidd met with a Ship 
on'that Coaft, that was called the Loyal Captain. And about a Fortnight after this the Gun-
ner was grinding a Chiffel aboard the Adventure, on the High Sea, near the Col of Mala-
bar, in the Eafk-lnelles. 

Mr. Coniers. What was the Gunner's Name 
7of. Palmer. Will. Moore. And Captain Kidd came and walked on the Deck, and walks by 

this Moore; and when he came to him, fays, Which way could you have put me in away to take 
this Ship, and been clear; Sir, fays William Moore, I never fpoke fuel') a Word, nor ever thought (itch 
a thing. Upon which Captain Kidd called him a Loufie Dog. And lays William Moore, If 1 
am a Lotifie Dog, you have made 7n3 fo ; you have brought me to 7(7in, and many more. Upon his 
flying this, rays Captain Kid, Have I ruined you, you Dog? and took a Bucket bound with Iron 
Hoops, and 'truck him on the right fide of the Head, of which he died the next Day. 

Mr. Cooper. What was the Gunner doing at that time, when he gave him that Blow ? 
:for Pfalmer. He was grinding a Chiffel at the time that he 'truck him. 
Mr. Cooper. Did he give him the Blow immediately after he gave him that Anfwer ? 
7of: Palmer. He walked Two or Three Times backward and forward upon the Deck, be-

fore he ftruck the Blow. 
Mr. 7. Turt9n. What did Captain Kidd fay HI ? 
7of. Palmer. Which way could you have put me in a way of taking this ShiP, and been clear? Says 

the Gunner, I never faid ro, nor chought any _fisch thing. 
Mr. Cooper. Hark you, Friend, explain that matter. 
Mr. B. Flatfel. What was the Occation of thofe Words ? 
'f or Palmer. It was concerning this Ship. 
L. C. B. Ward. What Ship was it ? Name the Ship. 
7of.Talmer. It was the Loyal Captain. Captain Kidd laid to William Moore, Which way 

could you have put me in the way to have taken this Ship, and been clear ? Says William Moore, The. 
ver faid loch a thine, nor thought it. And upon that he cant him Loule Dog. 

.L..C. B. Ward. Was that Ship taken? pr. Palmer. No, the was gone. 
Coniers. You fay he call'd him Loufie Dog. 701. Palmer. Yes, 

Mr. Colliers. What did William More fay to him then ? 

Arr.   
jof. Palmer. 
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.7°C Palmer. He faid, If I am a Lotifie Dog, you have brought me to it; you Lave ruined m Cap 

and many more. Upon this, Jays Captain Kid, Have I brought you to Ruin, ycru Dog ? Repeát • . 
ing it two or three times over, and took a turn or two upon the Deck, and then takes up the tnaiisgi 
Bucker, and 'hikes him on the Head. to 1 

Mr. Cooper. You fay he made a turn or two on the Deck, and then firuck him. , whi 
Yof. Palmer. Yes. Ca 
Mr. Coniers. Tell my Lord what pall next after the Blow. hag.) 
7-(f. Palmer. He was let down the Gun-Room, and the Gunner faid, Farewel, farewel t 

Captain Kidd has given me my 141. And Captain Kidd !hod on the Deck, and faid, Togs are e 
a Villain. 

Mr. Cooper. How near was Captain ,Kild to him when he faid he had given him his lall ? 
.7°C Palmer. He was near him. 
Mr. Cooper. Was he within hearing of what Moore faid ? 

Palmer. Yes, he was within leven or eight Foot. 
Mr. Son. Gen. Did you apprehend that he died of that Blow ? 
Yof: Palmer. He was in perfeét Health before that. 2 

Mr. Soil. Gen. What did the Surgeon think of it ? 
yf. Palmer. The Surgeon is here. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. Did you fee him afterwards ? 
yy: Palmer. No, I did not fee him after till he was dead. 

Yof. Palmer. After he was dead, the Surgeon w as called to o 
Mr. Cooper. How did the Wound appear when you fáw him ?p 

en his Head, and Captain 
Kidd faid, Tou are damn'd bufe without Order. 

Mr. Cooper. Though we a.k you Quellions, you muff turn your Face there towards the 
Jury. Give the Jury an Account of what you faw. 

yof Palmer. I felt on his Head, and I felt fomething give way, and about the Wound there 
was a Bruife. 

Air. Cooper. You fay you faw him when he was carried oft' after the Blow, how did his 
Head appear then ? was he Bloody 

yy. i'alrner. There was not much Blood came from him. 
L. C. B. Ward. Was you by when thole words were fpoken? 
yor Palmer. Yes, my Lord. 
L. C: B. Ward. Did you fee the Prifoner give the Blow with the Bucket upon thofe 

words ? y,f. Palmer. Yes, my Lord. 
L. C. B. Ward. How long was it before he went down the Deck? 
7f. Palmer. Prefently. L. C. B. Ward. Did he complain of the Wound ? 
y,f. Palmer. He faid, Farewel, farewel, Captain Kidd has given me my laft. 
L. C. B. Ward. Was this Moore in a good Condition of Health before this Blow was iVen 

him ? 
7of: Palmer . Yes, my Lord. L. C. B. Ward. And afterwards he complained. yo".. Palmer. Yes my Lord. 
L. C. B. Ward. When he was dead, what Marks were on his Head ? 
pl. Palmer. On the right fide of his Head, on this Place (pointing to his own Head) it was 

bruifed a conliderable Breadth; and in one Place I could feel the Skull give way. 
Mr. Cooper. How long after the Blow did he die ? 
yof. Patwr. The next Day following. 
Mr. Cooper. And you fa.y you faw him dead then. yof.Palmer. Yes, Sir. 
L. C. B. Ward. Captain Kidd, if you will ask him any Qgellions, you may. 
Will. Kidd. My Lord, I would ask this Man what this Moore was doing when this thing 

happen'd. 
L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Palmer you hear what he lays; what was Moore doing ? 
yy: Palmer. He was grinding a Chiffel. 
Will. Kidd. What was the Occafion that I firuck him ? 
yof. Palmer. The Wor ds that I told you before. 
Will. Kidd. Was there no other Ship ? yof. Palmer. Yes. 
Will. Kidd. What was that Ship ? yof Palmtr. A Dutch Ships 

Kidd. What were you doing with the Ship ? E 
yo.f. Palmer. She was becalmed. 
Will. Kidd. This Ship was a League from us, and fome of the Men would have taken her, 

and I would not confent to it, and this Moore faid I always hindred them making their For. 5 
tunes ; was not that the Reafon I firuck him ? was there not a Mutiny on Board. 

YOÍ: Palmer. No. You chaced this Dutchman, and in the way took a Malabar Boat, and 
chaced this Ship all the whole Night; and they fhowed their Colours, and you put up 
your Colours. 

Will. Kidd. This is nothing to the Point, was there no Mutiny aboard ? 
7j. Palmer. The re was no Mutiny, all was quiet. 

Will. Kidd. Was there not a Mutiny, becaufe they would go and take that Dutchman ? 
y,/ Palmer. No, none at all. Mr. Coniers. Call Robert Bradinharn. 
7t41. What was the Caufe that he firuck him ? 
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yof. Palmer. A Fortnight before this was done, we met with this Loyal captain, ot 

Captain Hoar was Commander, and he came on Board Captain Kidel's Ship, and Cap-
tain Kidd went on Board his, and then Captain Kidd let this Ship go. About a Fort. 
night after this, the Gunner was grinding his Chiffel on the Deck ; and Captaini<a ir . Te fai¿ 

to him, Which Iva, could you have put me in a way to, take this Ship, and been c! 
ear 

he replv'd, r never laid -filch a Thing, nor thought of fuel) a Thing. Whereupon 
Captain Kidd called the Gunner Loufie Dog. And fays Moore, .1f. I am a Loulie Dog, you 
have made me o; you have brought me to Ruin, and a great many,morc. , And fays Captain 
Kidd, Have I brought you to Tuin, you Dog? and after firock him with the Bucket. Thefe 

were all the Words that palL 
ír. y Powel. Was Captain Kidd aboard that Ship ? 

yv Palmer. Yes, and Captain 'Hoar was aboard him ? 
Mr. 7. Fwd. Was there any body nigh at that time ? 
Yof. Palmer. Yes, there were Eight or Nine Men, thal had Muskets and other Arms; 

and they were for taking the Ship, and Captain Kidd was againft it, fo it was not done. 
Will. Kt4 My Lord, 1 was in the Cabin, and heard a Noife, and came out; and Wil-

liam Moore laid, You ruin us becaufe you will not Confint to take Captain Hoar's Ship. Says a 
Dutchman, I will put Captain Kidd in a way to take this Ship, and come off fairly. 

L. C. B. Ward. You May ask him any quellions you have a mind to, but you muff re-, 
ferve what you have to fay for your felf till you come to make your .Defence. 

Mr. Sol. Gen. Mr. Palm er, Do you know of any other Plovocation to ftrike him, befides 

thofe Words? 
y.of. Palmer. I know of no other Prewocation. 
Mr. Coniers. Set up Robert Bra•linham. (who appeared) Mr. Bradinham, In what Office 

was you in the Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. I was Surgeon of the Ship. 
Mr. Coniers. Of what Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. The Adventure Galley ; whereof Captain Kidd was Matter. 
Mr. Coniers. Was you there when the blow was given ? R. Bradenham. No. 
Mr. Coniers. Was you lent for when Captain Kidd had given the Gunner the Wound upol:1 

die' Head. - 
R. Bradinham. I was fent for to his Affiffance after he was wounded, and I came to him, 

and asked him how he did; he laid, He was a dead Man, Captain Kidd had given him his 
IA Blow. And I was by the Gun-Room and Captain Kidd was walking there,_ and I 
heard Moore fay, Farewel; Farewel, Captain Kidd has given me my 14 Blow; and Captain 
Kidd, when he heard it, laid, Damn him, he is a Villain. 

Mr. Confers. Did you heer him lay fb ? 
R. Bradinham. I did hear it. 
Mr. Cooper. Was it in a:way of Anfwer to what he laid ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Mr. Cooper. How long did he live after the Blow ? 
R. Bradinham. He died the next Day. The Wound was but final', the Scull was fra&ured. 
Mi.. Cooper. Do you believe he died of that Wound ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Mr. Cooper. Had you any Difcourle with. Captain Kidd after this, about this Man's Death ? 
R. Bradinham. Some time after this, about Two Months, by the Coaff of Malabar, 

Captain Kidd faid, I do not care fo much for the Death of my Gunner, as for other Paffages of my 
Voyage ; for I have good Friends in England, that will bring me off' for that. 

L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, Will. you ask him any Qieffions, 
Will. Kidd. I ask him whether he knew of any Difference between this Gunner 2nd me 

before this happened. 
R. Bradinham. I knew of no Difference between them before at all. 
Mr. Sol. Gen. Mr. Kidd. Have vou any thing more to ask him ? Will. Kidd, No. 
Mr. Coniers. Then vve have done for the King. 
LC. B. Ward. Then you may make your Defence, you are charged with Murther, and 

you have heard the Evidence that has been given, What have you to fay for your {elf ? 
win. Kidd. I have Evidence to prove it is no fuch thing, if they may be admitted to 

come hither. My Lord, I will tell you what the Cafe was, I was coniing up within a 
League of the Dutchman, and fome of my Men were making a Mutiny about taking her; 
and my Gunner told the People he could put the Captain in away .to take the Ship, and 
be fafe. Says I, How will you do that? The Gunner anfwered, We will get the Captain and 
Men aboard. And what then ? We will go aboard the Ship, awl .plunder her, and we well have it 
under their Hands that we did not take her. Says I, Ibis is Judas like, I dare not do, fuch a thing. 
Says he, We may do it, we are Beggars already. Why fays I, May we take this Ship becaufe we 
are Poor ? Upon that a Mutiny arofe, fo I took up a Bucket, and juff throwed it at hira, 
and faid, You are a Rogue to make fiícb a mmon. This I can prove, my Lord. 

L. C. B. Ward. Call your Evidence. 
Mr. Cooper. Mr. Palmer, Was there any Mutity in the Ship, when this Man was killed ?. 
7of. Palmer. There was none. 
L. C. B. Ward. Captain Kiddj Call what Evidence you will. 
Will. Kidd. They are Prifoners Iciefire they may be called up. 

L. C. B. WarÁ. 
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L, C.B: Ward. Whatever other Crimes they may be Guilty of, tLey may be Witne 
for him in this Cafe. 
Mr Bar. Hat(ell. Mr. Palmer, Did he throw the Bucket at him, or filike him with it? 

Dalmer. He held it by the Strap in his Hand. 
Will Kidd. Call Abel Owens. (who appeared) Can 37ou tell w:lic.h w2y this Bucket Ins 

thrown ? 
Mr. 7. Pcwel. What was the Provocation for throwing this Bucket ? 
Abel Owens. I .was in the Cook room, and hearing fo. me DifFerence on the Deck, .1. cal.. . L9 1 '2' 

Out; and the Gunner was grinding a Chiffel on the Grindfione, and the Captain and  
he had fome Words ; and the Gunner faid to the Captain, 2'u have brcught us to ruin, and ye'''''7.: TY 

are defolate. And toys he, Have I brought yu.to ruin? I have not brought you to rum, I have , 
not done an ill Thing to ruin you, you are a fawcy Fellow to give me thefe lTords ; and then he ' km i_.• 
took up die Bucker, and did give him a Blow. 

Will. Kidd. Was there not a Mutiny among the Men ? /3 . 
Abel Owens. Yes, and the bigger Part was for taking the Ship; and the Captain faid, 2'04 waY w 

that will take the Dutchman, you are the Ylrongera, you may do what you pleate, if ycu will take L. 
her you may take her; hut if you go from aboard, you fhall never come aboard again. 

' BJ/ L C. B. Wind. When was this Mutiny you 1peak of? 
Abel Owens. When vve were at Sea. Ship 
L. C. B. Ward. How lorg was it before this Man's Death 
Abel Owens. About a Month. L I 

Air. 7. Powel. At this time when the Blow was given, did Moore the Gunner endeavour B‘; 
L. to make any Mutiny ? 
B.. Abel Owens. No. 
.:'l/J Mr. 7. Towel. Was there any Mutiny then ? 

Abel Owens. None at all. B. 

Will. Kidd, Did not he fay, He could put me in a way to take the Dutchman, and be clear 1 2.n.cil, 
Abel Owens. I know there were feveral of them would have done it, but you would not He i 

give Content to it. 
• R. WU. Kidd No, but this was the Reaton 3: threw the Bucket at him. L. 

L. C. B. Ward. Captain Kidd, he tells you this was a Month before you firuck him. R. 
7ury My Lord, we delire he may be asked, whether he did throw the Bucket, or firike L. 

llil wIrh it. 
R., 14 art?. Anfwer the Jury to that (bef}ion. . 

. Bi; 
,....,, !-'e took it with the Strap, and 'truck him with it. 

.7.. .. B. Tfl.r!riL (lotain Ku -id, II in you call any more? 
Will. J • Yes,  Lord. Cal 7(1,12ar-1 Barl,cern. 

....:H • ens. I dif" fee the Stroke given. 

,,...',. 
_ Did' vou fee the stroke ? 

:.:,o I was near you when you did it. 
nor. -I throw ir at him ? 

1).64:54,,:t, 

.did r 

was ¡ 
z' 

Quef+ions would you Lave him ask'd ? Ba 
Will.. K ., R. ..:.:(). I:Torn, what was the Reafon that Blow was given to the-Gunner? . Ai 
R. Pariiccos. At ,i,-4:t when you met with the Ship there was a .N.4.titiry, and Two or 

P.. ..' I!. L. Ship, '. the Men laid : rt 7i'ili. not, ve w ill. And he faid, If )ou have a mind, jou may; 

Threr .- et the Dutc:-, .ien came aboard ; and forrie faid the was a rich 17 L..ií'el. a:,rI r': ,, would: 
tak- her : Arci the CAptain faict No. I w ill .9ot tak, her. And t!--,.e was a Mutiny in the live 

but th,.. , ;;:- . - .,.,ill not, come alcvg w, h me. L 
Tí'itl. .K1'; .,.'. no you think Wdiam Moore was one of thof.;,:, that was for taking her ? 13 

, 

Barlicorn. Yes , 
L. C, ,-J. Ward. How long was that before 'Moore died, do you know ? 
Bay/ico,i. No, I did not keep a Journal. 
L. C. B. Ward, Was it after Moore died ? 
Barheorn. No Sir, it was befo.e Moore died. 
Mr. Coviers. How long before? 

Barticorn. 1 beiieve ir was about a Month, or Three Weeks21 cannot tell which. 
' L. C. B. Ward. You lay there was a Mutinyin the Ship, what was the Mutiny about? /. 

Barlicorn. About taking-the Ship 
L. C. B Ward. What was the Ship's Name ? i 
Barlicorn The Loyal Captain. And the Captain laid, If they take the Ship, they Pall never Mut 

cowe aboard ao:a n. 2, 
L. C. B. Ptiar,' Was you by when Moore received this Blow ? .., 
Barlitorn. No, I was not by then. i 
WilL Kidd. Do you know of any Qgarrel between this Moore and I before that Accident? .1. 
Barlicorn. No, I did not. ..i 

• 
Mr. 3/. rowel. Was there any Mutiny in the Ship when this Moore died ? , 
Barlicorn. They were talking of it. 
Will. Kidd. Was there not a Dutchman dole by us, when this Blow was given? 1. 
' ask Barlicu-,i, Yes Sir. -  i 
Will, 1-1,,,..:(1. He was going to make .another Mutiny, and I prevented him. ivlut 

Mr, :Y. Poweh 
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efres , Mr. Powei. Did Moore, endeavour to make any Mutiny at that timc.: 
Barlieorv. The Ship was gone at Lilac time. 
Mt. . ow' el. How long had the been gone ? 
Barucorn. About a Week. 

wks mr. B. ffit fell. Was there any Mutiny about the Dutch Ship you faw ? 
Barlicorn. The Dutch Ship ? Not that I know of but there was a Mutiny about the. 

Loyal Captain. 
:anje - Will. Kidd, Do yoU not know or another Mutiny ? 
id he Mr. B. .11411. Do you know of any other Mutiny ? Barlicorn. No. 
'd Will. Kidd. At that Very time they were going to make a Mutiny.' 
bore c j you ask him any more-Qieflions ? • 
n he w.u. Kidd. What DiCcourfe had I With Moore at that time ? 

z.irite,?rn, I was aboard our Ship, but (Ed not lee the Blow given. 
WA Kidd. They were faying they wolf,d take her, and he faid, He could put me in a 

2"0:1 way to take her, without coming to any harm. 
take I. C. B. PM:rd. What occafion could thofe Words be of a Mutiny ? 

Barlicorn. There were many of the Men would have gone with Arms, and taken that 
Ship without the Captain's Confent. 

L. C. B. vv. rd. At th.v time when this 114()ore was killed, was there any Mutiny ? Barlic. No. 
wrd. When was it that Moore faid, They night have taken this Ship ? 

Barlicorn. At the fame time when the Ship Was in Company with us. 
your L. c. B. Prz,r(1. That was a Week or Fortnight before. 

B.aliecri, No, Sir, the Loyal. Captain was within fight of us. 
M r. B H,,,f¿n. What when Moore was killed ? 
Barlicorn. No, not Lhen. WII. Moore lay -fck a great while before this Blow was given; 

and the Donor laid, when he vifited hiM, • This Blow was not the caufe of his Death. 
[ear . L C. B, Ward. Then they, muff be confronted. Do you hear, Pr.-4inbarn, whal: 'he fays ? 
I not He lzys you faid, That .11low was not .the caufe of his Death. Did you ever lay fo.? . 

R. Bradinharn, My Lord,- I never faid to". 
L. c. B Wird. Did you fee that young Man there ? 
R. 13-adinbarn. Yes, he was aboard the Ship. 

lrike L. C. B Word. Was Moore lick before that blow ? 
R. Bradinham. He-was not lick at all before. 
Barlicorn. He was lick fome time before, and this Blow did but juft Olic4 and the 

Donor faid, He did not die on the occafión of this Blow. 
Mr. y. Gil. Did you ever lay ló, Mr. Bradinharn Bradinbam. No, my LoM„' 
ii/.1r. Sol. Gen. You fay he did but juff touch him, 'were you prefi:nt when the:low 

was given. • , 
.&47.fiecrn. No but I faw him after he was dead, and I was by when the Dodor faids 

did not die of that Blow. 
Mr. Cooper. What did he die of ? 
Barlieorn. I cannot tell, he had been lick before, we had many tick Men aboard. 

• Mr. Sol. Gen. How j long did he lie after this Blow, before he died ? 
Barlicorn. I cannot tell uffly how long it was. 
L. C. B. Ward. How long do you think ? You 'took Notice** the Blow, how long did he 

live afier that ? 
Barlicorn. I believe about a Week. 
L. C. B. Ward. And the two Witneffes fwore he died the next Day. 
Barn:corr. I cannot tell juffly how long he lived afterwards. 

We defi¿e to know whether he knew what was the Occafion of this Blow. 
)1.1r'!co,ri. All the Reafon I can give, is, becaufe it was thought he was going to breed a Mu-

tiny in ti-e 
j.. C. B. Ward. Did you hear of that by any Body ? 
Will. Kidd. Was Bradmham in the Mutiny ?' declare that. 
L C. B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, Why do you ask that Queffion ? 
Will. Kidd. I ask him whether Bralnham was not in any Mutiny in the Ship. 
L. C. B. Ward. Why do you ask that ? 
Borneorn. If any thing was to be, he WAS as forward as any one. 
• C. B. Ward. You fay he wa-, as forward as any, but ic does not appear any one made a 

Mutiny at this time. 
.8 arlicon. I do not know, Sir. 
1.. C. B., Ward Have you any more to call ? 

Kidd. My Lord, here is another Wimefs. 
• C. B. Ward. Whr. is your Name? Hugh Parrot. Hugh Parrot. 
L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Kidd . what do you ask him ? 

./i1, --Kidd. I ask you whether B,adinharn was in a Mutiny in my Ship, 
MO 'Parrot. I cannot fay whether he was or no. 
L. C. B. l'artI. Captain Kirl, you are tried for the Death of this Moore, now why do you 

ask this Queltion ? what do you infer from hence? You will not infer, that if he was a, 
Mutineer, it was lawful for you to kill /Were. Kidd. 
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William Karl. Do you know the Reafon why I ftruck Moore? . 
.Hugh Parrot. Yes, becaufe you did not take the Loyal Captain, whereof Captain aoar 

• 
L. C. B. Ward. Was that the Reafon he flruck Moore, becaufe the Ship was not taken ? 
Hugh Parrot. I {hall tell you how it happened, according to ti e bell of my Knowledge, 

My Commander fortuned to come up with this Captain Mar's Ship, and law were for 
taking her , and fome not ; and afterwards there was a li ttle fort of M utiny, and fotne rofe 
in Arms, the greatefi Part, and they faid they would take this Ship, and the C„omBnolmanbdaeyr, 
was not for it ; and lb they refolv'd to go away in the Boat, and take her. Captain Kidd 
faid, if you defert my Ship, you ffiall never come aboard again, and _Tw ill force you into  
and _Twill carry you before fOme of the Councel there: Infomuch as my Commander ftilled them 
again, and.they remained on Board. And about a Fortnight afterwards there palled ferric 
Words between this William Moore, and my Conimander; and then fays he, Captain, I could 
have put you in a way to have taken this Ship , and been never the n'crfe for ir. He fays, 
Would you have me take this Ship? I cannot anfwer it, they are our Friends, and my Com. 
mander was in a Pallion ; sand with that I went off the Deck, and I under ftocid afterwards 
the Blow was given, but how I cannot tell. 

Mr. 5. Powel. Captain Kidd, Have you any more to ask him, or have you any more 
Wirneffes to call ? 

Will. Kidd. I could call all of them to tellifie the fame thing, but I will not troüble you to 
call any more. 

L. C. B. Ward. Have you any more to fay for your felf ? 
Will. Kill. I have no more to lay, but that 1 had all the Provocation in the World given 
e I had no defign to kill him, I had no Malice or Spleen againfl him. 1 

L. C. B. Ward. That mull be left to the Jury to confider the Evidence that has been given; 
you make out no filch matter. 

7urinian. My Lord, I delire the Prifoner may give an Account whether he did do any 
thing in Order to his Cure. 

L. C. B. Ward. He is to he tried according to Law; the King's Evidence bath been heard,, 
and he has the Liberty to produce what Evidence he can for himfelf; will you put him to 
produce more Evidence than he can ? If he has any more to fay, it will be his Interefl to 
fay what he can, the Court is willing to hear him as long as he hath any thing to offer for him., 
felf, either upon that Account, or any thing elk. 

Will. Kidd. It Was not defignedly done, but in my Patrion, for which I am heartily 
lorry. 

L. C. B. Ward. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoner at the Bar, William Kidd, is indiéted' 
for the Murther of William Moore; and whether he be guilty of this 1M:it-tiler, or not Guilty, 
it is your part to determine on the Evidence that has been given. The Faa charged againft 
him is this, That the Prifoner at the Bar, William Kidd, being the Commander of, the Ship, 
called the Adventure Galley, and the deceafed William Moore, the Gunner in that Ship; That 
upon the High Sea, near the Cod'. of Malabar, in the E4-Indies, and within the Juriftli-
¿tión of the Admiralty of England, in 05ober, in the Ninth Year of his Majelty's Reign, 
1697, the Prifoner, William Kidd, out of his Malice foie-thought, did flrike the de-
ceaféd, William Moore, with a Bucket hooped with Iron, on the right fide of his Head, and 
that that Blow was the occafion of the Death of the faid William Moore ; that this was done 
on the 30th. of 0Hober, and that his death enfued on the 3 ill. of Gdober, being the next 
Day. This is the Faét charged upon him. 
Now you have heard the Evidence that has been given on the King's Part, and you 

will weigh it well. You hear the firít Witnefs that has been produced on behalf of I I 
the King, is 7ofepb Palmer. He tells you he was prefent on board this Ship, at the time 
when this Blow was given. And he fays there had been fome Difcourfe between the F 
Prifoner, William Kidd, and the deceafed Moore, concerning taking a Ship that was 
called the Loya/captain, and that Captain Kidd laid to him, How could you have put me in a j1 
way to take that Skip, and be clear ? No, fays Moore 1 fail no filch thing. The Reply Cap-
tain Kidd made to him was, He was a L,ufle Dog. The Anfwer of the deceafed was this, if 
lam aft), you have made me fo, you have ruined me and a great many others. With that fays h 
Captain Kidd, Have I ruined you, you Dog ? and up he took a Bucket, hoop'd with lion, and 
gave him a Blow on the right fide of his Head. And thereupon he complained, and laid, 
Tau have given me my lag Blow. And then Moore wert down below Deck, and he law 
no more till the next Day, and then he was dead; and he felt upon his Head, and perceiv- 11 
ed a Bruife in one part of it, as broad as a Shilling, and he felt the Skull was broke ; and he n 
does take on him to fay, that he believes that Blow was the Occation of his Death. Being 
asked whether he knew in what State of Health he was before, he fays, He was in a healthy 
Condition; he was grinding a Chillel at that time when the Blow was given ; and that ic 
Blow he believes was the Occafron of his Death. And being asked whether he heard any 0- ti 
ther Words, or faw or knew any thing that could be any caul:: of Provocation, he lays, He • 0 
knew no more than the Reply of the Party deceafed, If lama Lote/le Doe you have male 
me fo, and you have been my Ruine : And then, having taken two or three Turns upon the 
Deck, he gave him the Blow; and then Moore went down the Deck, and ufed there Words, 
Tow have given me my lafl Blow, or to that Effed. 

Gentletneth 
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Gentlemen, You have heard the Surgeon alfo Robert Eradinham; and he tells you he did not 
fee the Blow given, but he was fent for after, arid the Deceafed faid, Capt. Kidd had given hita 1704, 
his laft Blow: And thereupon he did examine him' as a Surgeon, and does believe that Blow 
on the Head was the occafion of his death, and he did obferve it as well as he could. 

y-man. My Lord, I think Bradinham, faid he was not then by, when the Prifoner gave dge, 
the Blow. 

1 for L. C. B. Ward. I did not fay he was: He fays he was fent for after the Blow; and when he rote 
came, the Deceafed faid he gave it him, and what would be the Confequence. nder Now thefe two being Crofs-Examin'd by the Prifoner William Kidd, whether they did not 

Kidd 
b know of fome Mutiny in the Ship, that might be the occafion of his giving this Blow; they iay, have told both their Stories, of what Difcourfe there was of taking this Ship the Loyal captain, 
hem and of what Defign there was upon the Dutch Ship after. Now the firft of thefe was a Fortnight 
loole before this happedd, and the other a Week; fo that there was then no Occafion of Mutiny, 
could nor do they know of any Mutiny at that time. 
fays, Now, Gentlemen, he has produc'd for himfelf Three Witneftes. The firft that he calls is 

Abel Owens ; and this Witnefs has not in his Teftirnony made for the Prifoner, but in effen 
/ads confirmed what the other Wand-es for the King faid: for he tells you he was by when the Blow 

was given, and gives you an Account how this thing was, That there was fome Difcourfe be-
11°r: tween them, much what to the effe¿t aforefaid, both as to what Capt. Kidd faid to Moore, and 

what Moore replied; and that Capt. Kidd fhould fay to Moore, You are a [army Fellow, or tó 
)11 to that purpofe ; and Moore faid, You have Ruin'd me, and a great many others; and with that 

the Prifoner took up the Bucket, and ftruck him with it. And he being asked, if there was 
any Provocation or Occafion why this Blow was given, and whether there was any Mutiny 

;iveti at that time, as pretended, he fays he knew of none, only he fpeaks of one about a Month 
before. 

ven; They have call'd two other Witnefres, one is Richard Barlicorn: He is the Prifoner's Servant; 
and though he be his Servant, yet the Law allows him to be a Witnefs for him, and the Credit 

any of his Teftimony is left to you. Now what has he faid ? He has told you fomething different 
ftories. He thinks there was a Mutiny in the Ship. And being asked about what time ; he 

eard, thinks it was about a Month or Three Weeks before ; and, upon further Examination faith, 
m to there was no Mutiny when Moore was kill'd. He is willing to fay what he can for his Matter, 
fl to and believes Mr. Kidd did not defign to do any harm to that Man; for he heard the Surgeon 
hinil fay, that Blow was not the occafion of his Death. Now, in contradiltion to that, Bradinham 

the Surgeon fays he never did fay fo, but believes that this Blow was the Occafion of his death. 
irtily You have heard what Obje¿tions the Young Man's Teftimony is liable to, and you will confider 

his whole Evidence. 
iéted The laft Witnefs the Prifoner has call'd is Hugh Parrot. He fays there was fomething of 
uilty, thefe words, and that the Deceafed did fay, He could have put the Captain in a way to have 
ain taken the Ship, and hereupon Words arofe and the Captain was in a PafTion ,• and that then 
Ship, he went away, and underftood afterwards the Blow was given, but how he could not tell. 

Now, Gentlemen, this being the Matter of Faa, the Prifoner is Indiaed upon it for Mur.. That 
rifd ther. Now to make the Killing of a Man to be Murther, there mat be Malice prepenfed, 

either exprefs or implied : The Law implies Malice, when one man, without any reafonable 
Caufe or Provocation, kills another. You have had this Faa opened to you. What Mutiny 

d 
de-

or Difcourfe might be a Fortnight or Month before, will not be any reafon or cat& for fo 
'de an long continuance of a Pallion. But what did arife at that time, the Witneffes tell you. The 

firft Witnefs tells you, the firft words that were fpoken, were by Mr. Kidd; and upon his 
next Anfwet, Mr. Kidd calls him loufie Dog. The Reply was, if I am to, you have made me to ;You 

have ruin'd me, and a great many more. Now, Gentlemen, I leave it to you to confider whether 
I you that could be a reafonable Occafion or Provocation for him to take a Bucket and knock him on 
alf of the Head, and kill him. You have heard the Witneffes have made it out that he was a healthy 
;time Man, and they are of opinion that that blow was the occafion of his death. Now for the 
ri the Prifoner, on filch a Saying, and without any other Provocation, to take a Bucket and knock 
W25 the Deceafed on the head, and kill him, muff be efteem'd an unjuftifiable Aa. For, as I faid, 
ia if one man kill another without Provocation, or reafonable Caufe, the Law prefumes and 
Cal, implies Malice; and then fuch Killing will be Murther, in the fence of the Law, as being done 
)is, out of Malice prepenfe. If there be a fudden falling-out and fighting, and one is kill d in 

faYs, heat of blood, then our Law calls it Manflaughter : But in fuch a Cafe as this that happens 
and on flight Words, the Prifoner call'd the Deceafed a loufie Dog -' and the Deceafed faid, lf 1 be 

fo, you made me [o; Can this be a reafonable Caufe to kill him? And if you believe them to be 
v hurl no reafonable Caufe of Provocation and that this Blow was given by the Prifoner, and was 
•ceisr• the occafion of Moore's death, as the Wand-es alledge I can not fee what diftindion can be 
rid he made, but that the Prifoner is Guilty of Murther. Indeed, if there had been a Mutiny at that 
Being time, and he had ftruck him at the time of the Mutiny, there might have been a reafonable 
:althY caufe for him to plead in his Defence, and it ought to have been taken into Confideration 
, that but it appears, that what Mutiny there was, was a Fortnight at leaft before. rherefore, Gen-
ay 0- tlemen 1 muffleave it to you; if you believe the King's Witneffes, and one of the Prifoner's 

He own, that this Blow was given by the Prifoner, in manner aforefaid, and are fatisfied that it 
nJa" was done without reafonable Caufe or Provocation, then he will be Guilty of Murther; and if 
in the you do believe him Guilty of Murther, upon this Evidence, you mull find him fo: If not, you 
rords, mutt Acquit him. 

Will. Kidd. 

:meal 
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Kidd. My Lord, I have Witneffes to produce for my Reputation. 

L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Kidd, we gave you Time to make your Defence; Why did not you 
produce them ? You were asked, more than once, if you had any more to fay and you fiid 
you would call no more Witneffes. 

Will. Kidd. 1 can prove what Service I have done for the King. 
L. C. B. Ward. You fhould have fpoken fooner; But what wou'd that help in this Cafe 

of Illurther ? You faid you had no more to fay, before I began. 
Then an Officer was Sworn to keep the jury ; and about an Hour after, the Jury returned, 

and gave in their Verdia. 
Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, Anfwer to your Names. Nath. Long. 
Nath. Long. Here, &c. 
Cl. of Arr. Are you all Agreed of your Verdi ? Omnes. Yes. 
Cl. of .Arr. Who [hail fay for you ? Omnes. Foreman. 
Cl. of Arr. Will. ridd, Hold up thy Hand; ( whích he did.) Look upon the Prifoner; 

Is he Guilty of the Murther whereof he ftands Inclined, or not Guilty ? 
Foreman. Guilty. Cl. of Arr. Look to him, Keeper. 

The TRYAL of William Kidd, Nicholas Churchill, James Howe, 
Robert Lanzley, William Jenkins, Gabriel Loffl, Hugh Parrot, Richard 
Barlicorn, Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins, for Piracy and Robbery 
on a Ship called the Z_edagh Merchant. 

THE Yurors for Our Sovereign Lord the King, do, upon their Oath, prefent,That William Kidd, 
late of London, Mariner; Nicholas C hurchill, late of London, Mariner; James Howe, 

late of London, Mariner ; Robert Lamley, late of London, Mariner; William Jenkins, late of 
London, Mariner; Gabriel Loffe, late of London, Mariner; Hugh Parrot, late of London, 
Mariner ; Richard Barlicorn, late of London, Mariner; Abel Owens, late of London, Mariner; 
and Darby Mullins, late of London, Mariner: the 3 oth day of January, in the Ninth Tear of the 
Reign of our Sovereign Lord, William the Third, by the Grace of God, of England, Scotland, 
France, and Ireland, King-, Defender of the Faith, &c. by Force and Arms, &c. upon the high Sea, 
in a ertain place di/ant about Ten Leagues from Cutíheen in the aft-Indies, and within she 7k:rip 
ditlion of the Admiralty of England, did Piratically and Felonioufly fet upon, board, break, and enter 
a certain Merchant-Ship call'd the Quedagh-Merchant, then being a Ship of certain Perfons, ( to the 
yurors aforefaid unknown) and then and there Piratically and Feloniosfly did make an Affault in and upon 
certain Mariners (tvhofe Names to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown) in the fame Ship, in the Peace of 
God, and of our laid now Sovereign Lord the .King, then and there being, Piratically and Felonioutly did 
put the aforefaid illariners of the fame Ship, in the Ship aforefaid then being, in corporal fear of their 
Lives, then and there, in the Ship aforefaid, upon the high Sea, in the place aforefaid, dillant about ten 
Leagues from Cutfheen aforefaid, in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid, and within the jurifdiffion aforefaid, 
Piratically and Felonioufly did Steal, Take, and Carry away the [aid Merchant-Ship called the Quedagh-
Mer chant, and the Apparel and Tackle of the fame Ship, of the Value of 4001. of lawful .Money of 
England ; Seventy Chejks of Opium, of the Value of j 4001. of lawful Money of England; Two Hun. 
dred and Fifty Bags of Sugar, of the Value of l co I. of lawful Money of England ; Twenty Bales of 
Raw Silk, of the Value of 4.co 1. of lawful Money of England ; an Hundred Bales of Callico's,of the Value 
of 200 1. of lawful Money of England; Two Hundred Bales of Muffin's, of the Value of 10001. of law. 
'ful Money of England ; and Three Bales of Romels,of the Value of 30 1. of lawful Money of England : 
the Goods and Chattels of certain Perfons (to the yurors aforefaid unknown ;) then and there, upon 
the High Sea aforefaid, in the aforefaid place, dijkant about ten Leagues from Cutfheen afore (aid, 
in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid, and within the Yurifditlion aforefaid, being found in the ajorefaid Ship in 
the culiody and poifegion of the raid Mariners in the fame Ship, from the laid Mariners of the [aid Ship, 
and from their cuji ody and poffedion, then and there, upon the High Sea afore/aid, in the Place aforefaid, 
difiant about ten Leagues from Cutfheen aforefaid, in the Eaft- Indies afbrefaid, and within the yurifeli-
Etkn aforefaid, againjk the Peace of our [aid now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, &c. 

C 1. of Arr. Ç E T William Kidd, Nicholas Churchill, &c. to the Bar; (and fo of the refl.) 
William Kidd, Hold up thy Hand; (which he did, and fo the reft.) 

You the Prifoners at the Bar, thofe Men that you than hear called, and that 
perfonally appear,are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King and you,upon Tryal of your 
feveral Lives and Deaths: If therefore you, or any of you will Challenge any of them, your time 
is to fpeak to them as they come to the Book to be Sworn, and before they be Sworn. 
And there being no Challenges, the Twelve that were Sworn on the JU RY were as follow: 

5ohn Cooper, Caleb   
R. Rider,Hook, john Micklethwait, 

yo. Hall, RRichard Chifwell, 
9O. fames, P. Walker, Abraham Hickman, 

William Hunt Peter Parker, George Grove. 
Cl. of Arr. Cryer, Count thefe • john Cooper. 
Cryer. One, &c. Twelve Good and True, !land together, and hear your Evidence. - 

Then 
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Then the ufual Proclamation for Information was made; and the Prifoners being bid to hold 
up their Hands, the Clerk of Arraignments charged the Jury with them thus : 

Cl. of Arr. You of the Jury, look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to their Cae. They 
fiand Indided by the Names of William Kidd, &c. (as before in the indiament.) Upon this 
Indidment they have been Arraigned, and thereunto have feverally Pleaded, Not Guilty; and 
for their Tryal, put themfelves on God and their Country, which Country you arc. Your 
Charge is, to enquire whether they be Guilty of the Piracy and Robbery whereof they ftand 
lndifted, in manner and form as they Rand Inclined, or Not Guilty, &c. 

Nic. Churchill. My Lord, I beg your Opinion, whether I may not Plead the Ring's Pardon ? 
L. C. B. Ward. Let us fee your Pretences: You !hall have all legal Defences and Advantag(5 

allowed to you. 
Nic. Churchill. I came in upon His Majefly's Proclamation. 
L. C. B. Ward. Have you the King's Proclamation ? If yoti have, let us fee it. 
Nic. Churchill. We had Notice of it at Guiana, and we deliver'd our felves up to Col. Bafri, 

Governour of Eafi-Jerfey, and I have it under his Hand. I beg your Lordihip would appoint me 
Councel to Plead my Cafe. The Paper was thown, and read. 
Mr. Crawley. I know not when it was. 
.Nic. Churchill. I had Notice of it at Guiana: I have been two years in Cuflody_ 
L. C. B. Ward. How long have you been a Prifoner ? 
Nic. Churchill. Almoft Two Years: Two Years next July. 
L. C. B. Ward, and the reft of the Yudges. The Proclamation (for what you fay your fell) does 

not reach your Cafe. 
.Howe, Churchil, Vue came in, upon the Proclamation, all the fame Day. 
Mr. 7. Powell. How can you make it appear you Surrendred 
Prifoners. Here is an Affidavit made of it by the Governor's Secretary and there's the 

Gentleman himfelf, Col. Ban. 
Mr. J. Powell. You mull make it out that you have come in within the Conditions of that 

Proclamation, if you would have any Benefit by it. 
L.C.B.Ward. Let the Proclamation be read, (which was done accordingly,and it here follows:) 

By the King, A PROCLAMATION, 
WILLIAM R. 

Wittrerea M 0 e being Info/mets, bp t e' fie frequent Compfaint0 of Cur en 
IntblectO Zratstms to the Eaft-Indies, of feDeral tuiciteD Ptracteo C0111, 
mittets on thofe ,ecaO, agi Well upon Cur otun .-Ntit4ectO, ao thofe of 

Our 21Iteo, hate therefole thought fir (fg the r)7..ecurttp of the Zratie of thole 
Countrteo, bp an utter CUttpatton of the 1ptrateo in all parto CaittuarD Of te 
Cape of Good Hope, aotucit 'u)on)) Cape Comorin, ao on thio lase of it, tinleiO then 
than flpthtuith ,t,treenDee thenifelUeo aO h). herein after DirecteD) to fen out a 

quaDpn of fflen of Mar, nutlet the Commits of Captain Thomas Warren. 
iilolu WU, to the Intent that fueh Who haw been guiltp of aitp ZictO of piraep in 
tiiofc Zeao, map haue notice of Our moft ezactouo Intention, of ertenDitg Cut 
nopal fflercp to fuel) of them ao lijalt urruflicr thenifelbeo, anD to eat& the 
4)euereft putittbment aceoping to Lain to be IntlicteD upon thole Who lhall con-
tinue CDbittnate, habe *tight fit, bp, the 2Dbice of Our 10/ibp Council, to 3tfue 
thíO Ploclaniatton; Derebp Wntitring anti CommanDing all perfono tuha babe 
been Cutttp of anp (att of13traep, (3/ anp Woolttitiig o tfftfttng therein, in attp 
place Caftan of *Cape of (iood Hope, to '''Itirrenlaer thernfelto Within the 
feberai yet-Prattle eírtic0 herein after limiters, unto the faits Captain Thomas Warren, 
anti the CommanDer in CIO of the faits Zqualzon fg the time being, anti to 
Ural Haves, Peter Dellanoye, anti Chriftopher Pollard, ergutreo, Contmífificinero 
pointet bp,¿allfo the fatts erpetsition,o1 to anp ehge of them, oMit cafe «Death, 
to the fflaiei part of* Itirtábozer.i' of them. ants Me tio lierebp Declare, Zhat 
We hate been 032actottflp ptrafeti to 3tupotuer the faits Captain Thomas Warren, 
ants the CommanDer in Chief of the faiD Ihquatnon fin the time being, lfrael Hayes, 
Peter Dellanoye, anti Chriflopher Pollard, erquiregi Commtfloncto afolerao, 01 any 
'Clue of them, in, in cafe of 1Death, to the fflam part of the urbilioz0 of them, 
to gibe 21Turance of our moll 0/actottO p anon unto all fuch pirate O tit the Eaft-

(XII5.) all caravan of the Cape of Good Hope lito ¡hall fa ZurrenDer them-
felueo fo/piracte0 Robberteo commíttets bp ¡bent upon the ca el/ LanD; 
Creept neDerthelefO filch aO thep Mall commit in imp Place tohatfoner after 
.31-citíce of Cur 0,2act anti .ffabour hereby °Maul); anti alfa Creepting all fuel) 
ptracte0 anti Robbcrielia fhati be committal from the Cape of Good Hope eta 
Ivan, to the Longítutie oz fflerítiían of Socatora, after the Laft Dap of April, 1699. 
anti tu any place from the Lotigitutie oz fflerítitan of Socatora Cowan, to the 
LongítuDe oIperítiian of Cape Comorin, after the Laft Dap of Tune, 1699. anti ín 
atip tuhatfoettr Catlin° of Cape Comorin after the Laft Dap of July, 1699. 
anti alfa (Excepting Henry Every atíao Bridgman, anti William Kidd. 
Given at Our Court at Keriii»gton,the Eighth Day ofDecember,i698. In the Tenth Year of Our Reign. 

God fave the King. Clerk, 



Clerk. There is no Day mention'd in this Paper when they Surrendred thegifelves. 
Mr. Moxon. My Lord, about the Year 1697. there was a Special Commifhon given to Four 

Perfons, and they were to proceed in their Voyage to the Indies, and they carried a great nur.. 
ber of Proclamations, that all the Pira es in fuch and fuch Places fhould Surrender themfelves. Now hi 

Si they came to St. Helena with them, and Capt. Warren was fent to St. Mary's, and he was to de-
liver fome of thefe Proclamations there, and the Commiffioner had then the Embaflador to the 

iu Great Mogul on board,and this Capt. Warren thefe Proclamations. Warren comes and delivers the 
Proclamations out, and among the reft the Prifoner at the Bar having Notice of this, he goes to 
the Governour, and confeffes he had been a Pirate, and defir'd them to take Notice that he Sur-
rendred himfelf; And we have the Governour here, to give an Account of this Matter. ir 

L. C. B. Ward. The Proclamation fays they moil Surrender themfelves to fuch and fuch Per.. 
fons by Name. See if it be not fo. (Then the Proclamation was read again.) Here are feveral 

ii Qualifications mention'd; you muff bring your felves under them, if you would have the 
LI benefit of it. 

Dr. Newton. Let them (how that they furrender'd themfelves to the Perfons they were to tc 

ti 
furrender to. 

Mr. Moxon. My Lord, we will prove we gave Notice within the Time, by this Paper. 
Air .Sol.Gen. There is no Time mention'd in it. (The Affidavit was read.) Charles Hally,Gem. 

.111 maketh Oath, That in the Tear 98, there being Notice of His Majefly's Gracious Pardon to fuck Pirates 
as piould furrender themfelves, James Howe, Nic. Churchill, and Darby Mullins, in May 1699, did 
furrender themfelves to Jeremiah Bafs, and he did admit them to Bail. 11 

L. C. B. Ward. There are Four Commiffioners named ín the Proclamation : There is no a 
Governour mentioned that is to receive them, only thofe Four Commiffioners. 

Mr. Moxon. But my Lord, confider the Nature of this Proclamation, and what was the o 
Defign of it, which was to invite Pirates to come in. 

Mr. Coniers. We mull keep you to the Proclamation. Here is not enough to put off the Tryal. 
L. C. B. Ward. If you had brought your felves within the Cafe of the Proclamation, we fhould 

be very glad. You that oar it, muff confider it is a Special Proclamation, with divers Limita-
tions; and if you would have the Benefit of it, you mutt bring your felves under the Conditions 
of it. Now there are Four Commiffioners named, that you ought to furrender to; but you 
have not forrendered to any one of thefe, but to Col. Bafs, and there is no fuch Man mention'd 
in this Proclamation. 

Mr. Knapp. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, The Indictment fets forth, That the fc 
Prifoners at the Bar, on the 30th of January, in the Ninth Year of His Majefty's Reign, ten 
Leagues diflant from Cocheen, did Piratically feíze and rob a certain Ship called the ..Q.edagh., 
Merchant, and put the Men in fear of their Lives; and the faid Ship, with her Apparel, Tackle, 
and Goods, did then and there, upon the High Sea, take and carry away, againft the Peace of Ji 
our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity. To this Indiament they have Pleaded, 
Not Guilty. If we Prove it upon them, you muff find them Guilty. ii 

Dr. Newton, Advocate of the Admiralty. My Lord, and Gentlemen, The Prifoners at the Bar, 
Capt. Will. Kidd, late Commander of the _Adventure Galley, and nine other Mariners in the fame fl 

Veffel, fluid Inclined for Felonioufly and Piratically Affaulting and Taking a Ship called the 
..Q.Liedagh Merchant, on the High Séa near Cutfheen, in the Eaft-Indies, about the 30th. of Jannaev, o 
in the Ninth Year of His Majefty's Reign: The Ship was confiderable for its Force and Bulk, 
being about 400 Tun; and more confiderable for its Lading, having on board to the Value of 
many Thoufand Pounds. 

This Capt. Kidd, who thus afted the Pirate himfelf, went from England in April 1696, with a 
Commiffion dated the 26th. of Yannary preceding, to Take and Seize Pirates in the Indian Seas, 
which were then very much and very dangeroufly infefted by them, to the great hazard, and 
lofs, and ruine of the Merchant. 
The Ship carried 30 Guns, and there were on board about 8o Men; but the Captain being 

come to New-Yorkin Yuly 96, pretending, as indeed it was defigned he fhould, and he had under-
taken to make that Defign good, that he was going to Madagafcar, (which was the known and 
common Receptacle of the Pirates in thole Seas) to take Pirates, and free the Seas from thofe 
Difturbers of the Commerce ofMankind ; fo many came in to him, being invited by Articles pub-
lickly let up by him in that Place, that his number quickly encreafed to 155 Men; a Force filth-
dent, if he had meant well, to have made him ufeful to the Publick and to prove as mifchievous, 
if his Deigns were otherwife: and what thofe were will quickly appear. 

After calling in at feveral Places for Provifions, and among others at Madagafcar, in Yuly 97, 
he failed to Babs-key, a lmall A!land at the Entrance of the Red Sea, and a convenient ftation for 
the obferving what Velfels went from thence for the Indies ; and now, inftead of Taking Pirates, 
he becomes one himfelf, and the great& and the worft of all. Here he ftaid Three Weeks, in 
expe&ation of the Mocta Fleet, to make his benefit and his Fortune out of it : For whatever he 
had before pretended, this was his real Deign, and now fo poffefs'd his mind, that he could not 
refrain from declaring, and that often, to his Men, That now he fhould make his Voyage and 
ballaft his Ship with Gold and Silver. After long expedation,the Fleet,on the '4th ofAugaifi,to 
the number of 14, came by: he fell in with the middle of them, fired feveral Guns at them; but 
finding they had an Englifli and Dutch Convoy,that Defign happily failed of the wifh'd for Succefs. 1 

This Difappointment however did not difcourage him,but that he proceeded on for the Coaft 
of Malabar, where he knew the Trade was confiderable, and hoped his Advantage would be 
proportionable in the difturbing it I and there accordingly, for feveral Months, he committed 

many 
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many great Piracies and Robberies, taking the Ships and Goods of the Indians and others at Sea., 
Moors and Chriftiaxs, and torturing cruelly their Perfons, to .difcover if any thing had eicaped 
his hands; burning their Houfes, and killing after a barbarous manner the Natives' on the 
Shore 1. equally cruel, dreaded and hated both on the Land and at Sea:. 

,Thefe Criminal Attempts and Affions had rendred his Name (to the: Difgrace and -the Pee-
bodice of the Eng/ifi) Nation) too well known, and defer redly detefted, in thole remote Parts 
of the World and he was now looked upon as an Arch-Pirate, and the Common Enemy of 
Mankind ; and apeor ingly two Peetugliefe Men of War .went out in ,putfuic of him, and-one 
met with and fought him for feveral hours but Kidd's Fortune then referved him for another 
Place, and another manner of Tryal. 

Amongít the great number of Veil-eh he took on that (bail-, was the ,Ship he now Elands 
indiaed for, the Ottedagh-Merchant being, then on a Trading Voyage from Bengal [o.Surat t:<, 
the Commander Englifit, Capt. Wright, the Owners Armenian Merchants, ,and, others ; hehact 
taken Moors before, but illoor.s and cheifliwer are all alike to Pirates, tá clainglitih not Na-
tions or Religions, 

.Thofe on board the Veil-el offered 3 ooc) Rupees for her R.anfom e but the Ship wasitoo con-
fiderable to be parted with, even for fo great a Surnm fo Kidd foldeQop,cjs,out of her, on the 
.neighbouring Coaft,- to the Value of Ten or Twelve Thouland POLINI:S; our of which,..1n;took 
whatever he could pretend to for Ammunition and Provilions, with.F,c4:4y, Shares for If; 
and the Remainder was difpofed. of amongít the Crew, and particu)arly,lhofe who, are here 
Indided with hím, who accompany'd him, who affifted him throng-iv:41-M ail••his: Piracies, 

no and who now too fhare the Spoils and the Guilt with him.. 
With this Ship and another, and the Remainder of the Goods not to:14 pn:the Coart;ehear,-iled 

he once more for 1Viadagalcar, where he arrived in the beginning ofiletty, og, and there 'again, 
what was left on bcwd, was divided according to the fame Proportions, and amongft the,fame 
Perfons, as before each Mariner having about Three Bales to his friare... . I n 

ild Then the jury brought in their Verdid aphid William Kidd- for Murther,:- :And 
Dr. Newton proceeded ; 

IDS It is not to be omitted, That at his return to 2110.day,akar, there came on board his] tonic 
Ott Perfons from the Ship The Refolution, formerly the Mocca1--rigat, (for the Piratical Seizing of 
i'd which Veffel there have been formerly Tryals and Convidions in this Place) of which Captain 

Culliford, a Notorious Pirate, now in Cuftody, and againit whom two Bills have been found 
he for Piracy, by the Grand Jury, was the Commander: They-at firft teemed to be afraid-o,f4dd, 
:en but without any ground, as his former Adions had dernonfirated, and the Sequel. !hewed. 
Th. :They who were hardned Pirates, and long inured to Villanies, could fcarce think that. any Man 
le, could fo betray the Truft and Confidence the Publick had placed in him, and laid, They heard 
of he was come to take and hang them. But Capt. Kidd ,allured thsern, , That lie had no filch 

Defiln, and that he had rather his Soul fhould broil in Hell, than do them any harm .bid them 
not be afraid, and fwore he would he True to them. And here indeed he did not break his 

or, Word : This was his way oh being Tine to his Trutt, and making good the Ends,oti his Conn-
miffion, in acting with the greateft Treachery and the great:eft Falfene.lis that ever Man did. 

.he And to make all that has been reprefented of him true, Capt. Kidd and Cart. Csidird went 
ry on board, Treated, and Prefented each other ; and id-Lead of Taking (Wilford, as in, was his 
lk,, Duty to have done, and his Force was tufficient to have performed it, he gave him Money and 
of Ammunition, two Great Guns and Shot, and other Neceffiries to.fit him out to Sea, that he 

might be in a condition the better to Take and Seize other-Innocent Perfons. 
1 a His own Ship he now lett, and went on board the 011edagh. Aeeeehant ; feveral othis Men 
as, then went from him, but not the Prifoners, they were all along Well-withers and Ailidants to 

birn, fought for him, divided the Plunder with him, and are now come to be Tryed with him.. nd 
This, Gentlemen, is the Crime he is Indided for, Piracy ; the growing Trouble, pia urb3nce 

and Mifchief of the Trading World, and the peaceable part of Mankind, the scandal and Re-
proach of the European Nations, and the Chriftian Name ( I with I could not fay, that the 
Ridd's and theAvery s had not made it more particularly fo of the Engiilb) amongd Aeuhomt.t.ins nd 

fe and Pagans, in the extreameft Parts of the Earth; which turns not only to the Difadvantage 
D 
h of the immediate Sufferers, but of all fuch as Traflick :in thofe Countries, whether Companies 
i -

or fingle Merchants, who are to fuller for the Misfortunes of others, with whom, it ¡my be, 
they have no Dealings ; and for the Villanies of fuch, whom they and all Mankind equally and 

us, juftly detelt and abloom 
This is the Perfon that Italic's Indided at that Bar, than whom no one in this Age has done 

)71 more Mifchief, in this word kind of Mifchief ; or has occafioned greater Confufion and DiCorder, 
for attended with all the Circumftances of Cruelty and Fallhood, and a Complication of all man-

ner of Ill. 
in If therefore thefe Fads (hail be Proved upon him, you will then, Gentlemen, in finding him 
he Guilty, do Judice to the Injured World, the Eng/ip/ Nation, ( our Common Country) whole 
lot Interelt and Welfare to much depend on the Encreafe and Security of Trade; and, laitly, to 
wad your felves, whom the Law has made judges of the Fad. 
to Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, I am of Councel for the King, againft 
tiC the Prifoners at the Bar , in this Cafe, with the Dodor that has opened the Matter from the 

efs. beginning. Thefe PrifOners at the Bar went out with Commiffions for good Put-poles, though 
aft they made de of them to very bad. Gentlemen of the Jury, I mud tell you, The Charge upon 
be E 
ted which 

a ny 
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which yousate to enquire,' is only upon a certain Ship calrel the Oydagi).Merchant, and to that We 
fhall apply our Evidence: What was taken in her, has been opened already: All we will do nowt, 
is to call our Witneffes, and make out to your Satisfaaión the things charged upon them. 

Mr. Coniers. My Lord, We [hail prove this Charge by the Perfons that were Evidence be-
fore, Robert Bradinham, and ,'7ofeph Palmer. They went out with Capt. Kidd it' his Voyage, 
and he began it in April (696. I believe it will he necefFary that they give fotne Account 
before this Piracy was committed, which was not in Time till.Febrivary 1697. They will give 
you an Account of fome Plunders that happened before this, and then of the Taking of this 
Ship, and the Dividing It amongft them. 

Mr. yuflice Powell. When went they out ? 
Mr. Coniers. They began their Voyage in April 16 96, and took this Ship in 1;brAiary 16,7, 

They did all along that Voyage commit feveral Plunders on feveral Ships they thought a Prey, 
Their Defign was, not to take Pirates but to take what they could get' out of any Ships, 
Friends or Enemies: For in this Ship, Pirates, Ouedagh-Merchant, which was a Mooeifli Ship, there 
were feveral Armenians; and they offer'd them a great Sur= of Money to redeem the Ship, 
but they refufed it ; and they difpos'd of the Goods, and divided the Money: And for the 
proof of that, we will call Mr. Bradinham. 

Mr. Yuffice Powell. I underhand that he had a Commiflion; therefore if any one has a Com. 
rniflion, and he aas according to it, he is not a Pirate; but if he take a Commiffion for a colour, 
that he may be a •Pirate, it will be bad indeed : And therefore if you can prove that he was,a 
Pirate all along, this will be a great Evidence againft him. 

Mr. Coniers. My Lord, We will prove that; fd that the Commiffion was but a Colour. 
Mr. Bradinham, Pray give my Lord and the Jury an Account when yóu began yoUr Voyage, and 
your proceedings afterwards. 

Rob. Bradinham. -Sometime in the Year 1696, about the beginning of May, 1, and others, 
were with Capt. Kidd : and we failed from Plymouth, defigning for New-York. ; and in the way 
to NeTV-rOrk WC met with a French Banker, and took her. 

Mr. Coniers. Tell the Court what - hip it was you went in, and with whom. 
Rob. Bradinham. We went with Capt. Kidd, in the Adventure Galley. 

Coniers. What Number of Men had you when you went firft out ? 
Rob. Bradinham. About Seventy or Eighty Men. 

ad, rty Guns. Mr. Coniers. What Force of Guns had you ? Rob. Bradinham. We hThi 
Mr.' Coniers. In what Office was Capt. Kidd in the Ship ? 
Rob. Bradinham. He was the Commander of her. 
Mr. Coniers. Now tell my Lord, and the Jury, what time you left England, and how you 

proceeded. 
Rob. Bradinham. In May 160, we left Plymouth, and went to New-York, and in the way met 

with a French Ship, and took her : And when we came to New-York, Capt. Kidd put up 
Articles, That if any Men would enter themfelves on board his Ship, they fhould have their 
feveral Shares of what fhould be taken, and he himfelf was to have Forty Shares. 

Mr. Coniers. What Number of Men did he get after thefe Articles were publifh'd ? 
Rob. Bradinham. He carried from New-York an Hundred and fifty five Men. 
Mr. Coniers. Whither did he fail then ? 
Rob. Bradinham. To the Madera's, from thence to Bonavis, from thence to St. 'yago, from 

thence to Madagafcar, from thence to J'oanna, from thence to Mabala, from Mahala topanna 
again, and from thence to the Red-Sea ; and there we waited for the Mocca Fleet. They 
paired us one Night, and he purfued them, and went among them, and was defigned to take 
what he could of them ; but he found they were too ftrong for him, and was fain to leave 
them. 

Mr. Cooper. How long did you lie in wait for that Fleet ? 
Rob. Bradinham. A Fortnight or Three Weeks. 
Mr. Cooper. Did he exprefs himfelf fo, that he did lie in wait for that Fleet ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Yes: He faid that he did defign to make a Voyage out of then. 
Mr. Cooper. Did he not lie in wait for any French Efrelts in that Fleet ? 
Rob. Bradmham. NO ; only for the Aloorifb Fleet. 
Mr. Cooper. What do you mean by the Mooril Fleet ? 
Rob. Bradinham. The Natives of India, the Mahometans. 
Mr. Cooper. Where did you lie in wait for that Fleet ? Rob. Bradinham. In the Red-Sea. 
Mr. Cooper. In the Mouth of it ? Rob. Bradinham. Yes. 
Mr. Cooper. Is it a fit Place for that purpofe ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Several Sail of Ships may lie there. 
Mr. Cooper. Did you exped them ? Rob. Bradinham. Yes; Capt. Kidd waited for them 
Mr. Coniers. How long did you hay there ? Rob. Bradinham, About a Fortnight. 
Mr. Coniers. Did you do any thing in that time to get Intelligence ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Capt. Kidd fent his Boat three times to Mocca, to fee if they could make 

any Difcovery ; and the two &It times they could make none; but the third time they brought 
word the Ships were ready to fail: And accordingly they carne and we failed after them, and 
fell in with them and Capt. Kidd fired at them. 

Mr. Cooper. You fay, he fent his Boat three times for Intelligence ; Can you remember what 
Anfwer they brought ? 

Rob, Bradits. 
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Rob. Bradinham. The two HI times they brought no Intelligence, but the third time they 
brought word that fourteen or fifteen Ships were ready to fail. 
• Mr. Cooper. What Colours did they fay they had ? 
Rob. Bradinham. I cannot tell that. When Capt. Kidd had fetch'd them up, he found they 

were under Convoy, and fo he left them: And then he was going to the Coaft of Malabar, and 
by the way met with Capt. Parker. 

Mr. tiftice Porvel. Did they fire any Guns at the Moca Fleet ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Yes; Capt. Kidd fired divers Guns at them. 
Mr. Coniers. After filch time as you left the Mocca Fleet, What happened after that ? 

Recolleet your felf. 
Rob. Bradinham. We took a Ship that C. Parker was Commander of, between Carawar and 

the Red-Sea. 
Mr. Coniers. \.\ hat Ship was this that Capt. Parker was Commander of ? 
-Rob. Bradinham. A Moorifh Ship, file came from Bombay, and Capt. Parker was the Matter, 
Mr. Coniers. What did you take from this Ship ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Capt. Kidd took out Parker; and a Portauefe for a Linguifter. 

Coniers. Á Linguifler; What do yoU mean by that ? 
ITob. Bradinham. An Interpreter. He took out of her a Bail of Coffee, a Bail of Pepper, 

about twenty Pieces of Arabian Gold, and order'd fome Men to be taken and hoifted up by the 
Arms, and drub'd with a naked Cutlace. 

Mr. Coniers. Why did he do that? 
Rub. Bradinham. That they might confers what Money they had. 
Mr. Coniers. Were thofe Men Frenchmen that were thus ufed ? 
Rob. Bradinham. No; they were Moors. 
Mr. Coniers. Was there any Demand made of thofe Men, Capt.Parker, and the Portuguefe ? 
Rob. Bradinimm. Yes: The Englifh Fadory fent for this Parker arrd the Portuguefe, and he 

deny'd that he had any fu: h Per fons on board, for he kept them in a Hole. 
Mr. Coniers. Do you know any thing more ? 
Rob. Bradinham. Then he went to Sea, and that Night he met with a Portuguefe Man of War; 

the next Morning he came up with her, and the Portaue fe heft fired at Capt. Kidd, and he at 
him again: they fought four or five hours; Capt. _Kidd had ten Men wounded. 

Mr. Coniers. , So that there was nothing more than Fighting. Rob. Bradinham. No. 
Mr. Cm/ices.- Gi-j on: What did you do next ? 
Rob. Bradinham. We went to the Coaft of Malabar. 
Mr. Coniers. • What did you go thither for ? 
Rob. Bradinham. We went to one of the ilefalabar Iflands for Wood and Water, and Capt.Kidd 

went a-fhere, and feveral of his Men, and plunder'd feveral Boats, and burnt feveral Houfes, and 
deti'd 'one of the Natives to be ty'd to a Tree, and one of his Men to !hoot him. 

s Mr. Coniers. Pray go on : What was the reafon of his fhooting this Indian ? 
Rob. Eradinham. One of his Men, that was his Cooper, had been a-lhore, and fome of the 

Natives had cut this Man's Throat, and that was the reafon he order'd his Men to ferve 
this Man lo. 

Mr. Coniers. Pray go on, and give an Account what happened afterwards. 
Rob. Bradinham. Then we came back again to the Malabar Coaft, and cruifed; and in 

OEtober he kill'el his Gunner, William Moore. 
- Coniers. Tell what happened next after that. 

Mr:Cooper. Was this the Offober next after he left England, or the Year following. 
. Rob. Bradinham. It was in Offober 1697. 
Mr. Cobiers. Well, Go on. 
Rob. Bradinbam. Some time in November he took a Moorifh Ship belonging to Suratt, there 

wel-éi two Dutchmen belonging to her, the reft were Moors. Capt. Kidd chafed this Ship under 
French Colourls; and when the Dutchman law that, he put out French Colours too. And Captain 
Kidd carne nivtkíth them, and commanded them on board ' • and he order'd a Frenchman to come 
upon Deck, and to pretend himfelf Captain. And fo this Commander comes aboard, and 
comes to this Monfieur Le Rey that was to pafs for-the Captain; and he fhows him a Paper, 
and faid it was a French Pafs. And Capt. Kidd faid, By God, Have I catch'd you ? Tou are 
Free Prize to England. We took two Horfes, fome Quilts, &c. and the Ship he carried to Ma-
daa-afcar. InPetelnber he took a Moorifh Ketch, the was taken by the Boat, we had one Man 
wounded in taking of her. 
, mt. Coniers. When was this done ? Rob. Bradinham. In December 1697. 

Mr. Conier.; • . 'What id you YntInder then ? 
Rob/ Bradinham. Our People took the y eírel a-fhore, and Capt, Kidd took out of her thirty 

TuVs'of Sugar, a Bail of Coffee; &c: and then he order'd the Velfel to be turn'd a-drift. 
Mr. Coniers. What follow'd in yanuary ? 
Rob. Bradinham. 7anuarY the 20th, Capt. K'idd took a Portuguefe that came from Bengal: 

He took out of her two Chefts of Opium, fome Eaft -India Goods, and Bags of Rice, cl"C. 
Mr. Colliers. How long did you keep this Ship ? 
Rob. Bradinham. He kept this Portanefe Ship about leven Days: He took out of her fome 

Butter, Wax, and EV-India Goods: He kept her till he was chafed by leven or eight Sail of 
,Dutch, and then he left her. . „ Mr. Conkrs. 



Mr. Colliers. My Lord, Now we are come to .that on which the Indir_Iment is fotinded‘ 
Mr. Bradinham, Give a particular Account of that. 

Rob. Bradinham. Some time ihYanuary, Capt. Kidd took the _4, Itss_edagh-illerchant : He gave her C 
chafe under French Colours: He came up with her, and commanded the Mafter aboard : And R. / 
there came an old Frenchman in the Boat; and after he had been aboard a while, he told Mr 
Capt. Kidd he was not the Captain, but the Gunner. And Capt. Kidd fent for the Captaia Dr 
on board his Ship. R. I 

Mr. Coniers. Who was that, ? Rob. Bradinham. Mr. Wright. , 

Pob. Bradinham. An Englifhrnan. He was fent for a-board, and he came; and Capt. Kidd told fcooriDninere 
Mr . Coniers. What Countryman was he ? . 

him' He was his Prifoner. And he order'd his Men to go a-board, and take polfeflion of the ' MI 
Ship, and dífpofed of the Goods on that Coaft to the Value of Seven or Eight Thoufand Pounds. R. ' 

Mr. Coniers. What Perfons were a-board her ? - Mr 
Rob. Bradinham. There was Copt:Wright, and two Dutchmen, and a Frenchman, and fome R. , Armenians, and the reft ii/loors. were 
Mr. Coniers. Did thofe Armenians make any Offer of any Money for their Ralifom ? heard 

that he lik'd of. So they offer'd him Twenty Thoufand Rupees. He told them, That was but 
Rob. Bradinham. Capt. Kidd told them, They fhould be Ranfom'd, if they made an OfFer for 

a finail parcel of Money, and the Cargo was worth a great deal more. Mi 
Mr. coniers. Who did the Cargo belong to ? R. 
Rob. Bradinham. To thofe Armenians, as I was inform'd by Capt. Wright. them 
Mr. Conit.rs. What did he do with them ?  
Rob. Bradinham. He difpofed of fome of them on the Coaft of India. then 
Mr. Coniers. What did he do with the Proceed of the Goods he fold ? fit hil L. 
Rob. Bradinham. He Shared the Money. R. 
Mr. Coniers. Had thefe Men (the other Prifoners) any of the Shares ? Di 
Rob Bradinham. Yes, all of them. You were a Half- thare Man, and you a .Half-lhare Man, MI 

(pointing to two of them.) ford, 
Mr. Coniers. Mr. Bradinham, You fay Capt. Wright came a-board ikTidd's Ship. R. 
Rob. Bradinham. Yes. a-flic 
Mr. Coniers. Did he difcourfe with him ? Cl. 
Rob. Bradinham. I was not with him, for he kept his Cabin to him felf. a 
Mr. Coniers. But you are lure he carne a-board ? Pob. Bradinham. Yes.  a 
Mr. Coniers. Arid that he was an Englifhman ? Rob. Bradinbam. Yes.  a 
Mr. Coniers. How did Capt. Kidd behave himfelf to the Ships or Boats there ? CV 
Rob. Bradinham. He boarded feveral Ships, and took out of them what was for his turn. 0 
Mr. Coniers. How did he ufe thofe that he Traded with ? Cl 
Rob. Bradinham. Some of them came a-board feveral times' and he Traded with them: C/ 

But fome of them carne a-board when he was going away, and he plundei'd them, and fent 0 
them a-íhore without any Goods. Ci 

Mr. Colliers. What Country Men were thofe he ferved thus ? R. 
Rob. Bradinham. Mahonietans: They had dealt with him before confiderably. IM 
Mr. Coniers. How much did he take from them. R 
Rob. Bradinham. About Five hundred Pieces of Eight. to if 
Mr. Coniers. How do you know that ? 

way met with a Adoorith Ship, and took out ofher feveral Casks of Butter, and other things. abola 
Rob. Bradinham. I faw it told afterwards. W e went to Madaga fcar afterwards, and by the  

Mr. Cooper. What were the Crew of this Ship ? L 
Mr. Wice Powell. They are Inclined for the Qedagh-Merchant; Were all the Prifoners in R 

that Anion ? You have given an Hatorical Account from the beginning, that he was a meer can 
Plunderer: but now you are come to the _Qi.e.,dagh, for which they are Indided ; Go not E 
beyond it. 1\ 

Mr. Coniers. Look on the feveral Prifoners at the Bar, and tell whether any of the Prifoners 

Cl. of .Arr. Was William Kidd there, at the time the Ship was Taken ? thin 
were at the Taking of the _Osedagh-Merchant. 

Rob. Bradinham. Yes. Ala 
Cl. of -Arr. W as Nicholas Churchill there ? Rob. Bradenham. Yes. J 
Cl. of Arr. Do you know fames Howe ? Was he there. Rob. Bradinham. Yes. he í 
Cl. of Arr. Had he a Share ? Rob. Bradinham. Yes, I 
Cl. of Arr. Had Robert Lamley a Share ? I 
Rob. Bradinham Yes. He was a Servant, and had but Half a Share of the Money, and a ( 

Whole Share of the Goods. ..1. 
C/. of Arr. William yer211ns was he there, and had a Share ? Rob. Bradinham. Yes. I 
Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loft, did you know what he had ? yid' 
Rob. Bradinham. He had Haifa Share of the Money, and a Whole Share of the Goods. .i 
Cl. of Arr. Hugh Parrot, what had he ? Rob. Bradinham. Half a Share. ord 
Cl. of Arr. Had Richard Barlicorn a Share ? ( 
Rob. Bradinham. He had Haifa Share of Money, and a Whole Share of Goods. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Abel Owens any ? R. Bradinham. He had Half a Share. ] 

Abel Owens. Had I any of it ? Rob. Bradinham. You had it: You took it. ens 

Cl. of ,Arr 
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Cl. of Arr. What had Darby Molins ? 
R. Bradinham, He had half a fhare of the Money, and a whole (hare of the Goods, 
Mr. Conicrs, Now we have fully proved this as to the Queda Merchant. 
Dr. Newton, When you came to "Wad/of-car, what was done there ? 
R. Bradinham, There came a Canooe to us with fome Englifh Men in her ; they were 
rmerly acquainted with Capt. Kid, and they told him, They had heard, that he was 
me to take them, and hang them. 
Dr. Newton, Who were they ? R. Bradinham, They belong'd to the Moco Frigate. 
Mr. Coniers, Give a particular account of thát matter. 
R. Bradinham, When we came to Madagajear, there came a Canooe off to us. 
Mr. Coniers, From whom ? 
R. Bradinhanz, From the Moco Frigate, Capt. Culliford was the Commander. And there 

-were fome white Men in her, that had formerly been acquainted with Capt. Kid -' they 
heard that he was come to take them, and hang them. He told them, it was no filch thing 
for he was as bad as they. 

Mr. Coniers, Were they thought to be Pyrates ? R. —radinham They were fo. 
Mr. Coniers, What was it that Capt. Kid faid ? 
R. Bradinham, He affured them it was no fuch thing. And afterwards went aboard with 

them, and fwore to be true to them and he took a cup of Bombooe, and. fwore to be true to 
them, and. affift them ; and he drifted this Capt. Cullifird with Guns, and an Anchor, to 
fit him to Sea again. 

L. C . B. Ward, How came you to know all this? Was you aboard then ? 
R. Bradinham, I was aboard then, and I heard the words. 
Dr. Newton, Were any. of the Goods divided at Maclagafcar ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Mr. Coniers, Now look on the Prilbners again, You fay after he met with this Capt. Culli-

Prd, youlvent and had a divifion made - pray give an account of it. 
R. Bradinham, When we came to Malagafcar, Capt. Kid ordered the Goods to be carried 

a-fhore, and fhared. And he had forty (hares himfelf. 
a of Arr. Had Nicb. Churchill a (hare ? R. Bradinhanz Yes. 
a of Arr. Had James Howe a fhare R. Bradinham, Yes. 
a of Arr. Had .Robert Lamley fhare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
C/. of: Arr. Had. Will. Jenkins a ihare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
CY. of Arr. Had. Gabriel Loff a fhare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Hugh Parrot a !hare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 

of Arr. Had Richard I3arlicorn a fhare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Abel Owens a ihare ? R. Brad h ham, Yes. 
a of Arr. Had Darby Molins a fhare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
CL of Arr. So that you fay, every one of the Prifoners at the Bar had a (hare. 
R. Bradinham' Yes. 
Mr. Coniers, What became afterwards of the Adventure Gaily ? 
R. Bradinbam, She was fo leaky, that (he had two Pumps going ; and. when they came 

to fhore, they left her, becaufe the was not fit to go to Sea again. And fo Capt. Kid went 
aboard the Scuddee Merchant, and defigned to make a Man of War of her. 

Mr. Coniers, What is that Scztddee Merchant ≥ Do you mean the Queda Merchant ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
L. C. B. Ward, What became of that Ship afterwards ? 
R. Braclingham, I left him at Madagafcar, after the Money and Goods were divided ; and 

can give, no account afterwards. 
Dr. Newton, But you fay, Capt. Kid went aboard. the Queda. R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Mr. Coniers, My Lord, we have done as to this Witnefs ; if they will ask him any 

thing they may. 
Cl. of Arr. Will any of you ask him any Queftions ? 
Will. Kid, He fays, when we went out firft from England, we went out of Plymouth in 

May, which we did not ; for we went in April, therefore this is a contradiaion. 
L. C. B. Ward, Mr. Kid, if you will ask him any Queltions, you may. Po you defire 

he fhould be pofitive when you went from Plymouth ? 
R. Bradinham, It was about the firft of May, my Lord. 
L. C. B. Ward, What Year? R. Bradinham, in the Year, 1696. 
a of Arr. Nich.Churchill, will you ask him any Queflions ? 
N. Churchill, I would have went a-fhore at Carawar, but the Captain would not let me 
L. C B. Ward, It is proved, that you was at the taking of the Queda Merchant, and di-

viding the Goods. 
N. Churchill, Yes, my Lord, but I could not help it, I was forc'd to do what the Captain 

ordered. me. 
Cl. of Arr. James Howe will you ask him any Queflions ? 
James Howe, Have not fobeyed my Captain in all his commands ? 
L. C. B. Ward, There is no doubt made of that. If any of you will ask him any Quefti-

ens, you may. 
Will. Kid, 
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Will. Kid, Did you not fee any French Paffes aboard the Zueda Merchant ?‘ 
R. Bradinham, You told me, you had French Paffes ; I never did fee them. 
Will. Kid, Did you never declare this to any body, that you faw thefe french POIR;s? 
R. Bradinham,- No, I did ncver fee any 5 but I only faid, I heard you lay you had thenii 
Nich. Churchill, Had I any f hare ? R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Nich. Churchill, Hovtr will you prove that ? 
Will. Jenkins, My Lord; I ask him, Whether I was not a fervant ? 
L. C B. Ward, Ask the Witnefs what Queftions you will.. 
R. Bradinbam My Lord he was a Servant. 
L. C. B. Ward, Who was he a Servant to ? R. Bradinbarn, To George Bullen, 
Will. Jenkins My Lord, I beg you will examine my Indenture 5 for I have it in my Poc. 

ket, I had nothing aboard that Ship, but what my Matter had. 
R. Bradinham' But you had a fhare of the Goods, I cannot tell whether your, Matter 

had it afterwards. 
Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loff, Have you any Queftion to ask him ? 
Gab. Leff, I have nothing to fay to him, but to ask him, Whether I did ever difo. 

bey my Captain's commands, or was any ways mutinous on board the Ship ? 
R. Bradinham, No, I cannot fay you did. 
a of Arr. Hugh Parrot, do you ask him any Queflions ? Hush Parroz, No. 
C/. of tin. Richard Bar/kern , do you ask him any Queflions ? 
R. Barlicorn, I ask him, Whether I was not the Captain's Servant ? 
L. C B. Ward, Yes, he fays you was. 
Cl.of Arr. Abel Owens, will you ask him any Qieflions ? 
Ab. Owens, I have nothing to fay 5 but depend upon the King's Proclamation. 
U. of Arr. Darby Molins, have you any Queftions wash him ? 
D. Molins; .My Lord, he knows I had nothing but what. Capt. Kid was pleas'd to give me. 
L. CB. Ward, Was he a Servant to Capt. Kid, or no? 

• • R. Bradinham, He had a half (hare of Money, and a Whole (hare of Goods. 
Mr j.Powel, What was the reafon fome had whole fhares, and fome half thares ? 
R.Bradinbam, Some were able Seamen, and fome Landmen, or Servants. There were 

in all 16o fhares, whereof Capt. Kid had 40 ; and fome of the Men had whole,lhares, and 
Ibme only half flutes. 

Mr. Cooper, You told us at HI, That in your pafrage to New York, you took a French 
Banker, and that he condemned her at New York. R. Bradinham, Yes. 

Mr. Cooper, Did he offer to carry any other Ships he took, to be condemned ? 
R. Bradinha2n' No Sir, never. 

Mr. Coniers, Call Jofepb Palmer. [who appeared] Mr. Palmer, Give my Lord, and the 
Jury an account, whether you were one of the Men that went with Capt. Kid in the Ad-
venture Gaily. jej: Palmer, Yes, I was. 
Mr. Coniers, Then give an account when you left England; and of your proceedings in 

youi Voyage. 

jof Palmer, About the 111 of April, or the beginning of May, 169¿,. we went out of Pli. 
mouth to New and by the way took a French Banker. And in :fitly, we came to New 
Tork. About the orh of February we went to Mad,7ras. 

Mr. Coniers, Vlihen you were at New Yo'rk, Was there any publicatión of any thing to in-
vite Men to come in to Capt. Kid? 

jof:Pli1MC1*, Yes, there were Articles fet up for Men to come aboard Capt. Kid's Ship. 
He was to have 40 fhares for his Ship, and every Man was to have a thale. And they were 
to give him fix pounds a Man for their Arms. 

Mr. Coniers, How many Men was his complement ? . 
yof. Pdmer, When he carne from New York, he had between 150, and 60 Men. 

Mr. Coniers, Give an account what you did after this. Whither did you go then ? 
Jof.Palmer, We went from .New York to Maderm,and from thence to Bonavili,and there we 

took•in Salt ; and from thence we went to Sc. Jago,ard there we bought Pibvitions ;and from 
thence we went to illadagafear. When we were not far from the Cape of good hope, he met 
with Capt. Warren, with three Sail of Men of War befides himfelf ; there was the Tyger, 
and theKing-fifher, and another Ship. And Capt. Kid kept them company about three or 
four Days, and after that went to Mac/op/car , and fometime in February arriv'd there; and 
there we watered and vidualled. We came to }ffalabar about the firft of June. Then We went 
tojoanna, and from thence to illaba/a; and from thence to Joanna again. And then we met 
'with fome Indian Merchants,' fo we watered the Ship there, and did them no harm. And 
from thence we went to Alabaia' ,where Capt. Kid graved his Ship: We had a great ficknefs 
in the Ship, and fometimes we loft four or five Men in a Day. And afterwards we went to 
Joanna again, and there came aboard ieveraI French Men, and feveral Eng/iJh Men that had 
loft their Ship. Thofe French Men lent Capt.. Kid fome money to mend his Ship. And af-
ter this, we went to a place call'd illabbee in the Red Sea, and took in Water, and Guiny Corn 
that he took from the Natives. And from thence we Went to Dabs Key. 

Mr. Coniers, What time was it that you came to that Dabs Key ? 
fol.. Palmer, In July 1697. 
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Mr.Co niers, Now pray tell us what pafred there. 

, jol.Palmer, When Capt. Kid came to Bobs-key, he flayed there abont three Weeks 
Mr. Coniers, Why did you flay there ? Tell us the real on of it. 
jof. Palmer, I heard him fay, Come Boys, I will make money enough out of that Fleet, 
Mr. Coniers, Out of what Fleet ? 
jai Palmer, The Aloco Fleet. When he came to the Key, he ordered fome of his Men 

to look out as Spies. He fent his Boat three times to make difcovery, and he gave them or-
ders either to take a Prifoner, or to get an account what Ships lay there. And the Boat went 
twice, and brought no News ; but the third time they brought word, that there were 14, or 
15 Ships lying there ready to Sail ; ibrne of them had Englijh Colours, fome Dutch Colours, 
and fome Moorifh Colours ; and that there was a great Ship with Red Colours, with her 
Fore-top-fail loofe, ready to Sail. And Capt. Kid ordered his Men to take care thefe Ships 
did not pafs by in the Night. 

Mr. Coniers, You Illy, he ordered his Men to watch this Fleet, How did he order them ? 
jof.Palmer, He ordered them by a Lilt in their turns, to look out for the coming of this 

Fleet. And fo after four or five Days the Fleet carne down in an evening, about the 14, or 
15 of Auguft 5 the next morning Capt. Kid went after them, and he fell into the nlidít of 
the Fleet, and there was a Dutch Convoy, and an Englifh one among them. He went into 
the midft of the Fleet, and fired a Gun after a illoorifh Ship. And the two Men of War fir'd 
at us, but did no harm, fbr they did not reach us.. So he left the Fleet, and from thence 
went to Carawar. 

Mr. Colliers, Tell what paired there. 
joi Palmer, Then we met with a fmall Veffel belonging to Aden. 
Mr, Coniers, What.Country did it belong to ? 
fol.. Palmer, Black People, only there was one Thoma, ',Parker, and a Purtuguefr Don An-

tonio on board. . 
Mr. Coniers, Was he the Commander of the Ship ? - jcy: Palmer, I cannot tell. 
Mr. Coniers, What did Capt. .Kid do with this Ship ? 

P almer,- He took this Parker for a Pilot, and the Portuguefe for a Linguilter. 
Mr. Coniers, What do you mean by that word Linguifter ?- 
lei-, Palmer, An Interpreter to fpeak Span ¿íh, and. Portuguefe. 
Mr. Coniers,. Did heAake any thing out of the Ship befideS the Men ? 
yof Palmer, He molt' a Bail of Pepper, and a Bail of Coffee, and let the Ship go. But af-

ter this we came to Carawar. 
Mr. Coniers, Before you let the Ship go, how were the Men ufed by him ? 
jof Palmer, He ordered fome of the Men to be hoifled up by their Arms, and drubb'd 

with a naked Cutlafs. They were laid with their Hands backward. 
Mr. Coniers, When they were hoilted up, give an account how they were ufed, and fot 

what rea fon. 
Jo/. Palmer, They were beat with a naked Cutlafs to make them difcover what money 

was aboard. 
Mr. Coniers, What was the next thing ? 
y-of. Palmer, He took out this Parker for a Pilot, and. Antonio the Portuguefe for a Lin-

• guifter. I heard there was money taken, but I did not fee it. 
Mr. Conicrs, What did he do with thofe Men ? 
y-of Palmer, He kept them as the other Men were kept. 
Mr. Coniers, Was there any demand made of there Men? 
jof. Palmer, When we came to Girawar, the Faaory demanded them, and he denyed them. 
Mr. Coniers, What Faaory is this 
jof Palmer, An Ensfifh Faaory. There was one Harvey and !Von  came to demand 

thefe Men. 
Mr. Coniers, And what faid Capt. Kid to them ? 
yd: Palmer, He denyed that he had any fuch Men 5 and he kept them in the Hold, I be-

lieve a Week. Several of his Men would have left him if they could. 
Mr Coniers, What did he do after this ? 
yof Palmer, He put to Sea, and met with a Portuguefe Man of War, and fought her s he 

engaged her five or fix Hours, and afterwards left her, and then he bought fome Hogs of the 
Natives. After he went from this Carawar, he went to Porco, and took in fome Hogs there. 
And then went to the Wand of Malabar, and watered his Ship. And his Cooper went afhore, 
. and the Natives cut his Throat. And after this, Capt. Kid fent fome Men afhore, and or-
dered them, That if they fhould meet any ofthe Natives, they fhould kill 'ern, and plunder'em. 

Mr. Comers, Go on Sir. 
lof.Palmer, Mier that they went to the Coalt of Malabar again, and in November met 

with a Shi p,and took her. One Schipper Mitchel was the Commander, fhe was a .Moorifh Ship. 
Mr. Comers, What became of her ? If. Palmer, Capt. Kid carried her ro Madagafcar. 
Mr. Coniers, What Goods were in her ? 
jai Palmer, There were two Horfes, and ten Bails of Colon, that he fold to the Natives. 
Mr. Coniers, Did he fend fOr any aboard at this time? 

jol Palmer, 



jot. Palmer, There was a Frenchman, that was to pretend hitnfelf the Captain. He took 
her under French Colours, and haled the Ship in French. And this Monfiezir Le Roy was 
to pafs for Captain, and he íhewed his French Pafs, and - 

Mr. Coniers, Give an account of his perfonating the Captain. Who order'd him to do fo> 
jy. Palmer, Capt. Kidordered him to do to ; and they haled him in Fre(nch, and he carne 

aboard; and he had. a Fend) Pal. And then Capt. Kid told him, he was Captain. 
F Mr: Coniers, And, he took the Ship ? • 

Yof. Palmer, Yes the Cotton, and Horfes, and fold them afterwards. a 
Mr, Coniers, Whither went you next ? 

Palmer,- We coafted about the Coati of Malabar. , 
Mr C▪ oniers, Did you meet with any Boats there ? jof.Palmer, Yes, feveral. 
Mr • Coniers, What did you do with them > 
jd. Palmer, Capt. Kid robbed and plunder'd them, and turn'd them adrift again. 
Mr: Coniers, What was the next thing you did. 
Yof. Palmer, About the firil of jannag, ,we met with a Portuguefe Ship, , 
Mr.' Coniers, Where > jol Palmer, On the fame Coati.. We took her. 
Mr. Coniers, What did you do with that Ship ? 

Palmer, He kept her a Week, and took out two Che jof Butter, and a Tun of Wax, and half a Tun of Iron, and an Hundred Bags of Rice. . 
of: lts of Indian Goods, and. 3,01 _Tarrsny . 

Mr. Coniers, Did you take thofe Goods you mention ? 
N. Palmer, Yes, and carried them aboard the Adventure Gaily. 
Mr. Coniers, What was the next Ship you met with? jof...Palmer, The tueda Merchant. 
L. C B. Ward, Be very plain and particular in this, and how She was taken 5 for this,is 

the Ship in the Indiament, and for taking of which the Prifoners ate Tryed. 
J'of. .Palmer,. About the latf of Januaiy fhe was taken, I was not then aboard the Gaily ; 

for then I was aboard the November, and was otdered to get Water. After three or four 
Days I went aboard '• but I was not aboard at the time She was taken. About three 
.or four Days after, Ifaw her, and Capt. Kid was aboard '• and I believe there were taken 
out of her Goods to the value ofTen or Twelve Thouluid. Pounds; which were fold; tome 
before they were put alhore, and fome after. 

Mr. Coniers, To whom were they fold ? 
Yof.Palmer, To the Banians. Capt. Kid kept the Seamen to ItelpiPail the Ships. 
L. C. B. Ward, What became of the money the Goods were fold for ? 
yof. Palmer, It was fhared. 
L. C B. Ward, What fhare had the Captain ? inf. Palmer, He had forty fhares. 
Cl. of Arr. What fhare had Will. Kid? , jof.Palmer, He had forty fhares. 

)7. In Goods, or Money ? jil: Palmer, In both Goods and Money. 
Look upon Niel). Churchill, What had he ? 

o. diner, He had near two Hundred Pounds of each, which was a Man's fhare.' 
us of Arr. Look upon James Howe, Had he any (hare? jy. Palmer, Yes, a whole fhaia 
Cl. of Arr.•Hd Robert Lamley any fhare ? 
jof. Palmer, He had half a fhare of the money, and a whole fhare of the Goods. 
CY. of Arr. Will. Jenkins, Had he any (hare ? 
yof Palmer, He had half a fhare of the Money, and a whole fhare of the Goods. 
C/. of Arr. Had Gabriel Loffany fhare ? 

- 

jof. Palmer, He had half a (hare of the Money, and a whole fhare of the Goods. 
Mr. Coniers, Why had they no more ? jof. Palmer, They were Land-men: 
C/. .of Arr., Hugh Parrot, Had he any ? Jo/ Palmer, He had a whole fhare. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Rich. Barlicorn any thare ? Jof Palmer, He had half a fhare. 
CL of Arr, Had Abel Owens any ? Jof Palmer, He had a whole (hare. 
CZ of Arr. Had Darby Molins any Mare ? Jof. Palmer, He had a whole fhare. 
Mr. Coniers- What became of the ref' of the Goods ? 
cf. Palmer, They were carried to Madaggfear. 

r. Coniers, Who ordered the Goods to be hoiffed out, and fluted ? Who ordered that ? 
Jol Palmer, At the beginning I was not there. 
Mr. Coniers, Who ordered it ? 

jy:Palmer, Capt. Kid. And aloft of the Goods were afhore before I carne back, and  beI carne back he had his fhare, and molt of the rd. 

Mr. Coniers, How many of the Prifoners at the Bar, had their fhares of the Goods ? 
Pi' Palmer, All thefe Men. 
CL of Arr. Whofe (hares were divided to them before you went away ? 
lry. Palmer, None ; but only they were prepared in order to be divided. 
L. C B. Ward, Did you hear any of them ,fay, They had any (hares ? 
jof:Palmer, Yes, Hugh Parrot, and Gabriel Loff: 
C1-' of Arr. What fay you to Will. Kid ? Did he own he had any fhare ? Jiy:Palmer,No. 
CY. of Arr. Did you hear NO). Churchill fay he had any ? 
Jof. Palmer, No, I did not ; I cannot fay, I heard them fay fo. 
Cl. Of Arr. Did you hear Gabriel Loff and Hugh Parrot fay, they had any- fhares ? 
joi. Pabncr, Yes, I heard them fay fo. Mr. Coniers 
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Mr. Coniers, Whither did you proceed next ? 
Jof. Palmer, We left Capt. Kid there, I went no further with him. 
M. Coniers, I ask you, Whether you met with any Ships, Hides what yoti mentioned. 
jof. Palmer, When we carne to Madagafcar, in the latter end of April) or beginning of 

Pay, 1696, there was a Ship call'd the Refblution, which was formerly' call'd the .frloco 
higates feveral of the Men came off to Capt. Kid, and told him, They heard he came to take, 
and hang them. He faid, that it was no fuch thing, and that he.would do them all the good 
he could. And Capt. Culliford came aboard ot' Capt. Kid, and Capt. Kid went aboard of 
Cu/for d. 

Mr. Coniers, Who was that Culliford? 
jof.Palmer, The Captain of the Ship. And on the Quarter-deck they made fame Bomboo, 

and drank together, and Capt. Kid faid, Bef Ore I would do you any harm, I would have my 
Soul fry in Hell-fire; and wifhed Damnation to himfeIf feveral limes' if he did. And he took 
the Cup, and withed that might he his 1211, if he did not do them all the good he could. 
Mr. Powel,, Did you take thefe Men to be Pirates ? 

Palmar, They were reckon'd fo. 
Dr. Newton Did Capt. Kid make Culliford any Prefents? 
jof. Palmer,' Yes, he had four Guns of him. 
Dr. Newton Of whom ? 
jof. Palmer, Of Capt. Kid, he prefented him with them. 
Mr. rowel, Was there not a Prefent on the other fide ? 
jef. Palmer, I believe there vvas, I have heard fo; I heard Culliford fay, I have prefent-

ed Capt. Kid to the value of four or five Hundred pounds. 
Mr. Cooper, Were thefe kindneffes done to Culliford after Culliford's Men laid, :They heard 

that Capt. Kid was come to hang them ? 
jof.Palmer, Yes. 
Mr. Cooper, What did Capt. Kid do after that? 
Pi. Palmer, He went aboard the Queda' Merchant. 
Mr. Cooper, What did he do with his own Ship? 
Joi Palmer, She was leaky, and he left her. 
Mr. Cooper, Did he carry, or attempt to carry, any of the Ships hetook; in order to con-

demn them, befides that French Banker ? 
jof.Palmer, He never did, nor talked of any fuch thing. 
L. C B. Ward, Mr. Kid, Will you ask this Witnefs any Queflions ? 
Will. Kid, I ask him, Whether I had no French Paífes ? 
jof.Palmer, Indeed, Capt. Kid, I cannot tell. I did hear him fay , that he had French 
Paífes, but I never faw them. 
L. C B. Ward, Thofe Goods that were taken out of the Queda Merchant, Whofe Goods 

were they fuppos'd to be ? 
Jof.Palmer, The Armenian Merchants. I have heard Capt. Kid fay feveral times, he had 

French Palles. 
Will. Kid, And. did you hear no body elfe fay fo ? 
Jof. Palmer, No. 

of Arr.Nicb. Churchill, Will you ask him any Queffions? 
N. Churchill, My Lord, I have no Queflions to ask him. 
G. of Arr. James .Howe, Will you ask him any Queítions ? 
J. Howe No. 
Cl of Arr. Robert Lamley, Will you ask him any Queftions? R. Lemley, No, 
a of Arr. Will. Jenkins, Will you ask him any Queftions ? 
Will.jenkins, Had I half a fhate ? 
jol Palmer, You received half a thare of money, and a whole fhare of Goods. 
Will. Jenkins, You know that I was a Servant, aud had nothing in this Voyage but what 

my Mailer had. 
Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loff, Will you ask him any Queftions 
Gabriel Loff, No. 
C7. o f .ii.rf. Hugh Parrot, Will you ask him any Queflions? 
Hugh Parrot, No. 
a of Arr. Richard Barlicorn, Will you ask him any thing? 
Richard Barlicorn' No. 
C7. of Arr. Abel Owens, Will you ask him any thing ? 
Abel Owens, No. 
Cl. of Arr. Darby Mains, Will you ask him any thing ? 
D. No. 
Will. Kid, It is in vain to ask any Quellions. 
L. C. B. Ward, Then you may make your own defence. Come Mr. Kid, what have you 

to fay in your own defence ? 
Will. Kid, I had a Commiffion to take the Freneh, and. Pirates, and in order to that, I 

came up with two Ships, that had French Pails both of them. I called you all a Deck to 
con. 
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confult • And did not a great many of the Men go aboard ? Did not you go ? You knoll 
Mr. Palmer, I would have given thefe Ships to them again, but you would not ; you al 
voted againa 

Jof. Palmer, This Man (pointing to the Armenian, that was in Court) offered yol 
twenty thoufand Rupees for the Ship, and you refsufed it. 

Will. Kid, Did not I as k, Where will you carry this Ship ? And you faid, we will make , 
a prize of her, we will carry her to Madagafcar. 

Palmer, Says Capt. Kid to his Men, There Armenians make fuch a noife for the Ship 
that I muff fay, my Men will not part with her ; but there was not a quarter part of Men 
concerned in it. The Armenians came crying and wringing their Hands: Upon which, lays 

I muttfay, my Men will not give them the Ship. And tó fome of the Men went oi Capt. Kid, 
the Fore-cattle, and pretended, they would not give them the Ship; but there was not a guar 
ter part of the Men concerned in it. 

L. C. B. Ward, Did thofe Goods belong to Frenchmen, or Armenians ? 
jof. Palmer, To Armenians. • 
L. C. B. Ward What was that pretence of a French Pafs that was on board the Queda Met. 

chant ? Jof. Palmer, I faw none. 
Will. Kid, But you have heard of it. Jof Palmer,I have heard ofit, but never faw it, 
L. C B. Wan, Mr. Kid, have you any more to fay ? You fpeak of a Commiffion that you 

had, you may have it read if you pleafe. 
Will. Kid, I defire to have them both read. 
L. C. B. Ward, Yes, they fhall. 

Then his Commiffion for Reprifals upon the French, was Read. 

W I LLI A M the Third, By the Grace of God, ofEngland, Scotland, France and Ireland 
King, Defender of the Faith, &c. Whereat We having taken into Our Confideration,the 

Injuries, Spoils, and Ads of Hoflility committed by the French King and his Subjeds, unto, and 
upon the Ships, Goods, and Pet:fins of Our Subjells extending to their grievous Dammages, and 
amounting to great Summs ; and that notwithflanding the many and frequent Demands made 
for redrefs and reparation, yet none could ever be obtain'd. We did therefore with the Ad-
vice of Our Privy Council, think fit, and ordered, that general Reprizals he Granted againfi 

the Ships Goods, and Subjells of the French King - fo that as well Our Fleets and Ships, atajfo all other Ships and Veffels that fhall be Commiffio'nated by Letters of Marque, or general 

Reprizals, or otherwife, fhall and may lawfully feize' and take all Ships, Veffels, and Gooch 
belonging to the French King, or his Sublet's, or Inhabitants within any of the Territories of 
the French King: And fitch other Ships, Veffels and Goods, a," are, or fhall be liable to Con-
fifcation, and bring the fame to Judgment in dur High Court of Admiralty of England, or 1! 
filch other Court of Admiralty as fhall be lawfully Authorized in that behalf, according to the 
fual coiole and Laws of Nations. And FiTherea3 William Kid is thought titly qual¡fied, and ' 
bath Equipped, Furnifhed, and Vidualled a Ship called, The Adventure Gaily, of the burthen 
of about Two hundred eighty feven T unns, whereof the faid William Kid is Commander. And 
whereas, he the laid William Kid bath given Security with Sureties by Bond to Us, in Our faid 
High Court of Admiralty according to the effed and form fet down in certain Inflrudions made 
the fecond Day of May, One thoufand fix hundred ninety three, and in the Fifthirear of Our 
Reign, a Copy whereof is given to the faid Capt. William Kid. Know ye therefore, That We 
by thefe Prefents, grant Commiffion to, and do Licence and Authorize the laid William Kid to 
Jet forth in warlike manner the faid Ship call'd, The Adventure Gaily, under his own Command, 
and therewith by force of Arms to Apprehend, Seize and take the Ships,Treyels, and Goods 
belonging to the French King and his Subjeds, or Inhabitants within the Dominions cf tbe laid 
French King ; andfuch other Ships, Vejels and Goods, a" are, or fhall be liable to Confifca-
tion, and to bring the fame to fuch Port as ihall be moll convenient, in order to have them le-
gally adjudged in Our High Court of Admiralty, or fuel) other Court of Admiralty as _Mall be 
lawfully Authorized in that behalf., which being Condemned, it fhall and maybe lawful fbr the laid 

fuch Prizes, the times and places of their being taken, and the values oj them, a" near &he 

fuchfort and manner as by the cowf-e of Admiralty bath been accuflonzed (except in fuel) Cafes 

or found out by examination, or conference with any Mariners or Paffengérs (Y., or in any of 

riners» can difcover by the bell Intelligence he can get 5 and alfo whatfoever elfe, _Mall come 
unto him, or any of his Officers, or Mariners, or be di leovered or declared unto him or them, 

the Ships or Veffels taken, or by any other peifon, or perfons, or by any other -ways or means 

can judge ; alfo of the flation, motion, and ftrength of the Enemy, as well cu he or his Ma-

and therein particularly take notice of all Prizes which fhall be taken by him, the nature of 

where it is otherwife direlled by the faid Infirullions and the All of Parliament thereunto an-
nexed. Provided always, that the laid William Kid keep an exatl journal of his proceedings, 

William Kid, toful and Ofpcfe offuch Ships,Vejels, and Goods fo adjudged and condemned, in 

• wbatfoever 
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:low 
/ ad whatfoever touching or concerning the Defigns of the Enemy, or any of their Fleets, Weis, or 

Parties, and of their Stations, Ports, and Places, and of their intents therein 1 and of what 
yol. Merchants Ships or Vijle Is of ¡he Enemy's bound out, or home, or to any other place, !IA' be, or 

his Officers, or Mariners fhall hear of, and of what ejfe 
his, or their knowledge, of all which he 'hall from time to time, a,s he 'hall, 

material in ¡Aye Caje. o;:imit,;abrarivvee opte 
flake _ 

portunity, tranfmit an account to our Commillioners for executing the Office of Lord High Ad.. 
;hip, 1 miral ofEngland, or their Secretaries, and to keep a Corr. efpondence with them by all opportu-
Men nities that fhallprefent. And further Provided that nothing be done lythefizidWilliam Kid, 
lays or any of his Officers, Mariners, or Company, contrary to the true meaning of Our aforefaid In-
it on flrudions, but that the faid Infiruclionsfhall be by them, and each and every of them, as far 
luar- as they, or any of them are therein concern'd, in al/particulars well and duly perforni'd 

and oblerved. And We pray and defire all Kings, Princes, Potentates, Mates, .and Re-
publicks, being Our Friends and Allies, and all others to whom it fhall appertain, to give the 
Jaid William Kid all aid, offiflance and fuccour in their Ports with his laid Ship, Company 

Wer. and Prizes, without doing, or fuffering to be done to him any wrong, trouble or hindrance. 
We offering to do the like, when We [hall be by them thereunto defied. And We will and 

w it. require all Our own Officers whatfoever, to give him luccour and &fiance as occalion ¡hall 
you require. This Our Cornmiffion to continue in force till further order to the contrary from .Uk, 

or Our Commiffioners for executing the Office of Lord .High Admiral of England. In 
Witnefs whereof We have coifed the Great Seal of Our High Court of Admiralty of En-
gland to be hereunto affixed. Given at London the Eleventh Day of December' in the 
Year of Our Lord One thoufand fix hundred ninety five, and in the Seventh Year of 
Our Reign. 
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Orlando Gee Reg. 

Mr. jull.Powel, Capt. Kid, can you make it appear there was a French Paf  aboard the 
Queda Merchant ? 

Will. Kid, My L ord, thefe Men fay, They heard feveral fay fo. 
Mr. Coniers, But all came from you. 
L. C. B. Ward, If there was a French Pars in the Ship, you ought to have condemned he 

as Prize. 

Then his other cOmmiiTion was Read for cruifing againít the Pirates, 

WILIAM Rex, 

W IL LI AM III. By the Grace of God,King of England, Scotland, France and Ireland. 
Defender of the Faith, &c. To our trail), and well-beloved Capt. William Kid, Com-

mander of the ShipAdventure Gally,or to any other, the Commander of thefame for the time being, 
Greeting, Whereaá-,We are inform'd, that Capt. Thomas Too, John Ireland, Capt. Thomas Wake, 
and Capt. William Maze, or Mace, and other Our Subjells, Natives, or Inhabitants of New 
England, New York, and efewhere, in Our Plantations in America, have officiated them-
felves. with divers other wicked and ill-difpofedPerfons and do againfl the Law of Nations, 
daily commit many and ,great Piracies, Robberies, and Depredations upon the Seas in the parts 
of America, and in other parts, to the great hindrance and difcouragement of Trade and Ara-
vigation, and to the danger and hurt of Our loving Subjeds, Our Allies, and all others Naviga-
ting the Seas upon their lawful Occa(ions : Now Know Ye, .That We being defirows to pre-
vent the aforefaid Mifchiefs; and at far at in Us lyes to bring the laid Pirates, Freebooters 
and Sea-Rovers to Juilice,have thought fit ,and do hereby Give, and Grant untoyou the faid- Capt.. 
William Kid (to whom Our Crmmr. loners for Exercifing the Office of Our Lord high Admiral of 
England, have Granted a (ommiffion at a private Man of War bearing date the Eleventh day 
of December, 169 5.) and unto the Commander of the laid Ship. for the time being, andante the 
Officers, Mariners and others which ¡hall be under your Command, full Power and Authority, 
to Apprehend, Seize, andtake into your Cullody, a4 well the faid Capt. Thomas Too, John 
Ireland, Cz_pt. Thomas Wake, and Capt. William Maze, or Mace atallfuch Pirates Free-
booters, and Sea-Revers, being either Our own Subjeds,or of otherXrations a jociated with them, 
which you jhall meet with upon the Coalis or Seas ofAmerica, or in any other Seas, or Ports, 
with their Ships and irefiels, and a(fo fad) Merchandizes, Money, Goods and Wares, as fhall 
be _found on hoard, or with them, in cafe they fhall willingly yield themfelves. But if they will 
not fubmit without fighting ;then you are by force to compel them to yield: And we do elfo require 
you to bring, or caufe to be brought fuel) Pirates, Freebooters, and Sea-Rovers cu you fholifeize 
to a legal Tryal • to the end they may be proceeded againft according to the Law in jUch Cafes. 
And We do hereby charge, and commandall Our 0.fficers, Miniflers, and other Our loving.Sub-
jeds whatfoever, to be Aiding and 4/lifting to you in the Premifes. And We do hereby enjeyn 
you to keep an exad Journal of your proceeding in the Execution of tbe Premiíes, and therein to 
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Jet Joan the Names of fitch Pirates, and of' their Officers and company, and ¿be Names offrici, 
Ships andVelleis ízs you fhall by virtue of theft? Prefents flfize and take, and the quantities of 
Arms, Ammunition, P rovifion.,and Loading of fitch Ships' and tbe true value of the fame, as near 
ica.you can judge. And We do hereby firiSly charge, and command you, as you will anfiver ¿be 
fame ntyoursutmoft peril, that you do not in any manizír offend, or molefl any of Our Friends or 
Allies, their Ships, or Subjeds, by colour or pretence of theft' Prefents, or the Authority there. 
by Granted. In-Witnefs whereof, We have caufed Our Great Seal of England to he affixed to 
- theft' Preftnts: Given at Our Court at Kenfington, the 26th Day of januaq, 1695, in the 
.Sdventh Year of. Our Reign. 

L C B. Ward, Now you have had the Commiffions Read, What do you excufe your 
felt' by ? What ufe do you make of them to jultifie or defend your felf? 

Will. Kid, About this Zieda Merchant. . 
L. B Ward, What wóuld you have her a French Ship ? 

•Will. KW, Under a French Commiffion. The Mailer was a Tavern-keeper. at Surat : Do 
not you know that, Mr. Pa/ini? 
jd: Palmer, I was not on board when this Pafs came, I never faw it. 

B Ward, But then you thould have Condemned this Ship, if flietad been a French 
Ship; or had a French' Pafs. ' 

Will. Kid, The Evidence fays, it was by my order that the Goolls were taken out 5 I vval 
not It the, fliaring of 'the Goods, I knew nothing of it. 
,LC B. Ward; Out of' the Goods that were taken, fome were fold in the Country there, 

and -the produce of them was fo much money, it is proved, that that money was di. 
vided ; and purfuant to the Articles fet up, you were to have forty Shares, and th( 
• -roll- of the -Men whole, or half Shares as they deferved. Now this money botl 
thefe Men Swear, it was taken by you. And the firlt Swears, That the Goods not fold 
then, that remained in the Ship were alfo divided, and that you had forty lhares of 
theni.- And the other' fays, he did not fee the Goods divided, but tvvo of the Men ackliow r 
ledge it. 

Will. Kid. My Lord, this "-Frenchman vvas • aboard five or :fix Days before I underllood 
there vvas any Englifbnzan aboard. Well, laid 1, What are you? An Englifhman, Lani 
Mailer. What háve you td'flieVV' fór it ? Nothing (fays ' he.) When they lee . a Frecb 
Pafs, they vvill not let the Ship go. 

Mr. j. Powel, You have produced Letters Patents that irripovvered you to take Pirates 
vvhy did you not take Cullifbrd?' • . 

Will. Kid, A great many of the Men vvere gone a-lhore. 
Mr. J. Powe/, But you prefented him vvith great Guns, and fvvore you Vvould not med 

die vvith them. 
L. C B. Ward, When the Qiieltion vvas put, Are you come to 'take us, and hang ,'ul 

You anfi,vered, I vvill fry in Hell before I. do you any harm. 
Will Kid, That is only vvhat thefe Witnefres fay. 

B. Word, Did not you go aboard Culliford? 
Will. Kid, I vvas not aboard (Wiiford. 

L. C B. Ward, Thefe things prefs very hard upon you.' We ought to let you know what 
is oblerved, that you may make your. Defence as well as you can. 

Will. Kid, I defire Mr. Davis may be called (he was called accordingly, and appeared: 
Mr. Davis, pray give an account vvhether you did not fee a French Pafs ? 
L.0 B. Ward, You are his Witnefs, you muff anfvver vvhat he asks you. 
Mr. Davis, I came a Paffenger from Illadag,gfcar, and from thence to Amboyna' and 

there he fent his Boat a-fhore, and this Man was a-lhore; and there was one faid, Capt 
Kid, was publifhed a Pirate in England; and he gave thofe Pal:Fes to him to Read. The 
Captain faid, they were French. 

L. C B. Ward, Who gave them'? 
Mr. Davis, Captain Kid gave them. 
',L. C B. Ward, Did you know any thing of taking the Queda Merchant? 
Mr. Davis, No, no. 
C B. Ward, Then you cannot l'ay, they have any relation to the Zteda Merchant. 

• Mr. Davis, No, not I. 
Will. Kid, You heard. Capt. Elms lay, They were French Pafres. 
Mr. Davis, Yes, I heard Capt. Elms fay, they were French hires. Says he, if you vVill 

I can turn them into Latin. 
Mr. B. Hatfel, Have you any more to fay, Capt. Kid? 
Will. Kid, I have fome Papers, but my Lord Bella/no/a keeps them from me, that Lean 

not bring them before the Court. 
CY. of Arr. Have you any more to fay ) 
Will. Kid, I have fome to call, that vvill bear teflimony to my Reputation. 
L. C.B.Ward, Call whom you pleafe, vve vvill not abbridge you. 

WilL Kit 
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Trill. Kid. Call Mr. Braden ham. I delire this of him, whether he neüer faw the b.eneb 
Yaffe's, and whether he did not tell Coll. Bafs fo. 

R. Bradinbam. I never fa.w a French Pafs' I only heard fo. 
Bafs. I have heard Mr. Bradinhamfay, he heard Capt. Kid fay he had FrenCbPaffes 

on Board, but I never heard him fay he faw them Palles. 
Will. Kid. He MI now denied that he ever faw the French Paffes, or heard of them. 
L. C. B. Ward. He fays fo now, that he never faw them, only he heard you fay fo. 

Coll. Bafs' have you heard him fay the Paffes related to the otitedah Merchant? 
Coll. B,!fs. He has often laid he heard Kid fay the French Paífes were aboard. 
Cl. of Arr. Have you any more Witnetres to call? 
Will. Kid. I delire Mr. Say may be called, he is in the Prifon, I defire he may be 

fent for. 
L. C. B. Ward. We will give you all the liberty you can expect, if you have any 

more, you were belt call them all together. In the mean time what fay you, Churchill? 
N. Churchill. I delire Coll. Bafi may be called, and that this Affidavit may be 

read. 
L. C. B. Ward. Colonel Bafs, what have you to fay for N. Churchill? 
Coll. Bafs. My Lord, I only wait lbr his quettion. • 
L. C. B. Ward. Churchill, what will you ask Coll. Bafs? 
N. Churchill. Whether I did not Surrender my felf to him. 
L. C. B. Ward. If you can make your Cafe come within the Proclamation, yóu mutt 

make it appear that you Surrendred according to the Direaions of it. 
N. Churchill. My Lord, we came in, in the Year 1699, and Surrendred our felves to 

Coll. Bafs. 
L. C. B. Ward. If you can make it appear that you Surrendred your felves in purfuance 

of that, to the Perfons appointed to receive your Surrender, that will be fomevvhat to thé 
Point ; but Coll. Bafs had not power by that Proclamation to receive your Surrender, and 
therefore you cannot have any benefit by it, unlefs you can bring your Cafe within it. But 
you may call Coll. Bafs, if you will. 

N.Churchill. My Lord, we came in upon that Proclamation, and might have gone away. 
any day if we would ; but we Itay'd in the Country, and we never offered to go away till 
it was my Lord Bellamont's pleafure to fend for us. 

L.. C. B. Ward. You may call Coll. Bys•, and hear what he fays. 
N. Churchill. Coll. Bafs, will you be pleafed to tell my Lord whether we did not Sur-

render our felves to you in purfuance of the King's Proclamation. 
Coll. Bafs. My Lord, about the 29th of May, 1699, I had an account of fome Perfons, 

that were Iiippofed Pirates 5 that were come to Surrender themfelves ; and on my Landing,. 
thefe two Perfons came to me, .and Surrendred to me the 4th of June, 1699. And I told. 
them I mutt refer their Cafe to his Majetty at home. 

L. C. B. Ward. Who were they that Surrendred to you? 
Coll. Bafs. Nich. Churchill, and James Howe. 
L. C. B. Ward. Where were you Governor? 
Coll. Bafs. At the Province of Weft Jerfy.. 
Dr. Oxenden. How came they here? 
Coll. Bafs. I left them under Bail. 
L C. B. Ward. Did you fend them over? 
Coll. Bafs. No, my Lord, I came to England before ; I left them in Cullody. They 

were fent, over Prifoners by my Succeffor. 
L. C. B. Ward. What did they fay to you when they Surrendred themfelves to you ? 
Coll. Bafs. They faid they had been in the Indies, and that they had committed feveral 

Piracies, and defiled they might have the benefit of his Majetty's Proclamation. 
L. C. B. Ward. What Pirates did they mention to you ? 
Coll. Bafs. They mentioned the Moco Frigate, and Capt. Kid. 
Dr. Oxenden. Had you the Proclamation? 
Coll. Bafs. No, but I had feen one of them. 
L. C. B. Ward. Did you take your felf allowed to receive their Surrender ? 
Coll. Bafs. No, my Lord, I did not. 
Cl. of Arr. N. Churchill, have you quite done? 
N. Churchill, and James How. Yes Sir, we came in upon his Majefly's Proclamation, 
Cl. of Arr. Rob. Lamley, what have you to fay ? 
Rob. Lamley. My Lord, I was but a Servant. 
L. C. B. Ward. Who was you a Servant to? 
Rob. Lamley. To Mr. Owens. 
L. C. B. Ward. How does that appear? 
hob. Lamley. The Surgeon knows it. 
R. Bradinham. My Lord, he was concerned with the Cook. 
Rob. Lamley. My Lord, here is my Indenture (which was read) 
Cl. of Arr. Will. Jenkins, what llave you to fay ? 
Will. Jenkins. I have nothing to fay, but I was a Servant to Mr. Bullen. 
L. C. B. Ward. Where is your Witnefs to prove it? 
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Will. ..Jenkins. Both the Kings Witneffes know it. 
Bradinham and Palmer. My Lord, he was his Servant. 
Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loft', what fay you for your fell? • 
Gabr. Loff. My Lord, about the Year 1696, I entred my felf on board Capt. Kid, and 

went out with him, and I never difobeyed his Command in any thing. 
L. C. B. Ward. Did he go out under the firft Commiffion? 
yy: Palmer. He came aboard at New York. 
L. C. B. Ward. Did you take him in before, or after the Articles were fet up. 
7.(?/: Palmer. After the Articles were fet up. 
L. C. B. Ward. Did Capt. Kid take any Notice of his Commiffions in the Articles? 
Yof. Palmer. Yes, my Lord, he did mention them. I have a Copy of the Articles. 
Mr. Crawly. Mr. Palmer, are thefe Articles the Copy of the Articles fet up by Capt. Kid, 

at New-York? jef Palmer. Yes. 
Mr. J. Gould. Did you examine them? 
Jof Pa/the;'. To the belt of my knowledge they were a true Copy. 
Mr. J. Turton. Did you compare them with the Original 
jof Palmer. No, my Lord: 
Cl of .Arr. Gabriel Loff, have. you any more to fay ? 
G abr. 14 Yes, a great deal more to ask the Evidence. 
Cl. of Arr. What will you ask them ? 
Gabr. Loff. Whether I did not obey the Captain. 
Mr. J. :Fallon. There is no fauple to be made of that. 
Gab;'. Leff. I went out to ferve his Majefty under his Commiffion. 
L. C. B. Ward. But how came you to take part of the Money ? 
Gabr. Loff. I had what they pleafed to give me. 
L. C. B. Ward. You mull needs imagine, that when Capt. Kid did thefe extravagant 

things, and divided the Mony and Goods, that he did not ad according to his Commiffion. 
What could you think of it? 

.Cl. of ATT. Hugh Parrot, what have you to fay for your felf? 
H. Parrot. My Lord, in the Year 1695', in the Month of Otfober, I failed out of Pli • 

mouth in a Merchant-man, bound for Cork. in Ireland,' there to take in Provifions ; thence to 
the bland of Barbadoes ; and in fight of the Hand of Barbadoes, I was taken by a French 
Privateer, and carried to Martinico ; and thence coming in a Tranfport-Ship, I was 
brought to Barbadoes, there I Ship'd my felt' in a Veffel bound to Newfoundland, and 
thence to 'hotel-cm'. And then I went to Madagafcar ; and there I flayed fome fhort time 
after, and came in Company with Capt. Kid; and then the Commander and I had a falling 
our, and fo I went athore at that Ifiand. And underftanding that Capt. Kid had a Corn-
million fiom.the King, I came aboard Capt. Kids Ship,' and ever fince have been with him. 

L. C. B. Ward. Did you come to him after he had been at New York? 
H. Parrot. This was in the Year 1697. 
L. C. B. Ward. You have aaed with him, and fhared with him. Could you imagine 

he was aaing according to his Commiffion, when he was doing thefe things? 
H. Parrot. I thought I was fafe where the King's Commiffion was. 
L. C. B. Ward. The Commiffion was to take Pirates, and not to turn Pirates. 
H. Parrot. Mr. Palmer, did you ever fee me guilty of an ill thing? Did I ever difobey 

my Captain? 
jof Palmer. You were always obedient to your Commander., 
.H. Parrot. Then I came to Madagafcar with Capt. Kid, where I might have gone 

aboard a known Pirate, but I refufed it, and kept clofe to my Captain: And when I came 
to New-England, I might have gone away as others did ; but I had my Liberty at Bdion 
for above a Week, and went up and down, and.I•Surrendred my felf. 

L. C. B. Ward. You did not Surrender your felf, but only you had a liberty to go away, 
and did not. 

H. Parrot. I thought there was no need of it. My Lord, I delire you will ask the Wit-
nefs whether I ever difobeyed my Captain's Cammands. 

L. C. B. Ward. They fay no otherwife, but that you went willingly. 
Cl. of Arr. Rich. Barlicorn, what have you to fay ? 
R. Barlicorn. My Lord, I beg leave that I may produce fome Evidence for my Reputa-

tion. Here is a Certificate from the Parifh where 1 was born. 
L. C. B. Ward. That will fignify nothing, we cannot read Certificates, they mutt fpeak 

Viva Voce. 
R. Barlicorn. Call Benj. Bond, Daniel Phillips, and James Newton. 
L. C. B. Ward. What do you call thefe Witneffes for? 
R. Barficorn. To give an account of my Reputation, what they know of me. 
Benj. Bond. I knew him when he was a Child, and he was very civil and honeít • t lived 

near him tillhe was 13 or 14 year old.. And he came of honeft Parents, and behav'ed him-
felt very civilly all that time. 

L. C. B. Ward. Have you known any thing of him fince ? 
Benj. Bond. No, my Lord. 
L. C. B. Ward. What have you to fay further? 

R, Barlicorn. 
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R. Barlicorn. My Lord, I was a Servant to Capt. Kia, and I have been with him fix 

.Years ; and I have. a Certificate from feveral of my Relations tliawill telify it. 
Cl. of Arr. R. Bar/worn, have you any thing more to fay ? 
R. Rarlicorn. I am a Servant to Capt. Kid. 
L. C. B. Ward. How long have you been fo? Where was it that you Ca:Tle fir11 to be 

his Servant ? R. tirlicorn. At Carolina. 
Cl. of Arr. Abel Owens what fay you for your_felf? 
Abel Owens. My Lord, I delire the Privilege of the Proclamation. f enti'ed my felf 

into the King's Service. I.have been in the King Service, accordg to his Majelly's Pro-
clamation. I delire it may be read ( which was done.) 

L. C. B. IV-arc'. You defile the benefit of this Proclamation, Hit you mull bring your 
felf under the qualifications it requires, if you would have any benefit by it. 

Mt. CraWly. He has a Certificate of it. 
L. C. B. Ward. Is it within the Proclamation ? 
Mr. Crawley. The Certificate is dated i th March, 17óo, froM Mr. Riches, a Jullice of 

Peace in Southwark. 
L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Riches, I fuppofe, did believe he was within this Proclamation. 
Mr. J. Gould. The Pardon extends to all perfons for Piracies committed before that time, 

if they furrender th-e.mfelves to fuch and fuch, and enter themfelves on -board one of his 
Majelty's Ships. 

Mr. Coniers. A Jul-lice of the Peace is not within the Proclamati7n. 
Cl. of Arr. Have you any more to fay ? 
Ab. Owens. Only to defite the benefit of that Proclamation. 
L. C. B. Ward. He furrendred himfelf to Mice Riches, and then entred himfelf abovd 

one of his Majefly's Ships ; and then there was evidence agaiiilt hiiri,. when on board, and 
he was feized. This may be fit to recommend him to the Kings Mercy, but it is not a 
Defence againit the Accúlátion.. 

Cl. of Arr. Darby Mó/ins, what do you fay for your felf? 
D. Molins. I came in upon the King's Aa of Grace, I came aihore with ten of 

the People. 
L. C. B. Ward. What have you to thew, to iniitle you to the benefit of this Proclá-

mation ? 
D. Mo/ins. I was ready to dye of the Bloody Flux, and not - able. to go my • felf, but I 

fent my name in to the Governour. 
L. C. B. TVard. Where was you when you was fo. fick ? 
D. !Violins. In Wefl ierfy. I came afhore in Cape May. I was lick like to .die all 

the way from Madagafcar, expeaing every Minute, to dye with the Bloody Flux.; 
Dr. Oxenden. How came you to leave Capt. 
D. itio/ins. He ufed me very hardly, and therefore I left him. 
L. C. B. Ward. You had a dividend- of the Money and Goods. 
D. Molins. He gave it me, and afterwards took it from me. 
L. C. B. Ward. Was he your Mailer? - D...illolins. I had no Mailer. 
Dr. Oxendc,. How did you come to .7erfy? 

Molins. I came thither with Capt. Shelly, he is in Court. 
Dr. Oxenden. You were aboard Capt. Culliford. 

Molins. I came home in hopes to get the King's Pardon. 
L. C. B. Ward. That which you fay is very odd,tho' you quitted Capt. Kid's Ship, 

you went into Culliford's. 
L. C. B. Ward. Capt. Kid, you faid you had more to fay jull .now ; if you .have, let 

us hear it. 
Will. Kid. I delire this Man may be heard two or three Words.. 
L. C. B. Ward. What is his Name ? Will. Kid. Mr. Sy. 
Mr. Say.. I hapned to be at the Treafury Office. in Broadlirect to receive fome Money, 

and Mr. White VI/JS there - and he ask'd me, will You. go along *with me, and fee One El; 
bury that is in the Maribafea for Debt? I:vs I, I am a Stranger to him, I do not care to 
go. Says he, bear me Company. So I went with him,. and when 1 came there, I faw 
Capt. Kid's Men. And this Mr. E/bury was in Company ,withCapt.-Kid's Surgeon. Says I, 
I am a Brother of the quill, I thould be glad to drink a Glafs with you. We liay'd there 
but a little while, and asked what that Man was fays he, he is Capt. Kid's Surgeon. Lip-
On this I laid, here is a mighty noife about Capt. Kid fays he, I believe he has done nothing-
but what he can anfwer, or that can do him any hurt. Says I, *here have you been with 
him ? He fiid, at Madagafcar. 

L. C. B. Ward. Mr. Bradinham was with them, there is no doubt of that. It is not to be 
queffioned that he would fay .any thing ill of them then. Capt. Kid, have you any thing more 
to Ely ? Will. Kid. Call Capt. Humphrys, ( who appeared. ) 

L. C. B. Ward. What quettions would you ask him ? 
Will. Kid. What do. you know of me? 
Capt. Hunipbrys. I knew you, Sir, in the Weft-Indies in the beginning of the late War, and 

I know you .had the applaufe of the General, as I can thew by the General's Letter. I know 
nothing fluffier of you: 
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Will. Kid. Did. you know any thing that I was Guilty of any Piracies? 
Capt. Humphqs. No, but you had a general applaufe for what you had done from time 

to time. 
L. C. J. T.Vard. How long was this ago ? 
Capt. Humpbrys. Twelve Years ago. 
L. C. J. Ward. That was before he was turned Pirate. 
Will. Kid. Call Capt. Bond (who appeared.) 
L. C..B. Ward. What do you call him for? 
Will. Kid. Capt. Bond, pray will you give an account what you know of me. 
Capt. Bond. I know you was very ufeful at the beginning of the War in the Weft 

Indies. 
Mr. B. Hand!. To be fure they had a good opinion of him in 1695, when they granted 

him the Commiflion. 
Will. Kid. There is nothing in the World can make it appear I was guilty of Piracy, I 

kept company with Capt: 117arre,. for fix days. 
Mr. Coniers. I believe you kept company more with Capt. Culliford, than with Captain 

117-arren. 
Will. Kid. I never defigned to do any fuch thing. 
Mr. Coniers. My Lord, we will fay nothing at all, but leave it to your Lordfhip to 

direa the Jury. 
Will. Kid. I have many Papers for my Defence, if I could have had them, 
L. C. B. Ward. What Papers were they? 
Will. Kid. My French Palles. 
• L. C. B. Ward. Where are they ? 
Will. Kid. My Lord Bellamont had them'. 
L. C. B. Ward. If you had had the French Paffes, you fhould have Condemned Ships. 
Will. Kid. I could not becaufe of the Mutiny in my Ship. 
L. C. B. Ward. If you had any thing of DifAility upon you, to make your Defence, 

you fhould have objeaed it at the beginning of your Trial ; what you mean by it now, I 
cannot tell. If you have any thing more to fay, you may fay it, the Court is ready to 
hear you. 

L. C. B. Ward. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoners at the Bar, W. Kid, N. Churchill; 
J. How, R. Lanily, Will. Jenkins, Gabriel Leff, Hugh Parrot, Rich. Barlicorn, Abel Owens, 
and Darby Mullins, in number Ten ; fland all here Indiaed for the Crime of Piracy, charg'd 
to be committed by them. And the inftance of the Crime, is for Fellonioufly and Piratically 
Seizing and Taking the Ship call'd the Zuedab _Merchant, with the Apparel and Tackling 
thereof; to the value of 40o /. and divers Goods mentioned in the Indiament, to the value 
of too 1. the Goods of feveral Perfons unknown, from the Mariners of the faid Ship, and 
this at high Sea, within the Jurifdiaion of the Court of Admiralty, about ten Leagues from 
Cutfeen in the &II-Indies the oth of Januaiy, 1697, and in the 9th Year of his Majelly's 
Reign. Now whether all, or any, and which of thefe Prifoners are Guilty of this Crime 
of Piracy laid in this Indiament, or not Guilty, it is your part to determine according to 
the Evidence that has been given on both fides. The Crime charged on them is Piracy, that 
is, Seizing and Taking this Ship and Goods in it Piratically and Fellonioufly ; the time 
and place is laid alfo in the Indiament. To make good this Accularion, the King's Council 
have produced their Evidence and two Witneifes have been Examined in this cafe, each 
of thernSwere in the fame Ship which took the Zuedah _Merchant, and very well acquain-
ted with all the proceedings, that is, Rob. Bradinham, and jofeph Palmer. The firit has 
given you añ Hillorital account of the whole proceedings of Capt. Kid, from his firft going 
out of England in the Adventure Gaily, to the time of this faa charged on them. They tell 
you; that about !day 1696, the King intrulied this Capt. Kid with two Commiflions, and. 
they were both read to you. By one of them, under the Admiralty Seal, he was Autho-
rized to fet out as a Privateer the Adventure Gaily, and therewith to Take and Seize the 
Ships and Goods belonging to the French King, or his Subjeas, and fuch other as were liable 
to Confifcation. And by the other Gitilmiflion under the Broad Seal of England, Authority 
was given for the taking of fome Pirates by Name, and all other Pirates in the feveral places 
therein mentioned. But in no fort to offend or moleft any of the King's Friends or Allies, their 
Ships or Subjeas by colour thereof. Andly both Cornmiffions corpmand was given to bring all 
fuch Ships and Goods, as fhould be taken to legal Trials and Condemnations. They tell 
us, that this Ship fet out from Plimoutb about /Hay, 1696, and that in their Pafrage, they 
did take a French Ship, and they did Condemn that Ship. Now Gentlemen, you muff bear 
this in your Minds, that to make it Piracy, it mull be the taking Piratically and Felonioully 
upon the High Sea, within the jurifdiaion of the Admiralty of England, the Goods of' a 
Friend, that is fuch as are in Amity with the King. Now you fee what way they went to 
work, and what meafures they took. Capt. Kid goes out, and goes to New-Tork ; and when 
he was there, he has a projeE.I in his Head of fetting up Articles between himfelf and the 
People that were willing to be concern'd with him: For now whether it feems more pro-
bable from what followed that Capt. Kid defigned to manage himfelfaccording to the mea-
fures given him, and the Powers of his Commiflions, or another way, you muff confider ; for 
it is told you that between i5o, and i6o Men came in uhder thole Articles, whereof the 
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other Prifoners were part and concern'd in them. And as to thOfe Articles, the import of 
them was, that Whatever lhould be taken by thefe people in their Expeditions, fhould. 
divided into i6o parts, whereof Capt. Kid was to have 40 fhares for his part, and the reit 
were to have according to the merit of each party, forne whole fhares, and forne half fhares. 
Now after theie Articles, you perceive what Progrefs they -made, and what Courfe they 

took. They went from one place to another, and ufed a pretty deal of Severity wherever 
they came. A defign they had to go into the Red-Sea, and they had expeaations of the Aloco 
Fleet that lay at Aloco, and they fent their Spies three times to get Intelligence. The two 
firit times they could make no Difcovery ; but the third. time they made an effeaual Difco-
very that the Fleet was ready to Sail ; and in the mean time Capt._ Kid lay- there in expeaation 
of this Fleet ; and as the &It Witnefs tells you,Capt. Kid faid he intended to make a-Voyage 
out of this Fleet. Well, he had a Difcovery of this Fleet, and they came accordingly, and 
they tell you, that he and his Men in the Ship did attack one of the Ships: But tilde ships 
being guarded by two Men of War, he could made nothing of them, however he fhewed what 
his intention and defign was. Could he have proVed that what he_did was in putIOance of his 
Commillions, it had been fomething e But what had he to do tó make any attack on thefe 
Ships, the Owners and Freighters whereof; were in Amity with the King ; this does not appear 
to be an aaion fui table to his Commillion. After he had done this, he came to Land, and there, 
and afterwards at Sea, purlbed Itrange methods, as you have heard. The feeming juitificatiorr 
he depends on, is his Commiflions ; now it mutt be obferved ho' he aaed vVith relation tó 
them, and what irregularities he went by. He came to a place in the Irntie.c, and fent his 
Cooper afhore, and that Cooper was killed by the Natives ; and he ufes Barbarity, and tits 
an Indian to a Tree; and thoots him to Death. Now he went from place to place, and com-
mitted Hoitilities upon feveral Ships, dealing very feverely with the People. . 

But this being fomething foreign to the Indiarnent, and not the Fasts for which the 
Prifoners 'at' Bar are Indiaed, we are confined to the tr,edab Merchant ; but what he did 
before thews his Mind and Intentions not to aa by his Commiffions, which warrant no fucli 
things. Gentlemen, you have an account that he met with this Ship the Zuedab _Merchant at 
Sea, and took her ;. that this Ship belonged to People in Amity with the King of Ens/ands*, 
that he feized this Ship, and divers Goods were taken out of her, and fold, and the Money 
divided purfuant to the heads contained in thofe Articles fet up at New-Tork. The Wit-
neffes that fpeak to that, come home to every one of the Prifoners: They tell you that-this 
Dividend was made, that Capt.Kid had 4o Shares of the Money, and the reit of the PrifonerS 
had their proportions according to the Articles, forne whole thares, and forne a hall thare of 
that Money. After they had léized on the Ship, you hear of a certain fort of projea, that 
a French Man fhoiald come and pretend himfelf the MaIter„and produce, or pretend to produce 
a french Pafs, under a colour that thefe Peoples Ship and Goods; who were _Moors, fhould 
be French Men's Ship and Goods, or 'Sailed under a French Pafs, and fo jultify what they 
did under the colour of his Cornmiffion from the King. Now no Man knows the Mind 
and Intention .of another, but as it May be difcovered by his Aaions. If he would have 
this to be underitood to be his Intention; or that ir was a reality, that he took this as a french 
Ship, or under a French Pat's-, them he ought to have had the Ship and Goods inventoried, 
and Condemned, according to Law, that he might have had what proportion belonged to 
him, and that the King might, have had what belonged to him, as his Commiffions direaed. 
But here was nothing of that done, but the Money and Goods that were taken were fhared 
and you have an account likewife- how forne of the Goods were fold, and the Money difpo-
fed of, and how the remaining Goods were difpofed of; and one Witnefs fpeaks pofitively 
of the diftribution Of the Goods that remain'd unfold, that they were divided according to 
the fame proportions as the Articles mentioned, and every one of the Prifoners had his fhare. 
There belonged 40 ¡hares to Capt. Kid, and ihares and half fhares to the reit. 
Now this is the great cafe that is before yon, on which the Indiament turns. Thi Ship 

and Goods as you have heard, are faid by the Witneffes, to be the Goods of the Arme-
nians, and other People that were in Amity with the King ; and Capt. Kid would. have 
them to be the Góods of French Men, or at lealt that the Ship was Sailed under French 
Paffes. Now if it were fo, as Capt. Kid lays, it was a lawful Prize, and liable to Con-
fifcation, but If they were the Goods of Perfons in Amity with the King, and the Ship 
was not Navigated under French Paífes, it is very plain it was a Piratical taking of them. 
Gentlemen, it is to be confidered what Evidence Capt. Kid bath given to prove that Ship 
and Goods to belong to the French King, or his Subjeas, or that the Ship was Sailed under 
a French Pafs, or indeed that ever there was a french Pafs fhewn or féen. He appeals indeed 
to the Witneffes over and over again, Did you never fee it ? No, fay they, Nor did not you, 
faith he, fay you favv it ? No, faith the Witnefs. I fáid that Capt. Kid faid he had a French 
Pafs, but I never faw it. Now after all, the taking of the Quedab 'Merchant is brought down 
to Mr. Kid, and the Prifoners with others, and the diitribution of the Money produced by 
the Sale of the Goods among Mr. Kid, and his Crew, whereof every one of thefe Prifoners 
were prefent at the fame time' and had their Proportions. 
Now Gentlemen, this mutt be obferved, if this was a Capture on the High Sea, and there 

were the Goods of PerfonS in Amity with the King, and had no French Pafs, then it is a plain 
Piracy. For if you believe the Witneffes, here is a taking of the Goods and Ship of Per-
fons in Amity, and converting them to their Own Ufe. Such a taking at Land as this 
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Would he Felony, and being at Sea it will be Piracy: For this is a taking the Ship from the 
right Owners, and turning it to their own ufe. So chat you have Evidence as to the Seizing 
of the Ship, and dividing the Money rifing from the Goods fold, and fluting the re-
'mainder according to the Articles. 
Now, what does Capt. Kid l'ay to all this? He has told you he aaed purliiant to his 

Commiffion ; but that cannot be, unlefs he gives you fatislaaion that the Ship and Goods 
belonged to the French King, or his Subjeas, or that the Ship had a French Pal's, other 
wife neither of them will excufe him from being a Pirate ; for if he takes the Goods of' 
Friends he is a Pirate, he had no Authority for that : There is no colour from either of his 
Commiffions for him to take them. And as to the French Paffes, there is nothing of that 
appears by any Proof, and for ought I can fee, none law them but hirrifelf; if there were 
ever any. It is proved that the People that were Owners of the Goods, made him very large 
Offers to redeem the Ship ( Twenty \ Thoufand Rupees, as I remember) but he would not 
aceept their Propofal; but laid, That is a fmall Summ, the Cargo is worth a great deal 
more, or to that eft: And. further laid, he mutt anfwer thefe People, that his Men will 
nor part with it. And a French Man was to be let up for a Mock bufinefs, as you have 
heard ; and if the Witneffes fay true, they were faid by be Captain of the Ship to be, and 
were reputed to be, the Ship and Goods of Friends, and not of Enemies ; and if they were 
lb, and had no Fi.ench Pars, then is he, and thofe that were concerned with him, guilty of 
Piratically taking this Ship, and of Piratically feizing the Goods in the Ship ; and neither 
of his Commiffions will juftify fuch an Aaion as this. If he had aaed purfuant to his 
Commiffion, he ought to have condemned the Ship and Goods, if they were a French In-
tereít, or Sailed under a French Pas ;  but by his not condemning them, he feems to thew 
his Aim, Mind and Intention, that he did not aa in that Cafe by virtue of his Commiffion, 
but quite contrary to it ; for he takes the Ship, and fhares the Money and Goods, and is 
taken in that very Ship by my Lord Be/lament, and he had continued. in that Ship till that 
time, fo that there is no colour or pretence appears, that he intended to bring this Ship, to 
England to be condemned, or to have condemned it in any of the Englijh Plantations, 
having difpofed of the whole Cargo as aforefaid. Here I mutt leave it to you, to confider 
whether, according to the Evidence that appears, there is any Ground for him to 
fay, he has aEted by his Commiffion in taking the Ztedah Merchant and Goods in her, or 
whether he has not aaed contrary thereunto. 
Now for himfelf he has called fome Perfons here, to give an account of his Reputation, 

and of his Services done in the WO Indies ; and one of them fays, about i o or 12 Years 
ago, he did good Service there. Why fo he might, and. might have, and 'tis very like he 
had. fuch Reputation, when the King Rutted him with thefe Commiffions, elle I believe he 
had never had them ; lb that whatever he might be fo many Years ago, that is not a matter 
to be infitted on now, but what he hath been lince, and how he hath aaed in this matter 
charged againtt him. So that, Gentlemen, as to Mr. Kid, I mutt leave it to you, whether 
he is Guilcy of Piracy or no, and if you believe him Guilty upon the Evidence, you will 
find him fo, if not you will acquit him. 
Now for the other Prifoners, it is proved they were all concerned in taking and (baring • 

the Ship and. Goods in the Indiament ; yet their Circumttances differ pretty much among 
themfelves. There are three of them, that it has been made out to you, and owned by 
the King's Witneffes that they were Servants. Robert Lamley, William Jenkins, Richard 
Barlicorn. All thefe are made out to be Servants, and you have had the Indentures of two 
of them produced, and. the King's Witnetres prove them fo, and they were admitted to be 
Servants. Now, Gentlemen, there mutt go an Intention of the Mind, and a Freedom of the 
Will, to the committing of a Felony or Piracy. A Pirate is not to be underttood to be 
under conttraint, but a free Agent ; for in this cafe, the bare Aft will not make him Guilty, 
unlef4 the Will make it lb. Now a Servant, it is true, if he go voluntarily, and. have his 
Proportion, he mutt be accounted a Pirate, for then he Aas upon his own account., and not 
by Cornpulfion. And thefe períbns, according to the Evidence, received their Parr, but 
whether they accounted to their Matters for their fhares afterwards, yea or no, as they pre-
tend, but make no proof of it, I mull leave that to you ; and therefore there is a confide-
ration to be had of them. For if thefe Men did. go under the Compulfion of their Matters, 
to whom they were Servants, and not voluntarily, and upon their own Accounts, it may 
difference their Cale from others, who went and aaed willingly in this matter, and upon 
their own Accounts. So that as to thofe that were Servant S under the command of their 
Matters that were prefent with them, I mutt leave it to you, whether you will ditlingufh 
between them and the others that were not Servants, but free Agents. It is true, a Ser-
vant is not bound to obey his Matter, but in lawful things, which they fay they thought 
this was, and that they knew not to the contrary, but that their Matters acted according to 
the King's Commiffion ; and. therefore their cale mutt be left to your confideration, whether 
you think them- upon the whole matter Guilty or no. If you believe them Guilty, you will 
find them lb, otherwile you will Acquit them. 

For the other Perfons, fome of them pretend they came in on his Majetty's Procla-
mation; and for that you mutt confider the Evidence, and take it all together' und confider 
whether you are fatisfied by what they have faid or proved, that they have, brought 
themfelves within the benefit of the King's Favour- by that Proclamation. You have 
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heard it read, and obferved the Qualifications and Direaions by it, and the Terms upon 
which the Pardon was promifed, which are not made out to you, to be complied with 
by them; they may apply another way, for the King's Mercy ; this Court mutt pioceed 
.accoiding to the 1.1.1iles of Law and Juttice. But then all of them hold on this: We were, 
fay they, under the Captain, and adecl under him as their Commander ; and, Gentlemen, 
fo far as they aaed under his lawful Commands, and by Virtue, and in Purfuance of his 
Commiffions, it mutt be admitted they were Jullifyable, and ought to be Jultity'd. But 
how far forth that hath been the Aaions of the Captain and their own, will bell make 
it appear. It is not contelled, but that thefe Men knew, and were fenfible of what 
was done and aaed , and did take part in it, and had the benefit of what was 
taken , thared amongít them: And if the taking of this Ship and Goods' was Un-
lawful, then thefe Men can claim no. Advantage by thefe, Commiffions, becaufe they 
had no Authority by them to do what they did, but aaed quite 'contrary to them. What 
had they to dó to enter into fuch Articles, and to aa as they did? You mutt confider 
the Evidence given here, according to the Rules of' the Law, and if you are fatisly'd 
that they have Knowingly and Wilfully been concerned or partaken with Capt. Kid, in 
taking this Ship, and dividing the Goods, and that Piratically and Felonioufly, then 
they will be Guilty within this Indian-lent. It is worthy of confideration what appears 
upon the Evidence, that they met with one reputed to he a Notorious Pirate, call'd Culli-
ford ; he was etteemed an Arch-Pirate, and known to be fo, yet this Capt. Kid, that was 
Commiffion'd to take Pirates, intlead of taking him, grows to fuch an Intimacy with him, 
that he faid he would have his Soul fry in Hell, before he would hurt him, or to that 
effect, and fo they made Prefents one to another 5 and Capt. Kid left three of his Men with 
him. Whilti Men purfue their Commiffions, they mutt be Jutlify'd, but when they do 
things not Authorized, or never aaed by them, it is. as if there had been no Commit-lion at 
all. I have dittinguifhed the Evidence as well as my memory ferves me, and mutt leave it 
to you to determine upon the whole matter, who are Guilty, and who not ; and fuch as 
you are fatisfied to be Guilty, you will find fo, and fuch as you are not fatisfy'd to be 
Guilty, you will acquit. 

Then the Jury withdrew, and after half an hours flay, brought in theirVerdid. 
, 

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen of the Jury, Anfwer to your Names, John Cooper, &c. 
J. Cooper. Here, &c. 
Cl. of Arr. Are you agreed of your Verdia ? Omnes. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Who fhall fay for you ? Omnes. Foreman. 
Cl. of Arr. Will. Kid, hold up thy Hand. ( which he did ) How fay you, Is he Guilty of 

the Piracy whereof' he ¡hinds Indiaed, or not Guilty ? And fo of the refl. 
Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is Niel). Churchill Guilty, or not Guilty ? 
Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is James Howe Guilty, &c? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is Rob. Lamley Guilty, E.5'c ? Foreman. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is Will. Jenkins Guilty, €.‘fc ? Foreman. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is Gabriel Loff Guilty, &c? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. is Hugh Parrot Guilty, 1.9'c ? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is R. Barlicorn Guilty, &c ? Foreman. Not Guilty, 
Cl. of Arr. Is Abel Owens Guilty, &c ? Forema n. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Is Darby Mullins Guilty, &c. ? Foreman. Guilty. 

Then Will. Kid, and the other Nine Perfons were further Arraigned upon four Indidn2ents, 
in manner following. 

Cl. of Arr. Will. Kid, hold up thy Hand. (which he did) And fo the other Nine. 
You !land Indiaed by the Name of Will. Kid, late of London Mariner, &c. 

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King, do upon their Oath, prefent that 
William Kid, late of London, Marriner, Nicho/as Churchill, lace of London, Marriner, 
James Howe, late of London, Marriner, Robert Lamley, late of London, Marriner, 

Jenkins, late of London, Marriner, Gabriel Loffe, late of London, Marriner, 
Hugh Parrot, late of Lo,idon, Marriner, Richard Barlicorn, late of Lonion, Marriner, Abel 
Owen, late of London, Marriner, and Darby Mullins, late of London, Marriner, the 20th 
Day of September, in the Ninth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord William the 
Third, by the Grace of God, of England, Scotlan.1, Prance and Ireland, King Defender, of 
the Faith, &c. By Force and Arms, &c., upon the high Sea, in a certain place, dittant 
about Fifty Leagues from the Port of Carrawar, in the Eall-Indies, and within the jurif-
diaion of the Admiralty of England, did Piratically, and Felonioufly fet upon, board, bleak 
and enter a certain Ship call'd a Moorifh Ship, then being a Ship of certain perfons (to the 
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Surors aforefaid. Unknown) and then and there Piratically and Felonioufly did make an 
alfault, in and upon certain Marriners (whofe Names to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown.) 
in the lame Ship in the Peace of God, and of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, tiren 
and there being, Piratically and Feloniofly did put the afbrefaid Marriners of the fame Ship, 
in the Ship aforefaid, then being in corporeal fear of their Lives, then and there in the Ship 
afórefaid upon the high Sea, in the place aforefaid, dittant about Fifty Leagues from the 
Port of Cartawar afbrefaid, in the Eafl-Indies afbrefaid, and within the Jurifdiaion afore-
• faid, Pira'tically and Felonioufly did Steal, take and carry away One Hundred Pound 
weight of Coffee, of the value of Five Pounds of lawful Money of England, Sixty 
Pound weight of'PePper, of the value. of Three Pounds of' lawful Money of England, One 
Hundred weight of ftlyrrh, of the value of Five Pounds of lawful Money of England, and 
Twenty pieces of AI-rabian Gold, of the value of Eight Pounds of lawful Money of Eng-
land, the Goods Chattels and Moneys of certain perfons (to the Jurors afbrefaid unknown ) 
then and there upon the high Sea aforefaid, in the aforefaid place, diftant about Fifty 
Leagues from the POTt of Carrawar aforefaid, in the Eafi-Indies aforefaid, and within the 
Jurifdiaion aforefaid, being found in the aforefaid Ship, in the Cultody and poffeffion of 
the faid Marriners in the lame Ship, from the faid Marriners ot the faid Ship, and from their 
culfody and .poffeflion then and there upon she High Sea atórefaid, in the place aforefaid, 
cliffant about 5o Leagues from the Port of Carrawar afbrefaid, in the Eaft-Indies afore-
faid, and within the Jurifdiaion aforefaid, againit the Peace of our faid now Sovereign 
Lord the King, his Crown and dignity, eic.- 

'II How fay'll thou, William Kid, art thou Guilty of this Piracy and Robbery, whereof => CO 
4ºCji .00 thou !ta'nde:11 Indiaed, or not Guilty ? 

Will. Kid. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. Culprit, how wilt thou be Tried 

Kid. By God and my Country. 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Delíverance. (And fo the other Nine.) 

Cl. of Arr. Will. Kid, hold up thy Hand., (Which he did.) And fo the other Nine. 

You ltand Indiaed, by the Name of Will. Kid, late of London, Marriner, (and fo the 
reft. ) 

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King, do upon their Oath prefent that William 
Kid, late of London, Marriner, Nicholay Churchill, late of London, Marriner, James Howe, 
late of London, Marriner, Roben -Lamley, late of London, Marriner, William jenhins., 
late of London, Marriner, Gabriel Loffe, late of London, Marriner, Hugh Parrot, late óf 
London, Marriner, Richard Barlicorn, late of London, Marliner, Abel Owen, late of Lon-
don Marriner, and Darby Mullins, late of London, Marriner, the 27th Day of .November, 
in the 9th Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord William the Third, by the Grace of 

--God, of England, Scotland, Prance‘ and Ireland, King, Defender of' the Faith, efc. by 
Force and Arms, Tc. upon the high Sea, in a certain place, diftant about four Leagues 
from Callicat, in the Eaft-Indies, and within the Jurifdiaion of the Admiralty of England, 
did Piratically, and Felonioufly fet upon., board, break, and enter a certain Ship, call'el a 
11400rith Ship ; then being a Ship of certain perfons (to theJurors aforefaid unknown) and then 
and diere Piratically and Felonioufly,did make an affault in and upon certain Marriners (whofe 
Names to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown ) in the fame Ship- in the Peace of God, and 
of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, then and there being, Piratically and Felonionfly 
did put the aforefaid Marriners of the fame Ship, in the Ship aforefaid then, being in 
corporal fear of their Lives, then and there in the Ship afbrefaid, upon the High Sea, 
in the place 'aforefaid, diftant about four Leagues from Callicut, afbrefaid, in the Eaft-
Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurifdiaion aforefaid, Piratically and I-elonioufly did 
Steal, take and carry away the faid Ship, and the Apparel and Tackle of the fame Ship, 
of rhe • value of Five Hundred Pounds of lawful Money of England ; Eleven Bales of 
Cotton, of the value of Sixty Pounds of lawful Money of England, two Horfes, each of 
them of the, Price of Twenty Pounds of lawful Money of England, and 5o Indian 
Quilts, of the value of Five Pounds of lawful Money of England, the Goods and Chattels 
of certain perfons ( to the Jurors aforefaid unknown) then and there upon the High Sea, 
aforefaid, in the afbrefaid place, diftant about four Leagues from CaHicut aforefaid, in 
the Eall Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurifdiaion afbrefaid, being found in the aforefaid 
Ship, in the Cuflody and Poffeffion of the faid Marriners, in the lame Ship, from the faid 
Marriners of the faid Ship, and from their Cultody and Poffeflion, then and there upon 
the High Sea atorefaid, in the place aforefaid, diftant about four Leagues from Cailicut 
atorefaid, in the Eajl-Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurifdiaion aforefaid, againft • the 
Peace of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, €.9 
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How fay'ff thou, Will. Kid, art thou Guilty of this Piracy and Robbery whereof thou 
fla ndeft Inclided, or not Guilty ? 

Will. Kid. Net Guilty. Cl. of Arr. Culprit, How wilt thou be try'd ? 
Will. Kid. By God and my Country. 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. (And fo of the other Nine.) 
Cl. of Arr. Will. Kid, hold up thy hand (which he did) and fo the other Nine. 
You !land indided by the Name of Will. Kid, late of London, Mariner (and fo of the 

" The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King, do upon their Oath„ prefent, That 
" William Kid, late of London,   Mari ner,   Nicholas Churchill, late of London, Mariner, 
cc yames Ho, late of London, Mariner, Robert Langley, late of London Mariner, Wi/-
"ham Yenkins, late of London, Mariner, Gabriel Loff, late of London Mariner, Hugh 
" Parrot, late of London, Mariner, Richard Barlycorne, late of London, Mariner, Abel 
" Owens, late of London Mariner, and Darby Mullins, late of London, Mariner ; the 
" Twenty Eighth Day of December, in the Ninth Year of the Reign of Our Sovereign 
" Lord, William the Third, by the Grace of God, of England, Scotland, France and 
" Ireland ; King, Defender of the Faith, &c. by Force and Arms, &c. upon the High 
" Sea, in a certain Place, difiant about four Leagues from Callicut, in the Eafl-Indies, 
cc CC and within the Jurifdidion of the Admiralty of England, did Piratically and Feloni-

oufly fet upon, board, break, and enter a certain Ketch, call'd a Moorifil Ketch, 
" then being a Ketch of certain Perfons (to the Jurors aforefaid unknown) and then 
" and there Piratically and Felonioufly did make an Affault, in and upon certain Ma-
" riners (Whofe Names to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown) in the fame Ship, in the 
" Peace of God, and of Our laid now Sovereign Lord the King, then and there being, 
" Piratically and Felonioufly, did put the aforefaid Mariners of the fame Ketch, in 
" the Ketch aforefaid, then being in corporal Fear of their Lives, then and there in 
" the Ketch aforefaid, upon the High Sea, in the Place aforefaid, dillant about fbur 
" Leagues from Callieut aforefaid, in the Eon -Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurildidion 
" aforefaid, Piratically and Felonioufly did Real, take and carry away the laid Ketch, 
" and the Apparel and Tackle of the fame Ketch, of the Value of fifty Pound of law-
" ful Money of England, thirty Tubs of Sugar-Candy, of the Value of fifteen Pounds 
" of lawful Money of England, fix Bales of Sugar, of the Value of fix Pounds of law-
" ful Money of England, and ten Bales of Tobacco, of the Value of ten Pounds of 
" lawful Money of England, the Goods and Chattels of certain Perfons (to the Jurors 
" aforefaid unknown) then and there upon the High Sea aforefaid, in the aforefaid 
" Place, diflant about four Leagues from Callicut aforefaid, in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid, 
cc and within the Jurifdidion aforefaid, being found in the aforefaid Ketch, in the Cu-
" liody and Poffeffion of the faid Mariners in the fame Ketch, from the laid Mariners 
CC of the faid Ketch, and from their Cullody and Poffeflion, then and there upon the 
" High Sea aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid, diflant about four Leagues from Callicut 
" aforefaid, in the Eafi-Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurifdidion aforefaid, againft 
" the Peace of Our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, &e. 
How fay'll thou, Will. Kid, art thou Guilty of the Piracy and Robbery whereof thou 

fiandeft Indideci, or not Guilty ? Will. Kid. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be try'd. Will. Kid. By God and my Country. 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. (And fo of the other Nine.) 

Ch of Arr. Will. Kid, Hold up thy Hand (which he did) and fo the other Nine. 
You Rand Indided by the Name of Will. Kid, late of London, Mariner, &c. (and lfo 

of the rell-.) 

" The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King, do upon their Oath, prefent, That 
" William Kid, late of London, Mariner, Nicholas Churchill, late of London, Mariner, 
" James How, late of London, Mariner, Robert Lamley, late of London, Mariner, 
" liar» Jenkins, late of London, • Mariner, Gabriel Loff, late of London, Mariner, Hugh 
" Parrot, late of London, Mariner, Richard Barlycorne, late of London, Mariner, Abel 
" Owens, late of London, Mariner, and Darby Mullins, late of London, Mariner; the 
" Twentieth Day of januayy, ita the Ninth Year of the Reign of Our Sovereign Lord, 
" William the Third, by the Grace of God, of England, Scotland, France' and Ireland; 
cc King, Defender of the Faith, &e. by Force and Arms, &e. upon the High Sea, in cc 
a certain Place, diffant about twelve Leagues from Callieut, in the Eon-Indies, and 

" within the Jurifdiétion of the Admiralty of England, did Piratically and Felonioufly 
" let upon, board, break, and enter a certain Ship, call'd a Portugueze Ship, then 
" being a Ship of certain Perfons (to the Jurors aforefaid unknown) and then and there 
" Piratically and Felonioufly did make an Affault in and upon certaiin Mariners, Sub-
" jeas of the King of Portugal (whole Names to the Jurors afbrefaid are unknown) in 
cc the fame Ship, in the Peace of God, and of our faid now Sovereign Lord the 
" King, then and there being' Piratically and Felonioufly did put the aforefaid Mari-
" ners of the fame Ship, in the Ship aforefaid, then being in corporal Fear of their Lives, 

then and there in the Ship aforelaid, upon the High Sea, in the Place aforefaid, diflant 
Cc about twelve Leagues from Callicut aforefaid, in the Ean-Indies aforefaid, and within the 
" Jurifdidion aforefaid, Piratically and Felonioufly did !teal, take, and carry away two 

¡LC:1db of Opium, of the Value of forty Pounds of lawful Money of England, eighty 
" Bazes 
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,c Baggs of Rice of the Value of twelve Pounds of lawful Money of England, one Tun or 
c, Bees-Wax of the Value of ten Pounds of lawfül Money of England, thirty jans of But. 
IC ter of the Value of ten Pounds of lawful Money of England, and half a Tun of iron o'f 
c; the Value of four Pounds of lawful Money of England, the Goods and Chattels of cer ,' 
cc tam n Perfons (to the Jurors aforefaid unknown) then and there upon the High Sea 
" aforefaid, in the aforefaid Place, diflant about twelve Leagueeslifrom 

hi 
beCa/g/ici64tuand in foreiatildlu, 

" in the Eaft-Indies aforefaid, and within the Jurifdidion aforl aforefaid Ship, in the Cultody and Poffeflion of the faid Mariners in the fame Ship, 1 cc 
cc from the laid Mariners of the fame Ship, and from their Cuftody and Poffeflion, then 
cc and there upon the High Sea aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid, diftant about twelve 

cc aforefaid, againft the Peace of Our faid now Sovereign Lord the King, 
Leagues from Callieut aforefaid, in the Eaft -Indies aforefaid, and within the Jcuioifwdinétaiont:i cc 

Dignity, &c. 1 cc 

How fay'll thou, Will. Kid, art thou Guilty of the Piracy and Robbery whereof thou i 
ftandeft Indided, or not Guilty ? Will. Kid. Not Guilty. 1 

Cl. of Arr. How wilt thou be try'd ? Will. Kid. By God and my Country. i 
Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. (And fo of the other Nine.) i 

Then the Court Adjourned till to morrow Morning Eight a Clock. 

The further Proceedings againfi Will. Kid, and the other nine Prifbners on the four 
Indiaments, May the 9th, 17oi. 

Cl. of Arr. Call Will. Kid, Nich. Churchill, yames How, R. Lamley, Will. yenkins, Gar. 
Loff, Hugh Parrot, R. Bailicorn, Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins to the Bar. You the Pri-
foners at the Bar, Will. Kid, &c. thofe Men that you ihall hear called, and perfbnally 
. appear' are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King, and you upon Tryal of your 
feveralLives and Deaths; If therefore you, or any ofyou, will challenge them, or any 
of them, your time is to fpeak unto them as they come to the Book to be fworn, and 
before they be fworn. Call W smith, who appeared, and there being no Challenges, 
the twelve that were fworn, are as follows. • 

gurr. 

Chaplain. I 
yo. Hibbert. 

of: Peter Gray. Tho. Holfis. Benj. Hooper. y 
TWhiol.i.SFteoprld;ens. 

Will. Smith. Will. Hatch. 

yo. Pettit. Rob. Comfort. Yo. Dodfon. 

Cl. of Arr. Cryer, Count tilde, Will. Smith. Cryer. One, &c. 
Cl. of Arr. Benj. Hooper. 
Cryer. Two, &e. Twelve good Men and true, fland together, and hear your Evidence. 
Then the ufual Proclamation for Information was made, and the Prifoners being bid 

to hold up their Hands, the Clerk of Arraignments charged the Jury with them thus: 
Cl. of Arr. " You of the Jury, look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to their Caufe. 
They ftand Indided by the Names of Will. Kid, &c. (as before in the Indidment) 
Upon this Indidment they have been Arraigned, and thereunto have ieverally plead-
ed, Not Guilty; and for their Tryal put themfelves on God and their Country, 
which Country you are. Your Charge is to enquire, Whether they be Guilty of the 
Piracy and Robbery whereof they fland Indided, or not Guilty, &e. L ti 
Nich. Churchill. May it pleafe you, My Lord, I come in upon His Majelty's Proclamation, 

and if that do not do, I throw my felf upon the Mercy of the Honourable Bench. 
Mr. B. Hatfe/. If they will withdraw their Plea, and confefs the Indidment, they may. 
W. Churchill." We refer our felves to the King's Proclamation. 
J'. How. 
Dr. oxenden. But do you confefs the matter of the Indidment? You ray do that if 

you will, and then you need not be tryed. 
Abel Owens. My Lord, I came in upon the King's Proclamation, and enter'd my fell 

aboard one of the King's Ships. ti 

Dr. Oxenden. You mull antwer firft, and come to your Defence afterward. 
Ab. Owens. I hope your Honours will grant it me as well as the reft, I entred my fell 

into the King's Service. 
Cl. of Arr. You of the Jury, look on the Prifoners, and hearken to their Caufe. al 

They ftand Indided by the Name of Will. Kid, &e. 
Mr. J. Turton. You may try all the Indidments together, if they are the fame Perfons 

concerned. Cl. of Arr. They are the fame that are concerned in the two firft Indidments. 
Mr. J. Trirt,on. Then proceed upon thefe tWo together. 
Cl. of Arr. They ftand a fecond time Indided by the Name of Will. Kid, late of Lon-

don, Mariner. (and fo of the reft) Upon thefe two Indidments they have been Ar- 3 
raigned, and thereto have feverally pleaded, Not Guilty; and for their Tryals have put 
themfelves on God and their Country, which Country you are. Your Charge is to. 
enquire Whether they are Guilty of the laid Piracies and Robberies whereof they 
{land Indided, or not Guilty, &c. tl 

Mr. Knapp. May it pleafc your Lordfhip, and Gentlemen of the Jury, thefe are two, 
feveral Indidments againft Will. Kid, &T. and they are both for Piracy. One lets • 
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forth, That the Prifoners at the Bar, on the twentieth of S,ptenlr, in the ninth Year 
of His Majefty's Reign, fifteen Leagues from Cara2var, did Piratically invade and take a 
Ship called the Moorifh Ketch, and put the Mariners in fear of their Lives. The other 
Inclidment lets forth, that on the 27th of November, in the ninth Year of His Majeity's 
Reign, four Leagues from Callicut, the Prifbners at the Bar did feize and take another 
Moorilh Ship. To both which Indidments they have pleaded, Not Guilty. If we prove 
the Fad, you mult find them Guilty. We will call our Witneffes. The Witneffes are the 
fame. The whole Story you have heard before, and we will apply our felves now to thefe 
Fads mentioned in thefe two Indiaments. 

Mr. J. Turton. You muft open your Matter firft, becaufe there is a new Jury. 
Mr. Knapp. Then, my Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, This Capt. Kid went out of 

England in a Ship ca lled the Adventure-Gaily. He firft went to New York, and there he 
t out Articles to procure Men, and promifed them that would come in to him a fhare 

in the Adventures they fhould get. From thence he goes to Babs-Key, and lies about 
three Weeks there, watching for the Moco Fleet. He fent his Boat out three times to fee 
in what condition the Ships were. He could get no Intelligence the two firft times, but 
the third time he did; they brought him word, there were fourteen or fifteen Ships ready 
to fail, and that their Colours were Englifh and Dutch, and Moorilh. He lay in wait 
for thefe Ships, and watched them ; and when they came down, he fell in with them, 
and fired at them; but he found they were under an Englifh and Dutch Convoy, and 
fo away he went, and left them. And then he came to Cruife on the Coaft of Mala-
bar, and there he met with his firft Prize, and that is the Moorifh Ship mention'd in the 
firft Indiament. They feized and took this Moorifh Ship, and entred her, and took fe-
veral Goods out of her, and then let the Ship go away. We will call our Witneffes as 
to this Ship firft. Cali Rob. Bradinham and yofeph Palmer. (who appeared and were fworn) 
Mr. Bradinham, What have you to fay as to this matter? 

Mr. B. Hatfil. Tell it from the beginning, from the time that you went out of Eng-
land, to the time of taking this Ship, becaufe there is a new Jury. 

R. Bradinham. About the beginning of m ay, 1696. we went out of- Englandridvvent 
to New York, in the Adventure. Gaily, whereof Capt. Kid was Commander. 
Mr. Knapp. Whither did you go ? • 
.R. Bradinham. To New York. We took a Ship by the Way, and carried her to New York, 

where we condemn'd her. Mr. Knapp. What Ship was that ? 
R. Bradinham. A French Banker. At New York Capt. Kid put up his Articles, that if 

any would come aboard his Ship they fhould be welcome, no Purchafe, no Pay, men-
tioning that he had the King's Commit-lion. From thence we went to St. jauger, then to 
Maderas, then to Madagafcar, then to Bonavü then to 7oanna, and then to the Red Sea, 
and then to Bat's-Key. There he lay three 1Veeks looking for the Moco Fleet. 

Mr. Knapp. Where ? R. Bradinham. In Bat's-Key. 
Mr. Knapp. You fay he lay there about a fortnight or three Weeks, how did he be-

have himfelf there? 
.R. Bradinham. He fent out his Boat three times, and the two firft times they could 

get no Intelligence. Mr. J. Turton. Tell whole that Moco Fleet was. 
R. Bradinham. They belong'd to the Moors they were Merchant-men belonging to 

the Moors. Mr. Knapp. What News dill they bring the third time ? 
R. Bradinham. The third time they brought word that there were 14 or s Ships in 

the Harbour ready to fail. Dr. Newton. What did he fay then ? 
R. Bradinham. That he would take as many of them as he could, and did not doubt 

but to make a Voyage out of them. 
Mr. J. Turton.- What Account did the two firft Boats bring? 
R. Bradinham. No Account at all, my Lord. 
Mr. J. Turton. What Notice did they bring the third time ? 
R. Bradinham. They brought word, that there were about 14 or s s Ships in the Har-

bour ready to fail. Mr. J. Turton. Which time was it that they brought that word ? 
R. Bradinham. The third time. Then the Fleet came down, and Capt. Kid followed 

them. Mr. Knapp. Were there any on Shoar to watch this Fleet ? 
R. Bradinham. There were fome fent to the high Land of the Eland to fee if the Fleet 

came • and when they faw it, they were to give a Sign with a half Pike and Flag, and 
then le Boat was to fetch them off. At laft the Fleet carne down, and Capt. Kid went 
among them, and fired at them ; but finding they were under a Convoy, and too Itrong 
for him, he was forced to leave them. 

Mr. Knapp. Whither did you go then? 
R. Bradinham. From thence we went to Cara2var, and by the Way we met with a 

Moorifh Ship, of which Capt. Parker was Commander. 
Mr. Knapp. My Lord, that is the Ship that they arc Indiéted for. Where was it 

you met with that Ship? .R. Bradinham. About so Leagues from Carawar. 
Mr. Knapp. Pray what did they do with that Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. We took Capt. Parker's Ship, and took him aboard, and the Portugeze 

for a Linguifter. And he took out fome of the Men and bound their hands behind 
them, and order'd them to be drubb'd with a naked Cutlace. And he took out of her 
fome Pepper, and Coffee, and Arabian Gold, and wearing Apparel, and feveral other 
Things. Mr. Knapp. What did he do with thefe Men, after he had plundred the Ship ? 

R. Bradinham. 



R. Eradinharn. He let the Ship go, and kept Parker and the Porturgudienzham. eaboAabrdo.ut thirty. 
Dr. Newton. Flow many Men were there aboard the Ship? R.Ba 
Dr. Oxenden. What Country-man was this Parker? 
R. D Bradinham. He was an Englifh-man. Dr. Oxenden. How do you know that? 
R. Bradinham. He told me fo. Mr. Knapp. What Ship was it? 
R. Bradinham. A Moorifh Ship. Mr. Knapp. What time was this done ? 
R, Bradinham. in September, 1697. 
Mr. Knapp. What did he do with the two Men he took out of this Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. He kept them aboard his Veffel. 
Mr. Knapp. What Ship was Capt. Kid in then ? 
R. Bradinham. He was in the Adventure-Gaily. 
Mr. Knapp. Tell us whether any other of thefe Prifoners at the Bar were in that Ship 

when this was done. R. Bradinham. Every one of them. 
Cl. of Arr. W as Capt. Ki himfeif there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was Niel). Churchill there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was James how there? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was Rob. Larnlcy there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was Will Jenkins there? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was Gabriel Loff there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
el. of Arr. Was Hugh Parrot there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. I IN 
Cl. of Arr. Was R. Barlicorn there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 

of Arr. Was Abel Owens there ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Was Darby Mollins there? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. You fay you are fure they were all there. 
R. Bradinham. Yes, I am fure they were. 
Mr. J. Turton.  What Goods did they take out of that Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. Several Bales of Pepper, feveral Bales of Coffee, and fome Myrrh, 

which is a Gum. Mr. Soli. Gen. What did they do with it? 
R. Bradinham. Capt. Kid made ufe of the Myrrh to make Pitch of. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was the Value of the Myrrh ? R. Bradinham. About is Pounds. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. Where did they go after the taking of this Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. To Carawar. Mr. Soil. Gen. What did they do there? 
R. Bradinham. There the Captain wooded and watered his Ship. 
Dr. Oxenden. What is Carawar ? Tell the Court. 
R. Bradinham. There is an Englifh Fadory. They fent fome Men aboard, and de-

manded this Parker, and the Portugueze; and the Captain denyed them, and kept 
them in the Hold, and would not let them know he had them on board. 

Dr. Oxenden. Had they any notice of Parker's being on board Capt. Kid's Ship. 
R. Bradinham. I fuppofe they had Information from Bombay by the Mariners that 

went away, for Capt. Parker's Veffel belonged to that Place. 
Mr. Sol'. Gen. How far is that Carawar from Bombay ? R. Bradinham. About 40 Leagues. I• I 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Where did you go after that ? 
R. Bradinham. They cruifed on that Coaft, and then went to one of the Malabar Hands. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was done there ? R. Bradinham. We wooded and watered our Ship. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Did they take any Ships there ? 
R. Bradinham. Capt. Kid went a-Shore there, and burnt fome Houfes, and plundered 

feveral Boats. Mr. Soil. Gen. Was there any Ship taken there ? 
R. Bradinham. Yes. Mr. Soli. Gen. What Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. Some time in November; about the 17th or November, they took a 

Moorilh Ship, Skipper Mitchel was the Commander. 
Mr. B. hat/el. You need go no further now. 
Mr. Knapp. We will call the other Evidence, if you pleafe, Mr. Sollicitor. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. We will give our Evidence upon both Indidments together. 
Mr. Knapp. They !land charged with taking another Ship. You have heard how far 

we have carry'd it: Now they went and took another Ship about the t7th of November. 
R. Bradinham. They took a Moorifh. Ship fuur Leagues from Callicut. 
Mr. J., Turton. Now go on. 
R. Bradinham. Capt. Kid took this Moorifh Ship on the Coaft of Malabar, Skipper 

Mitchel was the Commander; the was a Moora. Ship. He took out of her two Horfes, 
fome Bails of Cotton, fome Quilts. 

Mr. B. Flat/el. What Country-man was this Skipper Mitchel? 
R. Bradinham. A Dutch-man. Mr. B. Hat/el. What Ship was it ? 
R. Bradinham. A Moorifh Ship, the belong'd to Surat. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What burden was !be ? R. Bradinham. About i so Tun. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was found in her ? 
R. Bradinham. Two Hodes, about eleven or twelve Bales of Cotton. 
Mr. J. Turton. Was this on the Coaft of Callieut ? 
R. Bradinham. It was on the Coal} of Malabar. Mr. Knapp. How far from Malabar? 
R. Bradinham. Seven or eight Leagues. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What did they do after this with the Ship, and Goods, and People ? 
R. Bradinham. The People they i'et a-Shore, and kept the Ship, and carry'd her to 

Ala dagafcar. Mr. Soil. Gen. What was the Value of the Hodes taken out of her? 
R. Bradinham' 
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ty. R. Bradinham. The Hodes were worth about 40 1. Mr, Soil. Gen. What the Cotton ? 
R. Bradinham. About an Hundred Pounds. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. How do you know this Skipper Mitchel was a Dutch-man ? 
R. Bradinham. He told me lb, he came afterwards aboard Captain Kid, and took Arms 

under him. Mr, Soll.Gen. Were all thefe Perfons aboard this Ship when fhe was taken ? 
R. Bradinham. Yes, my Lord. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. You fay this Ship was about r so Tun ; what might the be worth? 
R. Bradinham. About soo 1. Mr. B. Hatfel. To whom did the belong ? 
R. Bradinhm. To the Moors. Mr. B. Hatfel. What Moors ? 
R. Bradinham. The Moors that belonged to Surat, as I was informed by the Moors, 

ii I Mr. Soli. Gen. What did he do with this Ship afterwards ? 
R. Bradinham. She was carried to Madaga[Car. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What did they do with the Ship? R. Bradinham. They funk her. 
Mr. Sold. Gen. Do you know why they funk her ? R. Brad. She was funk voluntarily. 
Will. Kid. This Man contradids himfelf in an hundred places. 
R. Bradinham. The Ship was funk purpofely. 
Dr. Newton. What was done when you came to Madag;afcar? 
R. Bradinham. When we carne to Madagafcar, there came off a Canooe with white 

Men aboard that belong'd to the Moco Frigat. Some of thefe Men belong'd formerly to 
Capt. Kid. She was fuppos'd to be a Pirate-Ship. 
M. Soil. Gen. What was the reafon of linking that Ship ? 
R. Bradinham. They funk her in the Harbour, that the might be convenient for Vef-

fels to Careen by. Some Men came off in this Canooe, and they told him, they heard 
he was come to take them, and hang them. He faid it was no fuch thing. 

Dr. Newton. Who was the Captain of the Moco Frigat ? R. Brad. Captain Culliford. 
rh, Dr. Newton. Was he a Pirate ? R. Bradinham. Yes, he was reputed fo. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. Well, go on. 
R. Bradinham. Capt. Kid fwore he would be true to them, and that he would do them 

ids. no harm. • Mr. Soil. Gen. Did you hear all this? 
R. Bradinham. Yes, he (wore to be true to them. 
Mr. Knapp. Was there any thing faid about Capt. Kid's taking her. R. Bradinham. Nothing-
Dr. Newton. What paffed afterwards between Captain Kid and Culliford? 
R. Bradinham. They were very friendly together, and they made Prefents to one ano-

de- ther. Dr. Newton. What Prefents were there made? 
ept R. Bradinham. Culliford gave to Capt. Kid fome Pieces of China-Silk„ and Kid bid Wil-

ford take any thing he had. Mr. Sal. Gen. Did Capt. Kid give culii.fird any Guns ? 
R. Bradinham. He fupply'd him with two Guns. 

lat I Dr. Newton Was there any Div ilion of Goods or Money ? 
R. Bradinham. After we came to Madagafcar, Capt. Kid order'd the Goods to be hoift-

les. I , ed out, and {hared, and Capt. Kid had forty Shares for himfelf. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What became of the Goods ofthofe Ships ? R. Bradin¿am. They were fold. 

ids. j Mr. Soil. Gen. What was done with the Produét of the Goods? 
lip. R. Bradinham. ,Capt. Kid kept it and when there was fomething worth {haring, he 

fhared it, and he had forty Shares for himfelf: Cl. of Arr. Had N. Churchill any Share? 
red R. Bradinham. He had a whole Share. Cl. of Arr. Had James How any Share ? 

R. Bradinham. He had a whole Share. Cl. of Arr. Had .R. Lamley any Share ? 
R. Bradinham. He had a half Share. Cl. of Arr. Had W. Jenkins any Share ? 

k a I R. Bradinham. He had a half Share. 
W. Jenkins. How can you atteft thefe wicked Lies ? I had nothing. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. Who filared it? R. Bradinham. The Captain. 
Will. Kid. He tells a thoufand Lies. Cl. of Arr. Look on H. Parrot, had he any Share? 
.R. Bradinham. No, half a Share of Money, and a whole Share of Goods. 

far Cl. of Arr • Had R. Barlycorn any Share ? R. Bradinham. He had half a Share. 
bcr. Cl. of Arr. Had Abel Owens any Share ? R. Bradinham. He had a whole Share. 

Cl. of Arr. Had Darby ,Mollins any Share? R. Bradinham. He had half a Share. 
Mr. Sol/. Gen. Now if any of you will ask him any Queftions you may ? 

per .Will. d. Mr. Bradinham, Pray what Share had you? 
fes„ R. Bridinham. If my Lord ask me, I will anfwer him. Will. Kid. Had you any Share 

,R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Will. Kid. Did not you come aboard my Ship, and rob the Surgeons Cheft?-
R. Bradinham. No, I did not. 
Will. Kid. Did not I come to you, when you went away, and met you on the Deck, 

and laid, Why do you take the Cheft away ? R. Bradinham. No, I did not do it. 
Will. Kid. You are a Rogue. 
Mr. J. TUrton. It were the fame thing for him to confefs it, as to deny it, if he had 

done it. Will. Kid. He did certainly do it. Mr. B. Hatfel. But he fays-he did not. 
,ar? Mr. j. Turton. Would any of you ask him any Qaeftions ? 

Cl. of Arr. N. Churchill, will you ask him any Queftions ? 
? N. Churchill. I came in on the King's Proclamation, and depend wholly on it. 
r to Will. Kid. Were there not any French Paffes aboard that Ship ? 
? R. Bradinham. I heard fay there were, I did never fee them. 
wro. Will. Kid. I did not divide the Things, but the Men did what they plea$'d, and you 
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Mr. B. Hatfd. What Ship is that you mean, that taken in September or that in Novernber ?-
R. Bradinham. The Moorifh Ship, that Parker was Commander of. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. There were two mentioned. 
Will. Kid. juft now he told you of two in November, now he lays one in November 

another in September. Mr. B. Fiatfe/. He lays that in September, that Parker was Commander o? 
Will.  Kid. There was no fuch thing in November ; he knows no more of thefe Things 

than you do. This Fellow ufed to fleep or 6 Months together in the Hold. 
Mr. J. Turton. I alrure you he gives a very good Account of the matter. 
Mr. B. Harfil. Why did you give him a Share then ? 
Will. Kid. Becaufe he was Surgeon. As for the Goods they took it amongft them, and 

dd what they pleafed, I was never near them. They laid wait for me to kill me. They 
took away what they pleas'd, and went to the Eland; and I, with about 40 Men, Was 
left in the Ship, and we might go whither we pleafed. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Kid, will you ask him any Queftions ? 
Will. Kid. No, no, fo long as he fwears it, our Words or Oaths cannot be taken. 
Cl. of Arr. Will you ask him any more Queftions? Will. Kid. No, no, it lignifies nothing. 
Cl. of Arr. N. Churchill, Will you ask him any Queftions? 

Churchill. I came in on his Majefty's Proclamation, and rely upon that. 
Cl. of Arr. J. How' Will you ask him any Queftions? 
2<1. How. I furrendred my felf upon the King's Proclamation, and plead Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. R. Lamley, Will you ask this Witnefs any Queftions ? 
R. Larnley. Do you fay I had half a fhare of Money ? 
R. Bradinham. Yes. K Lamley. No, I had none. 
Cl. of Arr. It was your Share, and you snuff make it appear if you accounted 

R. Lamley. If your Lordfhip pleafe, I was an Apprentice. to your Mallet.. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. To whom was you a Servant? 
R. Lamley. I was an Apprentice to A. Owens. 
Mr. J. Turton. Was Lamley an Apprentice to Owens? 
R. Bradinham. My Lord, he was a Servant to Owens, who was aboara then. 
Mr. J. Turton. He had half a Share, but perhaps he might account for it to his Mafia 

afterwards. Cl. of Arr. W. enkins, Will you ask the Witnefs any Queftions ? 
W. Jenkins. My Lord, I beg he may fpeak the Truth, whether I was a Servant. 
R. Bradinham. My Lord, he was a Servant to George Bullen. 
Mr. j. Turton. Was this Bullen aboard then ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Mr. J. Turton. When both Ships were taken ? R. Bradinham. Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Will you ask the Witnefs any Queftions, G. Loff? 
G. Loff. My Lord, when I came aboard, the Captain opened his Commiflion there,1 

f. Did I ever difobey his Commands ? R. Bradinham. Not that I know o 
G. 14 Did you fee me receive any Share ? 
R. Bradinham. Yes, half a Share of Money, and a whole Share of Goods. 
G. Loff: Where ? R. Bradinham. In the great Cabin. 
Cl. cf .Arr. What Queftions will you ask him, Hugh Parrot? 
H. Parrot. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I will give you an exad Account from the 

dine of my going out of England. In the Month of 0Hober, I69. 
of Arr. You may make your Defence afterwards, in the mean time will you ask 

him any Queftions now ? 
H. Parrot. I appeal to him, whether he ever faw me do any fuch Cruelty as he men-

tions. Mr. J. nrton. You hear what he fays, anfwer him. 
1 

R. Bradinham. I cannot fay you were the very Man that did it. But thofe Men were 
ufed fo, they were hoifted up, and drubb'd with a naked Cutlace. 

H. Parrot. And then I ask him, whether I ever went any further than my Commander 
ordered me or againft the King's Commiflion as I thought. 
K Bradinham. I cannot fay you did any thing contrary to your Commander's Orders, 
H. Parrot. I ask him, whether, when I might have went aboard this Pirate, I did not 

flick clofe to my Captain, and come home with him, and whether I had any Inclination 
to leave him. 

Mr. J. Turton. He knows not your Inclination. Where did you leave Captain Kill? 
will you ask him that ? 

H. Parrot. I came home to Boll-on with Captain Kid. Door, did I go away with 
them that left Captain Kid? 

R. Bradinham. You went with Captain Kid to Madagafcar. 
H. Parrot. I came home with Captain Kid, and furrendred my felf to my Lord Bella' 

MOO. Cl. of Arr. Abel Owens, will you ask the Witnefs any Queftions ? 
A. Owens. I ask the Witnefs, whether I did not furrender my felf. 
R. Bradinham. I cannot fay any thing to that. 
Cl. of Ar. Will you ask him any more Queftions? • 
A. Owens. No I ftand to his Majefty's Proclamation, and the Mercy of the Honoura-

ble Bench. Cl. Of .A*. Darby Molins, will you ask the King's Witnefs any Queftions ? 
D. Molins. No. May it pleafe you, my Lord, I came in upon the King's gracious 

Proclamation, as the King's Evidence knows. Do you not know I came a-Shore with 
you about the 2.8th of May? R. Bradinham. I know he went a-Shore. 

D. Molins. I went a-Shore. I came home upon tho King's Proclamation. We went 2' 



2bey? Shore at Cape My. I was very lick of the Bloody-Flux, and not able to travel, and Was 
like to die every day. 
K Bradinham. My Lord, I know this Man was very fick in the Pall-age. 

nber D. Mol;ns. I was a Paffenger aboard Captain Shelly's Ship. 
,r Mr. J. Turton. How came he to come aboard Captain Shelly? Where did he leave 
ings Captain Kid ? 

R. Bradinhi3n. He left Captain Kid at Madagafcar, and took his Pall-age with Captain 
Shelly afterwards, after thefe ships were taken. 

Mr. Sell. Gen. How came he to leave Captain Kid at Madagarcar? 
and R. Bradinham. He went aboard Captain Czilliferd's Ship. There were about 60 or 70 

Mr. Knapp. Call 7oferh Palmer. hey Men went aboard Guilford. 
was Dr. Ox¿nden. He lays he came in upon the King's Proclamation, to Cape May, do 

you know any thing of that ? 
R. Brízdinham. Yes. Dr. Oxenden. Where is that Cape May? 
R. Bradinham. Off of Maryland; where Captain Shelly's Ship was at Anchor; and 

in, Captain Gravenport came on board Captain Shelly's Ship, and faid he heard his Majefty's 
Proclamation was out to receive Pirates that would come in; and the Men rejoyced 

Dr. Oxenden. Did he go to the Governour ? R. Bradinham. I did not fee him go a-Shore 
Cl. of Arr. D. .Mollins, will you ask him any more Queftions? 
D. "Wins. You was aboard when I went a-Shore. 

that there was fuch a thing, and they went a-Shore, and furrendred themfelves. 
Dr. Oxenden. Where ? R. Bradinham. At Cape May. 

R. Bradinham. I did not fee you go alhore. 
Mr. Sell. Gen. Was he lick when he went a-Shore ? 
R. Bradinham. He was lick. 
D. Molzns. I was lick, and expeaed to die every moment. 
C/. of Arr. All was done before that time. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Did he rejoyce, when he heard the King's Proclamation was out ? 
R. Br.adinham. I heard him fay the King's Proclamation was out, and he rejoyeed 

after with others. Mr. Soil. Gen. Did he furrender himfelf to the Governour ? 
R. Bradinham. I cannot fay that. He went a-Shore. 
Mr. B. Hatfel. Now fet up Yofeph Palmer. 
Mr. J. Turto4. Gentlemen, I would not have you under any IVIiftake; that furrender-

ing himfell comes not under your Confideration, it was after all the Fads were done 
that the Prifoner is charged with. 

Mr. Knapp. Mr. Palmer, give my_ Lord and the Jury an Account of what you know 
here. concerning Captain Kid's Voyage from England in the Adventure-Gally, when he went 

out of England, and his Proceedings afterwards. y. Palmer. About the laft of April, or beginning of May, he went from Plymouth to New 
York; and in the way took a French Banker, and carried her to New York, and con-
demned her there. And at New York he fee up Articles, to invite Men to come aboard, 
his Ship ; that if any would come aboard, they fhould have a Share of fuch Treafure as 

n the he fhould take: He was to have forty Shares himfelf, and every Man a half or whole 
Share. And about the firft of September following, he went from New York to Maderas, 

lu  men ask from thence to Bonavis from thence to St. Yauger, then to Madagafear, then to Mala-
bar then to Yeanna, then to Mahala, then to Yoanna again, then to the Red Sea. bar, 

Knapp.. Pray give an Account of what was done there. 
. 7. Palmer. There he watered, and took Guiny Corn to Vidual his Ship. And then to 

were Ba.bs-Key, near the Red Sea. 
Mr.. Knapp. , Give an Account what he did there. 

ander 

J. Palmer. He lent out his Boat three times to difcover the Fleet, and likewife fom 

rders e 
Spies on the high Land to look out on both fides, to fee that the Ships did not pafs by. 

Mr. Soli. Gen. What Ships ? . 7. Palmer. Moorilh Ships from Moco. 
d not Mr. Sell. Gen. Whole Ships were thole Moorilh Ships ? 
ado 7. Palmer. They were Turks and Moors together. 
Kid? 

Mr. Knapp. What did he do then ? 

wit 

7. Palmer. He called the Men by Lot to look out, and he fent his Boat out twic; 
and they returned without bringing any Tidings. And he fent the Boat the third h time, with Orders to take a Prifoner, or to fee what Ships lay there. And the third 
time word was brought, that there were about 14 or r s Ships lay in the Road ready to 

Beliø fail, w:tii Dutch, Engliih, and Mooriih Colours. And when this News came, Cap-
, tam n Kiel ordered the Men to go on the other fide upon the high Lands, to fee that the 

Ships did not pafs by in the Night. And in four or five days the Ships came down, 
about the 14th of Auguft. The Fleet came down in the Evening, and Captain Kid went 
after them. And fome of the Men faid, we will go among them to Night. No, lays Capt. 
Rid, we vl iil go in the Morning, and then we will take our choice. 

Will. Kid. Did you hear me fay fo ? 7. Palmer. I heard you fay fo. 
Kid. I am fure you never heard me fay fuch a word to fuch a Logger-head as you. 

7. Palmer. Thefe .are the words I heard him fay. And the next Morning he fell in 
,with this Fleet and went through them; and there was a Dutch and Englifh Convoy; 
and they fired a, t one another. Will. Kid. Hear me 

=.nt vnli {11111 re;k him what Queftions you will prefently. 



I 

Mit. J. :r. fired firfc ? 
7. Palmer. Thu Dutch and Englifh fired firfte When we lay between the Englifh ar d 

Dutch, a Mobrilh Ship carne by, and he fired feveral $hot after her. And the Englifh 
Ship flung a Shot.,,,b1moit home, and then he made fail, and went out of the Fleet. At 
f'rom thence he. v"Ve'nt to C'ara2i/ar, and in the way met with a Ship, whereof Parker was 

tiimander, and there was one Antonio a Portugeze. Mr. Soil. Gen. Where was this done. 
Palmer. AbOtit .5-ó Leagues. from Carawar. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. What time of the Year was it? Y. Palmer. It was about September. 
Hatfel. The Wands is now come to fpeak to the Ship, for which the Prifonc 

arb- naiéfed. Mr. SOU. Gen. Go on what did they do with that Ship? 
_ Balmer. Hefought the Ship, and took her, and took out of her feveral Bails of Cc 

feÇ .'zin—d he rétatné.'d only one Bail, and lent the reft back again. And he took a Bail 
Pepper, and forne Myrrh, to ufe inftead of Pitch. 

..1r. Soil. Gen. What quantity of Pepper was there ? y. Palmer. About 6o pound weigl-
1..¡5,'011.0 en. Wiat Myrrh y. paimer. About ;o pound weight. 

Soll. Gen. What Value vas it of? 7. Palmer. I cannot tell that. 
.Wir . Soil. Gen. -*hat Arabian Gold ? 
7. Palmer. I did i-iot fee it. I did not fee any taken out then. But a pretty while a 

terwftrdst when Captain Kid carne to Cara2var, he gave every Mefs two Pieces of Ara 
bian cold. Mr. Knapp. How long was this after the Ship was taken? 

7. Palmer. Ten or twelVe -days. Mr. Soil. Gen. How was the Pepper difpos'd of? 
7. Palmer. It was divided among the Meffes. Mr. Soll.Gen. Had thefe Prifo.ners their part 
7. Palmer. Yes. Mr. Knapp. How did they ufe the Men of this Ship ? 
7. Palmer. There were feveral hoifted up, and drub'd with a naked Cutlace: 1- .̀. 
Will, Kid. Where was this done ? 7. Palmer. In your Ship. 
Will. Kid. What Ship ? 7. Palmer. The Adventure-Gaily. 
Will. Kid. Did not a parcel of .Rogues go aboard their Ship, and do it? 
Mr, Knapp. F.or:What purpofe was this done ? 
y: Palmer. I:kcal& they thought they had more Money in the Ship. 
Mr. Knapp. 'What Country-man was.Parker ? 
y. Palmer. An Englifh-wan, born in the North of England. He faid fo. 
Mr. J. Turton. Who elle was detained, befides Parker? 
7. Palmer, One ...intonio a Portugeze. Parker was detained for a Pilot, and the oh( 

for a Linguifter. Mr. J. nrun. What do you mean by a Linguifter? 
y. :Palmer. To fpeak Moorifh and Portugueze. Mr. Soil. Gen. Where did they go then. 
.y. palmer. From thence we went to Caralvar, and watered and wooded the Ship ; and 

a great many of his-Men left him there. And when he faw his Men leave him, he went 
to--Sea, he would not truft any more to go a-Shore. And the next Evening he met; 
Portitgueze Man ofWar, and fought her, but did not take her. 

Mr.J. Turton. Did you know any that left him? 
:Y. Palmer. .Peter Lehair, and Churchill, and others. They went to the Englifh-Fador) 

to know whether they would entertain them or no. -Mr. J. Turton. Who went? 
7. Palmer, Mr....tchair N. Churchill, and -another, they went to know whether the 

..fhould be entertained. -And they told them, they were loath to entertain them, for fen 
Captain Kid 4hatild'know of it, and do them an Injury. 

Will. Kid.' My Lord, a parcel of thefe Men went a-Shore to run away with this 
Mi!.. J. %run. Were there any more of tilde Prifoners at the Bar, that would hay 

gone off, befides Churchill? y. Palmer. No, but he would have gone off. 
Mr. J. Tiirton. How do you know that ? 7. Palmer. He told me fo. 
.Mr.4. Gold. Had they an opportunity to go off? 
7. Palmer. Some more were going off afterwards, and had got a Boat for that purpofe 

but they were takén, and Captain Kid order'd them to be brought aboard, and whipt at 
the Gun. will. Kid. Certainly you have not the Impudence to fay that? 

7. Palmer. I fay you order'd them to be w hipt for attempting to go a-Shore. 
'Mr. Soil. Gen. Whither did you go then ? 
7. Palmer. That Evening we went and met with a Portugueze Man of War. 
- M.r.-Soll, Gen. You may .go on from that. Whither did you .go then ? 
y. Palmer. To the Malabar Elands. Mr. Soil. Gen. What to do ? 
y. ,Palmer. To take in Water. His Cooper went a-Shore, and the Natives cut his 

Throat, And.Capt. Kid fent his Men a-Shore, and order'd them to divide themfelves in 
to Squadrons, and to burn all the bufes they came near, except the Houfes that had 
white; Flags upon them. Mr. Soil. Gen. Why not them? 

7. Palmer. Becaufe they helped us to water the Ship. 
:Mr. Knapp. And were there any Houfes burnt ? 
7. Palmer. 'Yes, a great many. Mr. Knapp. What did he do more? 
7. Palmer. I heard what he did, I did not fee it. 
Mr. B. ELt.fil. What do you know of any other Ship ? 
:Y. Palmer. About the 2.7th of November, he took the Ship Maden near Callicut. We 

.Cpy'd a Ship in the Night, and chaced her all Night, and the next Morning he took her 
Mr. J. Turton.. What Ship was that? 
7<. Palmer:. Skipper Mitchel was Commander, it was a Moorifh Ship, the belong'd to 

Surat. She was taken, in November, and after that the was called, The November. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. T-Tow Was 11-ia taken ?-
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yof Pabwr. Cap. Ka clued her under French Colours, and this Ship had French C oloürs 
and when he hailed her, it was in French. And this Skipper Mitchell ants/vexed iu Frenti,. 

Mr. Sol Gen. Had the Mori,* Ship French Colours before Cap. Kid put up French Colours, .or 
afte7 ? 
jr Palmy. Alter.. 
Mr. Sol:. Gen. What Colours had the, when the was chaced at lira ? 
7.1: Palmer. It was in the night. In the morning Cap .Kid hoiiied up French Colours, and 

then the Moorifh Ship likewife holed up French Colours. 
Me. Sol). Gen. What followed ? 
Will Kid. Speak true. 
jof. Palmer. I will. Ile fired three or four Shot at the Ship, and commanded them aboard. 

And Mitchel did lo, and ferric of his Men with him. And he ordered Monfier Leroy to be as 
Captain. And he came from below Deck, and received him as Captain. 

Will. Kid. Did you fee that ? 
jof. Palmer. I did not fee that, but I know he was ordered to do fo, and he received him as 

Captain, I was not in the Cabin at that time. Montieur Leroy received him as Captain, and 
carried him aft. They haled this Ship in French, and bid him come abhal-d na French. and this 
Frenchman received him as Captain. And 1 heard them fay, that he brought a French Pals ahana:, 
with him. 
M. Soil. Gen. Who did you hear fay fo ? 
jof. Palmer. I heard people on board fay (b. 
Will. Kid. Palmer, did you not fee that Pafs ? 
.71: Palmer. Indeed Captain 1 did not. 
Me. Solt. Gen. What did you do with the Ship ? 
if: Palmer. There were two Hodes on board, and ten or twelve Bails of Cotton, and ferne 

Quilts  and Capt. Kid fo'd them at Malabar, 
Mr. Solt. Gen. What Goods were there ? jof. Palmer. Two Hodes. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What belides ? 
joir. Palmer. Ten or twelve Bails of Cotton, and forne Quilts. 
Me. J. 'rum., What Countryman was Skipper Mitchel the Captain? 
:N. Palmer. A Dutchman. 

Palmer. I cannot tell the Value of her. Tr. Mr. Soil. Gen. What was the Ship worth? 
Sol!, Gen. What Burden was fhe ? jof Palmer. About 15o Tun. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. What did they do with thofe Honks, and the Cotton ? 
jot: Palmer. They fold them to the Banians. 
Mr. Soll.Gen. What did they do with the proceed of thole Goods ? 
7.1". Palmer. Cap. Kid kept it, till they had a pretty deal of Money together, and then they 

Shared it. 
M,.. Soil. Gen. Had the Prifoners at the Bar any Shares of it ? y. Palmer. Yes. 
Cl. of Ar. Had Cap. Kid himfelf any Share ? jof. Palmer. Yes. 
Cl. of Ar. Had Nicb. Churchill any Share ! jot. Palmer. Yes, he had a whole Share. 

jofepb Palmer. Yes, a whole Share. Cl. of Ar. Had James Horne any Share. 
Mr. J. urton. Where did they Share it ? ff. Palmer. On the Coati of Malabar. 
Cl. cf Ar. Had Robert Larnley any ? j,,f. Palmer. Yes, half a Share. 
CI. of At. Had William jmkins any Share jai". Palmer. He had half a Share. 
Cl. of Ar. Had Ga!'sri;II.off any ? jof. Palmer. He had a half Share. 
Cl. of Ar. Had Thal, Parrot any ? jot: Palmer. He had a whole Share. 
II. Parrot. Did you fee me have any Share? Can you fpeak that to my face now ? Did you fee 

any of us have any ? 
7 I: Palmer. When Cap. Kid (bared this Money, I did not aaually fee him pay their Shares ; 

but he called every Man by the Lill, and they came with their Hats in their Hands, and he 
gave them their Money, and they fwept it up, and went away. 

Mr. Sol. Gen. Min' thefe Men called by the Lit} ? jot; Palmer. Yes. 
Mr. Sol. Gen_ And did they rnifs none ? jof. Palmer. Not that I know of. 
Cl. of Ar. What fay you to Richard Birlicorn? had he any ? 
jar Palmer. He had half a Share; whether his Mader had it or no afterwards, I know not:, 

lof Palmer. He had a whole Share. Cl. of dr. Had Abe/Oroens any Share ? 
Cl. of Ar. What had Darby Molins ? yd: Palmer, He had a half Share. 
Mr Knapp. I think you were fpeaking of Arabian Gold, that they had it in Meffes, had thefe 

Prifoners their Share of that ? 
J.,f. Palmer, Yes, there was no difference, they had all their Shares. 
Mr. Knapp. Now, if aou will ask this Witnets any quellion, you may. 

Kid. What lignitics it to ask him any queilions ? we have no Witneffes, and what we 
fay fignifies nothing. 

of Ar. N. Churchill, will you ask him any quefiions ? 
IÇ C5rvéig. Ni 1 have acknowledged all thele crimes, and furrencler'd my fell, and rely en 

the Kings Mercy. 
Cl. of Ar. James Flow, Will you ask him any thing? JEfirrae, Ned' 
Cl. cf Ar. Kohert Larriley, Will you ask him any thing ? 
Kobe. t am!. y. Mr. Palmer, How can you tell I had a half Share ? 
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jor. Palmer. There was a half Share direeed for you. 
Robert Lamley. 1 had not a Farthing. 
Mr. 1.1 urton. Was he an Apprentice ? 70f. Palmer. Yes he was Servant to Mr. 022fteni, to 
Will. jerkins. Can you fay I had any Share ? 
,Y.of. Palmer. I know there was a half Shire appointed for you, but I know not whether your WI 

Mailer had it. 
Mr. J. Timm. Was his Mailer Aboard then ? 
jof. Palmer. Yes, his Mailer was Aboard then. 
Cl. of Ar. Gabriel Loff, Have you any quefiions to ask him ? 
G. Loff. Had 1 any Share ? 
jr Palmer. You had a half Share, 1 did not fee you take it, but you were in the Lia, 
Cl. of Ar. Hugh Parrot, I-Live you any queflions to ask him? 
Jury-Man. Did you fee them come out with the Money in their Hats ? 
Jo! Palmer. Yes. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. Did Gabriel Leff come out as contented as the ref' ? 
yof Palmer. No, becaufe he had but half a Share. 

Loft-. Did you lee me come out with any M oney ? iCt 

77ffPalmer. I law you come out with Money in your Hat, and I heard you fay you had half 
a Share. 

G. Loff: As I live I had no Hat then. an 
Cl. of Ar. Have you any quetlions to ask him, Hugh Parrot ? 
H. Parrot. Did you fee me have any Share ? 
jof. Palmer. I did not fee you receive any Share,y but you was called among the reff. 

fei Mr, J Turtor. He lays they were all called man by man to take their Shares. 
Cl. of Arr. Richard Bar/learn, Have you any thing to ask him ? en 
R. Barlícorn. 1 detire of him whether he law me have any Goods, or take any Share. 

h 
t ci 

jaf. Palmer. My Lord, when the Goods were {hared at Madagafear, I was at Bonavis; I was 
not prefent, but 1 heard of it afterwards. ga 

R. Birlicorn. I hope the Jury will ralle notice of this. 
Mr. B. Hatfeli. Mr. Bradinharn, Did any of thefe Men complain that they had not their 

Share ? R. Bradinham. No, no, I heard nothing of that. 
Mr. J. Turton. Were thefe Shares fuch as were agreed on in the Articles at Near York? 
Jef. Palmer. Yes. Cap. Kid ordered the Goods to be hoiaed out. 
Will. Kid. Did I order the Goods to be hoiaed out ? jof. Palmer. Yes you did. 

Kid. It was the mutinous men that did it. 
H. Parrot. How do you know that 1 hod any Share ? you did not fee me in a Year after. 
jof. Palmer. I do not fay I law it given you. 
Will. Kid. My Lord, there were ç Men that deferted my Ship, and took away what they 

pleated, we could not find in defence of any thing. 
R. Barlicorn. Was not 1 an Apprentice to Cap. Kid and waited on him continually in thE 

Ship? yol: Palmer. Yes you were. 
Mr. Soil. Ger. H.ad he a Share allotted him ? 
yof. Palmer. Yes, but I am apt to think his Mailer had it. 
Mr. y. `Dillon. Who was his Mailer ? Jo!'. Palmer. Captain Kid. 
Cl. of /Ir. Abtl Owens have you any thing to fay for your fell? 
Ab.OPPCUI, I refer my felf to the King's Proclamation. 
Cl. of Air. Darby A/lolins, have you any thing to fay for your fell? 
D. Molins. I came to Cape May, wherel heard of the King's Proclamation. Did not you and 

I come afhore together ? fol. Palmer. Yes we did, the fame day. 
D. M Ins. Did not we come afhore on the Eling's Proclamation ? 
7of. Pairnlr. We did hear of it. 
-D. Maims. Did not you know that all the men were glad at that News, when they heard of ha 

the Proclamation? 
IT 

Dr. Oxenden. What did the men fay then ? te 
f.Palmer. They all rejoiced to hear of filch a thing. an 

D. Molins. From the time I came from Madagafcar I was fick of the Bloody Flux, I could not e¿ 
walk a mile in a day. If. Palmer. I know you was tick. 
D Maims. I have no more to fay : 1 (land tó your Lordatips mercy, and the King's gracous an 

Proclamation. 

Mr. J. Turton. If you have any WitnetTes to call for your felves, you may call them. Capt. Kid, 
what have you to fay far your fell? You may make your Defence hill for that Ship taken in Ser 
tímber, then fur that in November. 

Will. Kid. What is it the near for rue to flank ? I have no Witneffes for thefe things. 
Mr. B. Hatfil. Yeaerday you produced your Commillions ; if you will, they may be read now. 
Will. Kid. It availed nothing then. Here is all thefe men faw the French Pals. 
jof. Palmer. Indeed, Captain, I never law it. 
Will. Kid. You left my Ship, with 95 men more, and you went a roguing afterarards. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Why did you go aboard that Pirate ? 

Kid. My Lord, I had a defigo to take that Frigat, and the I deligned to come for 
L'ngland. I w uld mat go witia fueh a R.oguifh Crew as you were. W as not 1 ti.rea'ne:1 to be 
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fhot in the Cabin by fuch Villeins as you, if I would not go along with you ? This was the reá-
lbn l could not come home. Did not you, with others, fet fire to the Boat, to defiroy my Ship? 

yq: Palmer. 1 know nothing of that; but I am lure I faved your Life on the .Malabar 'Maud, 
when you burnt the flo.t. 

Will. Kid. My Lord, they took what they pleafed out of this Ship, and I was forced to flay 
by my felt, and pick up here a man, and time a mm, to carry her home. 

Cl. of Arr. N. Churchill, what have you to fay for your fell ? 
-N.Cinirchill. My Lord, I plead Guilty, and rely on the King's Proclamation. 
C./. of Arr. janrs H,we, have you any thing to fay for your (elf? 
j. Halve. I plead Guilty, my Lord. 
trdi. Kid. Here are fome Gentlemen here, I delire they may be heard as to my Reputation. 

Here is Coll. Hewfon. 
Mt. J 1u• ton. What do you ask Coll. Herrfin ? 
Will. Kid. 1 ask him what he knows as to my Reputation in the Weft Indies ? 

111,4-on. My Lord, he was a mighty man there. He ferved under my Command. He was 
fent to me by the order of Coll. Codrington. 

Mr. Súll. Gen. How long was this ago ? 
Coll. Hewfin. About Nine Years ago. He was with me in two Engagements againfl the French, 

and fought as well as any man I ever faw, according to the proportion of his men. We had fix 
Frenchmen to deal with, and we had only mine and his Ship. 

Will. Kid. Do you think I was a Pirate ? 
Coll. H wfon. 1 know his men would have gone a pirateering, and he refufed it, and his men 

feized upon his Ship. And when he went this Voyage, he confulted me, and told me they had 
engaged him in filch an Expedition; and I told him he had enough already, and might be con-
tented with what he had : And he laid it was his own inclination but my Lord Bellamont told 
him, if he did not go the Voyage, that there were Great Men, and they would flop his Bal.-
garrine in the River, if he did not go. 

Mr, j.Turton. Who told you lo, did he ? Coll. Herpfon. Yes, my Lord. 
Mr. 7. rurton. If he had kept to the honefi Deign of that Expedition, he had done very well. 

Did you apprehend that his Intention in that Undertaking was to be a Pirate ? 
Coll. Mwfon. No, my Lord. He told me his bufinefs was to go a cruifing, and furprize Pirates. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Did he tell you he had no fuch Deign ? 
Cell. Flezvfon. Yes, he laid he would be (hot to death before he would do any filch thing. I 

know he was very ferviceable in the I1(1:-Indies. 
Cl. of .Arr. Robert Lamley, have you any thing more to fay ? 
Rob. Lamley. I can fay nothing, for I have none of my Friends here. 
Will. Kid. Call Thomas Cooper. (Who appear'd.) 
Mr. J. Turton. What queffions do you ask him ? 
Will. Kid. Sir, pray tell my Lord what you knew of me in the Indies. 
Vv. Cooper. 1 was aboard the Lion, and this Capt. Kid brought his Ship from a place that be-

longed to the Dutch, and brought her into the King's Service at the beginning of the War, about 
Ten Years ago. And he took Service under the Colonel; and we fought Monfieur Dei CO a 
whole day, and I thank God we got the better of It, and Capt. Kid behaved himfelf very well 
in the face of his Enemies. 

juryman. How many Years ago was this ? Tho. Cooper. About Ten Years ago. 
Cl. of Arr. Rob. Lamley, have you any thing more to fay 
R. Lamley. I have no Friends here, I am a Prentice, my Lord. 
Cl. of Arr. Walljenkins, have you any more to fay ? 

Jenkins. I was an Apprentice, my Lord. 
Cl. of Arr. Gabriel Loff, have you any thing to fay for your fell ? 
G. Lo if'. My Lord, I was a Servant under Capt. Kid, and always obeyed his Commands, and 

had no Share. I came home with Captain Kid to Bolon, and went to my Lord Bellamont, and the 
men came and told us he had difcharged us, and I went about my butinefs. And fotne days af-
ter we were committed to Prifon, and I was lick, and my Lord let me be in the Keeptr's Houfe, 
and I was trutied by him four or five Months with the Keys to look after the Prifoners. Mr. Davis 
can teffify this. If I had had a mind to have done any ill thing, I might have done it then. 
(Then Davis appeared. ) Pray, Mr. Davis, declare what you know of me when I came to Bo(kon, 
and how the Keeper intrufled me with the Prifoners. 

Mr. Davis. I remember when we came there to the Road-Bland, Capt. Kid lent him home. 
And when he came to Bnifon, he was 'ruffed with the Keys, and had liberty to go where he 
pleafed, not cut of the Yard. 

Mr. .7.Turton. Was this after he was a Prifoner ? Mr. Davis. Yes, my Lord. 
R. ',amity. I hope the Jury will take notice of this. 
Will. Kid. Mr. Davis,. did you not hear of any French Palies that I had ? 
Mr. Davis. I heard of\thern, and I faw them. 
Mr. Sol?. Gen. How do you know they were French Pafres ? 
Mr. Davis. He told une they were French Palles, I did not know it, I could not read them. 
• Mr. .7.7-arton. They (hewed you the Papers, did you know what Ship they belonged to ? 

Davis. No, my Lord, not I. 
Will. Kid. I ¿tire Captain Hunt may be called, to know what my Lord Bellamont laid of me. 

Mr. Bi Hatfel4 
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Mr. B. Hatfel. That will fignify nothing. 
Cl. of Arr. HO Parrot, have you any thing to fay for your (-elf ? 
H. Parrot. My Lord, I had no (bare of the Goods. 

Ka. My Lord, I delire this Commidion may be read. 
M. B. Hilfel. Is it under the Broad Seal ≥ 
.Mr. Crawly. It is a Letter of Mart and Reprifal, my Lord. 

( Then the Commigrin was read, dated the 1 ith of December, 1695. ) F f 
o 

Will. Kid. Now, my Lord, in purfuance of this Commiflion I wait and took theft: Shim a 
which had French oafFes on board, and my Lord Beflamont took them by force from mc. , 

Mr. J. Turton. You took one French Shíp, and aded in a regular manner to condemn het; 
but did you do fi with the red ? 

Will. Kid I could not carry thefe Ships home, by reafon my men left me. 
Mr. J. Turton. Mr. Bradirthans, with what number of men did you go out of England? • 
R. Bradinbani. With about Seventy men. 
Mr. J. Turton. What number had you when you went from New n'rk? 
R adinhan. Abrut 155. 
Mr. y Turto 1. So that our number was increafed. R. Bradinham. Yes, my Lord, 
M. j.'rulton. Was th -_-re any other Ship condemned, betides the French Banker. 
K. Bradinbam No, my Lord. 1 
Will. Kid. The& men were fome of them that left me, and took the Goods. What was left 

I carried with me. 
Cl. of Arr. 11321, Parrot, have you any more to fay ? 
H. Parrot, The Evidence cannot prove that 1 had any (hare. 1 came with my Commander • 

from Mtclagafiar, and he Foid me an hundred Pieces of Eight, and my Lord Bellarnont feiled 
all. And I had opportunity enough to have gone a pírateering with Capt. Culliford, but I tom 
them l would not. And I came to my Lord Bellamont, and furrendred rnv felt. 

Cl. of Arr. R. lirlicorn, have you any thing to fay in your own defence ? 
R. Bar lieorn. I &fire Witnefs may be called, to know whether I was not a Servant aboard. cl 
Mr. 7. Turton. The King's Evidence fay you were. 
C. of' Arr: Abel Owens, what have you to fay ? al 
Abel. Owens. I own my fell guilty. I came in upon the King's Proclamation, 
Cl. of Arr. Darby Wins, what have you to fay ? 

Mdins. I did what I did under the King's Comtniffian. I obeyed my Captain, and came 
home with him. I duct not for my life do otherwile. Examine the Witneffes, and they will not 
fay otherwife. Mr. Bradinham, did I do any thing againtt the Captain's command ? 

R. Bradinham. I cannot fay but he did always obey the Captain's commands. 1.1 
Mr. Soil. Gen, Dld he not go aboard Capt. Culliford afterwards ? 
K. Bradinharn Yes, my Lord. D. Mallos. I went for want. 

1; Cl. of Arr. Have any of you any more to lay ? 

H. Parrot. My Lord, I did not go oat of En/an/A/with Capta Kid, but I fhipt my fell on board fa 
a Merchantman bound for Newfoundland, and I was taken by a French Privateer. And afterwards 
coming to m,ntag .,p. .,a, Capt. Kid was there, and he (oak a Pillo! to (hoot me, but I avoided it. 1Yr 
But hearing afa.awards that Capt. Kid had the King's Cos-million, I went aboard him. 

Mr. y. Turton. Had he any Commidion to take any Goods from the King's Subjzás ≥ a 
Zvi. É. Hatfei. Capt Kid fays the Seamen forced hint Wan the Ship, and you [bared the Goods t1-1 

your felves. 
Pi 

H. Parrot. He does not fay fo of us. My Lord, with fubmiflion, be pleafed to ask my Corn- 101 
mander, whether I ever difoheyed his Commands, or was rozward to attatnpt any ill thing, or 
did any thing of that w hich is ailedged again it rue. 

th 
Will. Kid. Mr. Bradinharn, are not you promifed your Life, to take away mine ? N 
M.. 7 Tu f ton. He is not bound to antwer that rinefiion. He is very fit to be made an Evidence ot 

Ir the King, perhaps there can be no other ha this Cafe, than fuch who are in his Circumílances. 
H. Parrot. With fubmiffron, I as the Evidence whether! ever difobey'd the Captain's Orders. yc 
Mr. 7. Turton. The Captain's Orders will ex,..uie you in honed things, but not in unlawful at 

ab la. 
* H i'arrct. As for th- Ships that were taken, I had no hand in it. in 

Mr. Kapp. But you received you: share, and knew of the robbing of the Ships. a 
Mr. J. Turton. Gentlemen of the Jury, Here is Will Kid, Nick Churchill, James Hitve, Rob. or 

W11.1 Ytikins, Gab. LIT; Hugh Paarct, Rich. Barlrorn, Abel Owens, and Darby Mount, hote i 
Prifoners a: the Bar ; who are all indieed for Piracy, or piratical and felonious taking a to 

M;orifb Ship on the High Seas, about fifty Leagues from Cararrar in the Ealt-Indiet, and teizing th 
the Goods that wcre in that bip to a contiderable value. And they ale alió indideci for the 
piratical and felonious taking another Ship, winch was likewile a Moorith Ship, with the Tackle ót 
2nd Arrarel theleof, to the value of icy I. four Leagues from Calicut in the Ead Indies. Now a: 
to thefe Indidnicors they have pleaded, Not Guilty. h.nd whether they are puilty or no, you is 
urcl to determine. rn the Evidence you have heard. 

all 1 need not tell veal the Heizioutnefs of this Odence wherewith they are charged, and of what th 
ill confeqaence it is to all Trading Nations. Pyrites are called Hijitaf barnarú gen,rif, thc Encmks 

to 
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to all mankind, but they are efpeeially fo to thofe that depend upon Trade. And thefe things 
that they !land charged with, are the moil mifchievous and prejudicial to Trade that can hap-
pen. But as it is not my bufinefs to aggravate the Offence, fo it is yours to contider whether 
they or any of them are guilty or net. 

Two Witneffes have been produced for the King, and both of them were concerned in all 
the tranfadions relating to the Prifoners. And by their Evidence it appears, that in the Year 
1696, aleout the beginning of May, Capt. Kid, who was Captain of the Adventure Gaily, was 
fitted out on a very good defign, for he was to take Pyrates, and to feize the Ships and Effeds 
of the King's Enemies, That was the end of this Expedition. He went out from 'it/mouth with 
about Seventy Men From England; they failed to New-York, and in their paffage they feized a 
French Veffel; and that Veffal was condemned in a due manner, and that was purfuant to their 
Comtnifilion. 

When they came to New-Tork, there were other things in contemplation; then he made a 
Proclamation, to give notice, that if any would come aboard him, he propofed terms for their 
encouragement that they fhould be Shareres in all they could acquire ; He hirrafelf would have 
Forty Shares, becaufe the Ship, Arms, Ammunition and Provifions were his, and the ¡di ihould 
be divided proportionably to thofe that fhould be aboard him. And whtreas they went cut with 
Seventy Men, there their number was encreafed to 155. for with that number he Sailed from 
New-York 

Gentlemen, The S.Vitneffes tell you whither they went afterwards; I will not mentiotall 
the particular places, but only fuch where any thing remarkably was done. They fay they crmc 
to a place called Babs Key; and there it feerns they had an intention to obferve a Fleet called 
the Moco Fleet, there they flayed about three Weeks, and in that time Capt. Kid lent .his Boat 
three times to Mao, where this Fleet was ; the two firil times they brought no certain 2,C-
Count 5 but the left Boat that was lent, brought intelligence that there were rat or 15 Ships lay 
in the River or Harbour there, and were ready to Sail, and that they had Dutch. Colours, Erighfra 
Colours, and Macriga Colours. And Capt. Kid laid then, he expeáled to make a confiderable 
advantage of them. And after this advertifernent, he lent fume men to the High Lands to ob-
ferve the rnoti)n of this Fleet, who after fome time gave notice that the Fleet was coming, 
and then he weut out with his Vtfll ; and, as they tell you, he went into this Fleet, and dif-
charged fume Guns at them. But they having a Convoy, he found he was not a match for them, 
and that it would be in vain to attempt any thing further on fo great a difadvantage ; and fo that 
defign was frufirated. But it mull be obferved, that thefe Ships were all Englffh, Dutch, and 
Maori f h, and nene of them French, which (hews Capt. Kid's inclinations to take filch Ships for 
which he haul no authority by any Commiffion. 

But they tell you, after this, when he had met with this difappointment, then he Sailed to-
wards the Coaft of Cararoar; And there they met with the lint Mocrifh Ship that he is now 
charged with. And this Ship they feized, and took one Parker, who was the Captain; they 
feized him, and all-6 a Portuguife, whom they made ufe of as an interpreter, and fome of the 
men, who they treated in a barbarous manner. They tell you, that there happening to be an 
Englijh FaCtory near that place, they of that Factory underfiandining that this Parker and the 
Portugu0 were aboard the Ship, they lent to demand :them; and Capt. Kid denied them, and 
faid there were no fuch men on Board, and yet he had hid them under the Deck. You are alfo 
told by the Witneffrs what they found and feized aboard this Ship, viz.. Pepper, Coffee, 
Myrrh, and {bane Gold. They have told you, the Gold was fhared amongft them, and in 
Specie, as I remember, every Mefs had two pieces, and the reft of the Goods were divided 
amongti them in proportion, according to their oiiginal Agreement, or they had their Shares of 
the Money for which they were fold. This was the firft Ship that he flands charged with the 
Piratical taking of; and this Ship was a Moariffa Ship, and did balong to the Natives of that 
Place. 

And then it appears they went to the CO3ft of Malabar, and there they took the other Ship 
that he is charged with by the other Indidment ; the lift was taken in September, and this in 
November. There was on Board that Ship two Honks, and feveral Bails of Cotton, and fome 
other Goods; and this all.° belonged to the Moors, and one Skipper Mitchel, a Dutchman, .was 
Capt. of her. When they had taken this Ship, they went to Madagafcar; and there it is told 
you, they Sunk this Valet. And they having feveral other Goods that they had taken out of 
another Veffel, the Goods were Sold, and divided between the Captain and the refl of the 
men, a:aordinn to their feveral proportions. And it is proved to you, that every one of thefe 
Prifoners had Pome there of the produd of thefe Goods. And to fhow what Capt. Kid was, 
and that he was a favourer of thofe he ought to have oppefed, there was another Pirate there, 
one Capt. Cailliford, who had a Veffel that he ufed to the fame purpofe, called the Great Ma-
hornet; And he having heard of Kid's Commiffion, had a Jealoutie that Capt. Kid had a defign 
to take him and his Company: But he told them he had no fuch delign, he was fo far from 
that, that he affured them, nay Swore he would be True to them, and there were great ap-
pearances of friencifhip between Capt. Kid and Capt. Culiiford, they made mutual vifits to each 
other. And Capt. Kid did accommodate Cuniford with fome Guns, and gave him liberty to take 
any thing he had ; arid Capt. Culliford likewife prefented him with China Silks. Now this alío 
is given in evidence, to (how that Capt. Kid had a Piratical defign in all this, and that he did 
affift tilde that were engaged in the like defign with him, inflead of endeavouring to fupprefa 
them. 
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Now, Gentlemen, the firft Witnefs, Rob. Bradinham, has declared all thistothyeOu othe r. 
AndAnl 

di he e' wife Pp') Patener has fpoken to the fame nurpole, though tomething more than 
'tells y ,u how they went afhore on one of the Maliahar Wands, and how they burnt fon,e Hou rs, 
and. did other very barbarous things. Put that concerns not this matter for which -hey are 
row indbcd. He tells you alío, that when they took one of thefe Ships, whereof C. o Par 
kr was Commander, they took two of the Men on board that Ship, and hoifted them to and 
tiled (hem leverely, which they did to caule them to dilcover what things of value the h 
on board ; but it teems they had notning of any confiderahle vvorth on board. Howevel Lis 
(bows that Capt. Kid had a elinign to aeet Piratically. The Mtn& gives you an account of all 
the tranCainns, in taking the two Ships , and difpufing of ttn.: Goois, and divkling of 
the Money: Indted he fays, when the nittribur ion was made, he was not in the real.-ie, but 
tell, you he heal d the Litt called over, and all the other Prnoners feveyally wern in, and brought 
out their Shares in their Hats, or otherwife, and did not hear any one complain that he had 
not his Share. 

Gentlemen, there are three Perfons that were Servants, that is, R. Lardy, he was Servant 
to Omen/ the Cook; jeekinr. he was Servant to the Mate, and R. Baritcr,rn, who was 
Servant to Capt. Kid. Now though the& might have their Shares delivered then, yet it is to 
be pretumed that they were to be accountable to their Matters; And they being .Seryants, future you will think fit to difiinguith them from the rett. 

entlemen, this is the fum of the Evidence given for the King. And indeed this leonas to 
be as (Long an Vvidence againft the Prifoners at the Bar as can be. They did endeavour to 
take the Meco Fleet, but they were too ttrong for them; And they could have no fuloitioo 
that they were Fremh, for they had Englifh, and Dutch, and /Ton* Colours: lo that fr Captr.eKnicelh 
could have no pretence horn h:s Commiffion to look after thefe Ships ; There were no F 
among them, and yet there he lay three Weks waiting for them. But they did adually take 
theft two (hips mentioned in the Indiainents, and difpofed of the Goods, and (bared the pro_ 
dua. among them felves. Here is all the Evidence that can be given of Piracy. 
Now Capt. Kid, when he comes to make his Defence, tells you, he had a Cornmillion, and if 

was produced ; ( and that is no more than what is common in time of War ) whereby he is au-
thoriled to take the Ships and Goods of any of the Subjeds of the French King. But it is 
Penned with great caution, he is to take none but the Goods and Ships of the Pro,ch Kits, or 
his Subieds, and he is to keep an xad account of all that he takes, and to procure them to be 
condemned in the Admiralty. Now if he had purfued this Commifflon, and gone nu further, 
it had been well, he had done juttly, and anfweied the end on which he was lent out. And 
it does appear, that the firit Veffel that he took in his palt ge to New 11, evÁs thus con-
demned. But afterwards I do not find that he had any regard to his Commiffion ; but 
waited for that great Moco Fleet a coniiderable time, I think about three Wtkc ; and being 
difappointed there, he afterwards did take thele two Ships mentioned in the Indiament ; and it 
does not appear that they were French Ships, neither were there any French Pies en board 
them. One of the Witneffes indeed lays he heard of French Palies, but neither he or any ocher 
perfon that hath ben produced has leen one of them. Now I do not ob,erve that his Com-
mit:lion does any manner of way tend to excufe the Captain in taking both, or either of theft 
Ships. One of them was under an Englifh Commander, which was Paykr.. the ether under a 
Dutchman; there were no Frenchmen aboard, only Leroy, who was made a kind of a mock-Captain 
by Kid to ferve a prefent cur.. But what Captain Kid has laid from his Commiffian, is fo far 
from ¡unifying him, that it kerns rather an aggravation of his Crime. For he that will no out 
with the Kin's Gommiffinn on a jut} and laucl,ble detign to take the Ships and EReer- of the 
French King ita War, and alío to denroy Pirates ( which were the principal ends oi his being 
fitted out to Sea) and inilead thereof will turn Pirate hirnfelf, m ke Mè of the force with Which 
he was entrutied for the promoting his Piratical purpofes, and for the fellonious taking the 
Ships and Goods of thofe that were in -Unity with the King of E,giand appears to be a ma-
nifeit breach and violation of his trutt ; attended with very aggravating eircuinftanees. 
Now for thofe three that were Servants, I mutt leave it to you, whether they did ad otherwife 

than they might do. A Servant is to obey his Matter, but it 
honett 4 If they did any thing elle, you who have heard the Evidence muff be winilltheinognsndlaerwotufltahreldir 

Guilt, and whether their cates differ from the refit but there is forne probability that their 
Shares might be accounted for to their relpedive Mailers. 
NOW as to the Tenn there are fome of them that do pretend they did furrender themfelves, 

one of them to Mr. Kiches a Jutlice of Peace in Surry, others to CoLonel Bair that was a Com-
mander in Eaft-jerfy; and it does appear that they did furrender thernfelves accordingly. but that 
does not come under your coutideration, you are to confider only whether they are Gino, of 
the FgaS they nand charged with, or no. t‘s to what effect theirSurrendring tin m el y 5 may 
have with his Ma jelly, mull be left to the King's Royal Pleafine 5 but we are to confider ore Evi-
deuce. Now they geneially fay they did obey the Captain, and that they uoderitood he had 
the Kings Como-14E0n; Truly to far as he purfued the Kings Comm' ffinn, they were to °Jo 
him; Put when he aás contrary to the Kings Commiffion, in aás of Piracy unon the Ship, 
Goods and Effeals of the Kings Friends, and thole in Amity with the Crown of 'England tney 
thould have been to far from obeying and adil1ing him, that they thould have obíltuded him and 
feized him that he might have been brought to juitice. and that would have been a gtr.ates 

vindication of their Innocencies. But as the matter now appears, I do not fee that any chill% 
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they have laid, tends to their defence, and therefore I mull leave it to your confideratión 
indeed there are Come Witneffes appear for Capt. Kid. Coll. T-irrefor`gives you this account 

of Capt. Kid, thit he was under his Command in the beginning of the War, and that he 
Fought and behaved himfelf very well, and was fetviceable in the PrIfli- Indies ; and he fáys he 
ditCourfed him about his going out on the expedition he was kilt, and that Kid faid he had no 
inclination to go. And Mr. Cooper likewife tells you, that about ten or twelve Yeats al and ago he 
knew him, and that he Fought the French, and behaved himfelf very well at that tlte 
that feveral of his Men run away with his Ship when he was at Antego. 
Then there is Gabriel Loff, he has produced a Witnefs for himfelf, one Davis. And Davis 

tells you he was a Prifoner in Nerv-York by order from my Lord Beliamont; and at firft tl:ey were 
fome days there before they were taken into Cuflody ; and there was lo little apprehention of 
his beini, a dangerous Man, that he had fome favour allowed him, and had a great deal of 
liberty. This is that he lays. I find not that any of the retI have produced any Evidence, 
only they fay they were under the Commander, and were to obferve him. But if that would 
excede them, then all Pirates would be excufed. Now as to Capt. Kid, it kerns he has wó-
ftillv tranigreired the bufinefs of his Commlffion, and aded contrary to the end and delign of 
his being lent out, in the Piratical taking the Ships and Goods mentioned in the Indibments, 
in which the other Prifoners at the Bar have ¡Dined with him ; and they were fo far from bring 
the Ships and Goods of the French King, or his Subjeds, or Pirates, that they were the Ships 
and Goods of Puffins of other Nations in Amity with the King of England. Now if yotá 
believe thefe Wirneffes, that Capt. Kid has taken thefe Ships in a Piratical manner, and that the 
other Perfons affifled him in it, and had their Shares of the Money and Goods, which is an 
evidence of their confenting to, and fpontaneous ading, I believe you will think fit to find them 
Guilty, but I leave it to you. And as to there three Perfonsthat were Servants, l mull leave their 
cafe to your contideration, whether you will think fit to ditlinguifh them from the reil, or not. 

Then an Officer was ftvcrn to keep the Jury. 

Arid after about half an Hour the Jury return'd and brought in their Terdia. 

Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names, William Smith, William Smith. Here, &e. 
Cl. of Arr. Gentlemen, arc you all agreed of your Verdid ? Omnes. Yes. 
C. of Arr. Who (hall fay for you? Ornnes. Foreman. 
Cl. of Arr. tf/itiam Kid, hold up thy Hand ( which he did ) Look upon the Priioner: Ho* 

fay you? is he Guilty of the Piracy and flobbery whereof he (lands Indided by the firll In-
didment, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty. 

Cl. of Arr. Is N. Churchill Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty, 
Cl. tf Arr. Is James Howe Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. cf Arr. Is Robert Lamley Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Not Guilty 
Cl. of Arr. Is Will. jenQns Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Not Guilty. 
Cl, of Arr. Is Gabriel Laff Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl if Arr. Is Hugh Parrot Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr . Is K. Barlecorn Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Not Guilty,: 
Cl. of Arr. Is Abel Owens Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty. 
Cl. of Air. Is Darby Molina Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman. Guilty° 

in like Manner Kid nod Six more were fa-tend Guilty on the other indielmeni¡ an 
the Three Servants acquittea': 

The-



The Tryal of William Kid, and the other 
Nine Perfons, upon Two more In.. 
diétments of Piracy: 

One committed on a Moorifh Ship Four Leagues frorn 
Galicia, the other on a Portugnife Ship, Twelve Leagues 
from Caticut. 

T I1 E Prironers being called to the Bar, and the Jury called ; and Capt. Kid Challenging, 
thofe that had Tryed him for the Murther, the Twelve that were Sworn are as fol. 

loweth, viz.. 

JURY. 

jof. Wwfon. -a r rho. Plaifted. 
Jo': ViVers. Sam. Rown. 
Geo. Abby. - I Martn, Bludder: 
Ed. Fenwick. 5' Jo. Scot. 
Gilbert Fait. I jo. Reynolds. 
Tho. Hurnfrevill LRich. Drew. 

of Arr. Cryer Count thefe: 71. Watfon. 
Cryer. One, &c. Twelve Good Men and True, fiand together and hear your Evidence. 
Mr. J. Turton. With whit will you proceed on now ? 
Cl. of Arr. With the two other Ships. 

Then the ufual Proclamation fir Information was made, and the Prifiniers being bid to hold 
up their Hands, the Cl. of Arr. charged the jury with them thuy. 

Cl. of Art,: You of the Jury, look upon the Prif)ners, and hearken to their Caufe. They 
Indlieteci by the names of William Kid late of London Mariner, &c. (as before in the In-

díament ) u,),)n this India nent they have been Arraigned, and thereunto have feverally 
pleaded Not Guilty, and for their rryal have put themielves on God and their Country, 
which Country You are. Your Charge is to enquire whether they be Guilty of the Piracy 
and Robbery whereof they hand Indided, or not Guilty, 6-c. 

N. Cl,wchill. I plead Guilty, my Lord, I fubmit my felf to the King's Proclamation, 
Cl. of Arr. lames 1133,,., Do you itand to your n lea ? 
J. Hum. GiPhy, my Lord, I lubmit to His Majetties Gracious Proclamation. 
Cl. of Arr. Rob. Limity, what do you fay ? 
R. L(3mley. Not Guilty. 
Mi. 7. Turton. You may enter their retrading their Pleas in Court. 
Cl of Arr. Will. Yenkiy, what fay you? Do you fiand to your Plea ? 
Wilt. I kins. Not Guilty. 
Cl. Pr Arr. Gabriel Loff, what fay you ? 
Gabriel Leff. Not Guilty. 
Ch of _Arr. Hugh Parrot, what fay you ? 
Hugh Parrot. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of Arr. R. Barlicorn, what fay you? 
R. Birl:corn. Not Guilty. 
Cl. of 4477. Abel Owens, what fay you ? 
Abel Owens. Guilty. I came in upo4 the King's Proclamation. 
Mr. Knapp. The Jury is not to be charged with them three then. 

Cl. of Arr. 
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et. of Arr. Here is a fecond Indiament againft them, wherein they Itand índiEted by the Name 

of Kid, late uf London, Mariner, &e. (as in the former Charge) What muff I fay now ? 
Mr. y. 7.,7-ron, Ask then) three, 'nether they ftand to their Plea to this Indiétrnent,or retract it. 
Cl. of Arr. Nich. Churchill, Do you confel this Indi&ment ? 

churchill, Yes, my Lord. 
Cl. of Arr. 7ames Howe, What fay you ? 
fames Howe, Guilty of that, and all the other. 
Cl. of"in% Abel Owens, What do you lay ? 
Ab. Owens, Guilty of that, and all the other. 

of Arr. Set them three by. Gentlemen of the Jury, Here is Will. Kid, Rob. Lamle'', MIL 
7erikin.s, Gabr. Loff, Hugh Parrot, Rich. Barlicorn, and Darby Molins, have been indiCted upon 
two feverallndiaments that have been read; and for Trial have put themfelves on God and their 
Country, whole Country you are. 

Mr. Knapp, My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, Thefe are two feveral Indiaments of Piracy, 
er aainft Will-. Kid and the fix other Prifoners at the Bar. The firl} lets forth, That thefe Prifoners, 

the, /8th of December, in the Eighth Year of his Majefty's Reign, about four Leagues from Calicut, 
did piratically enter a certain Ship, called a Moor:» Ship; . and that they took her, with the Apparel 
and Tackle, and took out of her feveral Goods that have been read to you in this Indiament. To 
this Indiarnent they have pleaded, Not Guilty. .1f we prove them Guilty, you mull find them fo. 
:The other lndiament lets forth, That on the 9th of Yanuary, &c. that they took another Ship, a 
,Portugueje Ship 5 and to this alló they have pleaded, 'Not Guilty. If we prove them Guilty, you 
muff find accordingly. Call Robert Bradinham and Jolt'. ph Palmer, (who appeared, and were 
(Worn.) 

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Counfel for the King againft the Pri-
loners at the Uar. -1 hey ftand indiaed for feveral Piracies committed on two Ships, and our Evi-
dence againft them will be to this Purpofe: Captain Kid had two Commiffions, one was to take Pi-
retes, the other was to take French Ships. Will. Kid, in his Ship the Adventure Gaily, went out ofEn-
.5 eland in the Year 1696. He afterwards went to New York, and there he increaféd the number of 
his !vier'. And from thence went away with a Refolution to commit the Piracies, fome of which 
" he has been conviaed of already. Then he went to Babs-Key, and lay in wait to intercept the Mo-
co Fleet; but was difappointed of that, they being well guarded. He went afterwards to other Pla-
ces,and took two Ships which were not the Ships here mentioned. After that he feized a Ship,called 
a Moorifk Ship, ten Leagues from Calicut, and there feizes one of the Ships for which he is now in-
died, a Moorifb Ship, and takes out of" her Sugar-Candy, and other Goods, to the value of about 
five and twenty Pounds. In January following he meets another Ship, . and feizes her too, and 
takes out of her to the value of fixty Pounds. Thefe Goods he difpofes of, and divides the Proceed 
of it between himfelf and the Crew of the Ship. And this is the Piracy for which he is now indi-
Cied. The matter you are to inquire into is, Whether they be guilty of Piracy on thefe two Ships 
or no. We will call our Witnefies, and if we prove them guilty I doubt not but you will' do right 
to your Country and them. Mr. Bradinham, there Gentlemen have not been upon the jury before, 
therefore you muff give an account of the Whole matter from the beginning, from your going out 
of :13 limout h. 

R. Pradinham, In the Year 1696, the beginning of. May, We went from Km)uth to Nov-
York. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. What Ship did you go in ? 
R. Bradinham, The Adventure Gaily. And by the way he took a French Ship, which he con-

'demned when he came to New York. At New York he put up his Articles, to get Men aboard his. 
Ship, and they were to have a (hare of what was taken . About the fixth Ol September we failed. 

Mr. J. Gould, What number of men had you when you went from England ? 
R. Bradinham, About leventy Men. 
Mr. J. Gould, How many had you when you went from New York ? 
R. Bradinham, About an hundred and fifty. The fixth of September we failed from New York, 

and went to Maderas, then to Bonavis, then to Sr. jauger, then to Madagafcar, then to Joanna, 
then to Mahala, then to Joanna again, then to Meta in the Red Sea, and then ro Babs-Key. 

Mr. Soil. Gen. What did you do there ? 
R. Bradinham, He lay there about a fortnight or three weeks, to wait for the Mcca Fleet, and 

Int out his Boat three times to make dilcovery; the two firft times they made no dikovery, but the 
third time they brought information, that they were ready to fail. 

Mr. B. Mufti, What was the Moco Fleet ? 
R. Bradinham, They were Moorifir Ship: 
Mr. B. Hatfel, To what end did he wait for them ? 
R. Bradinham, He laid he would make a Voyage out of them. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What hapned on that ? 
R. Bradinbam, He ordered Come men to look out for them on the Hig-blands and when they 

law them coming they were to give notice, and he was to fetch them off in the Bo it. This Fleer 
came, and he fell in with them, and fired at them; but they being under Convoy., he was forced ro 
quit them. And then going to Carrawar, he met with one Parker's Ship .he took this Parker's 
Ship, and took him for a Pilot, and the Portuguelé for a Linguifter. 

/1/7-. Soil. Gen, How did he ufe the men there ? 
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R. Bradinham, Two of them were brought on board the Adventure Galley, and they were haled 

up, and drubb'd with a naked Cutlafs. 
Mr. Soil Gen. Why did he do that ? 
K Bradinham, That they might make difcavery of their Riches. 
fur. Soil. Gen. What did they take out of that Ship ? 
R. Bradinham, Some Coffee' Pepper, &c. 
Mr. Soil Gen. What did he do with the two Men ?' 
R. Bradinham, He carried them with him to Carraw'ar; and when he came there they were de-

manded by the Englifb Faaory there, and he denied them, and laid he had no filch men aboard. 
Mr. Solt Gen. Where had he put them ? 
R. Bradinham, He confined them aboard in. the Hold. 
Mr. Sail. Gen. Where did he go then ? 
R. Bradinham, He put to Sea, and the next day he met with a Portugnefe Man of War, and 

fought her. 
Will. Kid He tells nothing but meer Lies. 

• K Bradinham, Then he went to the Malabar Iflands; and watered and wooded, and caufed his 
.men to burn feveral Houfes and plunder feveral Boats, and afterwards burnt them. 

Mr'''. Tartan, Did you fee them burnt ? • 
.R..Bradinham, I was not afhore, but I faw the rrioke. 
Will. K1'4 It is a fine trade, that you muff take away fa many of the King's Subjeas Lives, and 

know nOthing, at all ot the matter. 
Mr.Soll. Gen: 11 .it did you do with that Ship ? 
. R. Bradinham, He took her, and dilpofed of the Goods, and carried her to Madagafcar: 

Soil Gen. What did he dó after that ? 
! R. Bradinbarn, We 'went to the Malabar fl.i.rids .fOtue rime in December, and he took a Moorifil 
Ketch. 
• :Kid, How .came you to keep tWs account, 'when for five or fix months together you were 

under Deck ? 
Mr'SCIl Gen. Go on, Mr. BraZálm, and give an account of your further Proceedings. 
Trill.,Kid.1 hope the King's Coui-del i1l not put him in the vi iy.lr is hard that a couple ot Rakais 

fhe)utd rake away the King's Suhjeas Lives. They.iire a couple of Rogues and R.tiCills. 
R. Bradinham, This Ketch was taken by the Ship's Crew, about December, 1697. and one oi 

.the Boat's Crew was wounded at the taking of this Ketch.' 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was there in this Ship ? •. 
R. Bradinham, Some Tubs of Sugar-Candy, Tobacco, duc 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What did he do with thefe Goods ? 
R. Bradinham, They were carried aboard, and fhared into Mefres, two Tubs and a half of Sugar-

Candy to a Mefs. 
Mr. Soil. (len. Had the Prifoners at the Bar any lime ? 
R Bradinham, Yes; and then he let the Ship on fire. 
el of Arr. Had Captain Kid himfelf any fhare ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. How much had he? 
R. Bradinham, He had forty (hares; 
Mr. B. Ilatfel, You fhould tell this Jury how many flares the whole was divided into, 
R. Bradinham, it was divided into 16o fhares, and Captain Kid was to have forty (hares, Ie 

them be as many as they would, and the reft were to be divided among the Men. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Robert Lumley any fhare ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes.. 
Cl. of Arr. Had William yenkins a fhare ? 
R. .Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Had Gabriel Loff. any fhare ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Had 'Hugh Parrot any fhare ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cl. of Arr. Had R. Barlicorn any (hare? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
Cls of Arr Had Darby Malins any fhare ? 
R. Bradinham, Yes. 
11/1r. Soli. Gen. What was done afterwards ? 
R, Bradinham, After they had done thefe things they burnt the Ketch: 
Mr. Knapp, VI, hat did they do then ? 
R. Bradinham,, The 'Moors were driven afhore by the Ship's Crew. 
Will. Kid, How did you know they were Moors? 
R. Bradinham, By information of the Ship's Crew. 
Will  Kid, He was not within five Leagues of the Place. 
Mr. Knapp, What did you meet with afterwards? 
,R. Bradinham, A Portuguefe Ship. Some time in yanuary, 169-5, we met with a Portuguefi. 

Ship on the Coati. of Malabar, and he took her; and he took out of her fame Opium) forrie Ea/-
India Goods, fame Powder, and fixty or feventy Bags of Rice. 

Mr. Soil. 
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of thee .Goods ? 
Soil. Gen; My Lord, this is the other Ship for which they are inclined. What was the-value 

R Hr,z(lin-ham, There were forne Eafl-India Goods, Opium, Powder and Rice. 

E 55 I 

Will Kid, Did you fee them brought aboard ? 
R. Bradinham, I am anfWering the Bench. 

Soil. Gen. Were there any other Goods? 
R Bradinham, Yes, there was Bees wax, and thirty Jarrs of Butter. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was the value of there Goods ? 
.R. Bradinham, About four or five hundred Pounds, 
Will. Kid, it is a fine trade indeed, that he muff be inftruaed what to fay. 
R. Bradinham, After he had plunder'd this Ship, he was purfited by fome Dutch Ships; feveral 

Ships gave him chade, and he was forced to leave this Ship. 
Mr. Soil, Gem What did they do with the Goods ? 
R. Fra•linharn, He fold the Opium on the Coaft, and the reft he kept for Provifion.' 
Mr. Soil Gen. What became of the Money ? 
R Bradinham, Captain Kid fhared it. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Who had their Shares? Give an account of that. 
R. Bradinham, The Prifoners at the Bar. 
Clerk of Arr. Had Captain Kid any (hares? 
R. Bralnham, Yes. 
Clerk of Arr. Had Robert Laniley any (hare ? 
R. Bradinham, He had half a (hare. 
Clerk of Arr. Had Will.  Jenkins any (hare ? 
R Bradinham, He had half a (hare. 
• Clak of Arr. Had Gabriel Leff any (*halt ? 

.R. Bradinham He had hall a fhare. 
. Gabriel. ;:off, How do you know that ? Did you fee me bring it out ? 
R. Bradinham, I'did Lot lee you take it, but you brought it out, and acknowledged it 
Will. Kid, Before you fwore, I paid themlfirft, and now you fay they paid me firft. 
K Bradinham, They had all a (hare as before. 
Mr- Knapp, Now proceed in Your Voyage, What did you do after this ? 
.R. Bradinham, After this we went a eruiting on that Coaft, and we met with the Queda Mere 

chant, and took her : And afterwards, about fifty Leagues from the Cape, we met with a Moorifh 
Veírel; and Captain Kid fnths Men aboard that Veffel, and they took out of her ten jarrs of Butter, 
and a Main-fail s. and he took out two of the Men (that he carried to Madagaircar) becaufe he want-
ed men. 
X.1r. Knapp, Can you tell of any thing; elle? 
R. Bradinham, He took about a dozenilidábar Boats, and plundered them,and then let them gee 
Mr. Knapp, Go on. 
R. Bradinham, Then we wine to Madagafear. 
IVLr Knarp, What hapned there ? * 
R Bradinti ff _iin,There came a Canooe o, (orne of the Mert in this Canooe belonged to the Moco Fri-

gate; they carne off to Captain Kid, and they told him, they heard he was come to take them, and 
hang them. 

Mr. Kfzfeep, What were thole Men ? - 
R Bradinham, They Were fiippofed to be Pirates,: 
1Vr. Knapp, Who was the Commander of that Ship ? 

Bradinham, Captain Cukord 
Will. Kid, How came you to know this ? He fays any thing. 
Mr. Knapp. Go on with this Story, and give an account what paired between them. 
K Bradinham, This Canooe came aboard Captain Kid, and they told him, they heard he was-

come to take them, and hang them; hut he allured them it was no fuch thing: And he went aboard 
the Frigate, and (Wore to be true to them, and that he would aid them in any thing he had; and 
Captain Culliford came aboard him, and they made Prefents to one another. 

Mr. Knapp, What Preterits did Captain Kid make Culliford ? 
R. Bradinham, He gave him fome (hitting-fluff. 
Will. Kid, What: Did I give him fhirting-ftuff ? 

Bradinham, Yes; and he gave him two great Guns. 
Will. Kid, Did I go aboard him, you Ralcal ? 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Kid, ask him what queftions you will. 
Mr. J. Turton, Captain Kid, will you ask this Witnefs any quell-ions ? 
[Pill. Kid, My Lord, what fignifies it ? Were there not ninety of the men that mutinied ? I faid, 

Let us take this Ship; and did they not all confult, and faid, Where there is one that will fire 
againa the Pirate, there are ten that will fire againft you 5 and fo they went, and took the Goods, 
and left me: I ask you whether this be not true? 

R. Bradinham, My Lord, he never fpoke any thing like it, that he would tike Culliford, but he 
fwore to be true to them. 

Will. Kid, Did not I propofe to my men to take Captain .Culliford ? Did you never hear any body 
fay f¿)? 

R. Bradinham, No. 
Will. Kid, 
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Will. Kid, Did you not fay yefterday that I was come to take them ? 
R. Lradinham, I laid, they came and told you they heard fo, and you air:wed them you intende3, 

no fuch thing. 
Will. Kid, You fwore I gave him four Guns yellerday, and now you fay but two. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. It was Palmer that faid four. 
R Bradinham, 1 laid but two, and no more. 
Clerk of Arr. Captain Kid, have you any thing more to ask him ? 
Will. Kid, It fignities nothing to ask him any thing. 
Clerk of Arr. k- ob¿rt Lamley, will you ask this Witnefs any thing ? 
R. Lamle_y, I only ask hire whether I was not an Apprentice ? 
Mr. 7. Turton, Anfwer that queftion. 
R. Fradinham, My Lord, he was a Servant. 
Mr. 7. Turton, To whom? 
R. Bradinham, To Mr. Owens. 
Mr. 7. Turton, wasshis Maffer aboard then ? 
R. Eradinham, Yes, my Lord. 
Clerk of Arr. William Jenkins, will you ask the Witnefs any thing? 
William J"enkins, I delire him to fay whether 1 was a Servant, or not. 
R. Bradinham, Yes, my Lord, he was Servant to the Mate. 
Mr. 7. Turton, Was his Matter aboard then ? 
R Bradinham, He was aboard then. . 
Clerk of ,-;rr. Gabriel Loif, will you ask him any queltions ? 
Gabriel Loif, No, Sir. 
Clerk of Arr. Hugh Parrot, will you ask him any thing ? 
Hugh Parrot, No. 
Clerk of Arr. R. Barlicorn, will you ask this Witnefs any thing ? 
R. Barlicorn, I have nothing to ask him, but to delire him to fpeak the truth, whether I was not 

the Captain's Servant. 
R. Broidinham, He was, my 1_ ord. 
Clerk of Arr. Darby Molins, will you ask him any thing ? 
Darby Molins, I have nothing to fay but what I laid before. I fubmit my felf to the King's gra-

cious Proclamation. 
Kid, He has perjured hirnfelf in many thrngs. 

Mr. 7. Turton, In what ? give an inflance. 
Will. Kid, In a great many Inflances: About the Guns, that is one thing; and then he lays the 

Ship went from Plimouth the beginning of May, and before he laid it was in April, that is another 
thing; and, my Lord, the Mariners came and took Anchors and Cables and what they would, and 
he lays 1 gave them to them, and this is falle; and now he lays contrary to what he did before, for 
then he Lid we went out in April, and now the beginning of May. 

Mr. 7. Turton, He did not confine himielf to a day, he laid about the beginning of May. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Cali J cfeph Palmer, (who appeared.) Mr. Palmer, pray give my Lord, and the 

Jury., an account of Captain Kid and his Crew, where they went, and what they did. 
Jof Palmer, We went from Plimouth to New York, in the year 1696, and in the way took a 

French Ship, and carried her to New York, and fold her: And there he put up Articles to invite 
Men aboard his Ship, and what they took was to be divided into lo many ¡hares, whereof Captain 
Kid was to have forty, the rell to be divided among the Men ; and in September following we went 
from thence, and we had then about r 6o Men: From thence we went to Maderas, from thence to 
Bonavú, then to St. fauger, then to Joanna, then to Mahala, then to Joanna again, and then to 
Meta in the Red Sea, where he watered and wooded his Ship, and then to Babs-Key, a final' bland 
in the Red Sea: And when he came there, he ordered his men to look out on the Highlands for the 
Moco Fleet, and expeaed the Fleet to come that way; and he lent lome men in his Boat, with Or-
ders either to take a Prifoner, or to bring word what Ships were there : He lent his Boat twice and 
they made no Dilcovery, but the third time they went they came within light of the Ships, and 
brought word that there were 14 or r s fail lying there, with Dutch, and Engiifb, and Moorifb Co-
lours, and a great Ship with red Colours ready to fail: And then Captain Kid ordered his men to 
look out on the other tide the Highlands, for fear the Ships fhould pats him; and at laff the Ships 
came down. 

Will. Kid, There is no great occalion for this. 
Jo': Palmer, There were Moors and Turks belonging to there Ships: And about. the i.7th of 

Augult the Fleet came down; and Captain Ka fell in with them; his Qtarter-matter and fOffle of 
his men were laying, Let us go aboard them to night; No, fays he, we will take our choice of them 
in the morning; and in the morning he went among them, and tired at them, but took none of 
them he found they were too thong for him, and went away. And after this going to Carrawar, 

he took a Ship called the Mayden; it was between Carrawar and this Place, they reckoned they were 
not far from the 'find of St, John: He took this Ship, and took out of her forne Pepper, a Bail of 
Coffee, and fume more Bails of Coffee came on board, but he retained only one 13 iii and the Pep-
per, and laid he would not cumber his Ship with filch fluff; and Parker and a PoriuTuefi 

he took out, one for a Pilate, the,other for a Linguifter: And two of the men he ordered to l<ji>e boated up, 
and whipt with a naked Cutlafs. 

Will. Kid, 1 ask him this one thing, Did the Moco Fleet fire firff at me, or I at them ? 

jof: Palmer, 
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74: Palmer, ',\70, thry fired firft: • 

Kid, And juft now the other faid I fired firft;. Is not he perjured ? 
Mr- 7. Turt,,,,, Mr Bradinham, did he fire firlt, or no ? 

Bradinham, He fired at them. I only faid you fired at them, I did not fay firft or Wt.. 
f`or Píimer-, After this he went to Carrawar, to an Englifh Fadory, and wooded and watered 
Ship; and one Harvey came and demanded thefe two men; and Captain Kid denied that he 

Lad any filch men on board, and kept them in the Hold. 
./12/4-. Soil Gen. That is an Englifh Faaory. 
Jof Palmer, Yes. Several of Captain Kid's men left him there, and feveral more would have left 

Virt iF they Ould have conveniently gone afhore: ' And the fame evening he put to Sea, he 
Portulfueft; Ship, and fought her. 
i tr, Who fired there firít 

Yq: Palmer, The Portuguefe fired firff. 
Will. Kid, You do not tell that Story right. 

Palmer,. After he left this Portuguefi Ship he went to the Hind of Malabar, and robbed the 
and let their Houfes on fire, and took one of the Natives, and bound him to a Tree, and 

f}lz5r him to 'death. 
Soli. Gen,. -Did you fee the Houfes on fire ? 

yof P4irinr, Yes: And afterwards we went to Ca/icut, and met with a Moorifb Ship in Nat/ern; 
12¿ r, Schipper Mitchel was Commander; and there were taken out of her two Horfes, and Cotton,and 
enits; and this Ship he carried to Madagafiar -i Some time in December following we came to the 
C—oail of Malabar. 

Mr. Kripp, Can you tell what Year it was ? 
7cf. Palmer, It was in December, 1697. 
Mr. Knapft, Where, was this ? 
fol.' Palmer, About twelve Leagues-from Calicut, 
Mr. Knapp, What fort of Ship was it ? 
Y of. Palmer, A Moorifb Ketch. 
Mr. Knapp, What Burden was the ? 
:PI. Palmer, About fifty Tun, 
Mr. Knapp, What did you do there ? 

Ycf: Palmer, Captain Kid was lying at Anchor, and this Ketch came between him and the fhore; 
and he Cent the Boat and they brought the Ketch to the Ship, and took out of her thirty Bails of 
Sugar-Candy, Tobacco, Sugar and Myrrh. 
, Mr. Knapp, What did they do with thefe Goods ? 

joi: Palmer, When they had taken them out, they were fhared between the IVieran itlefks; tivexi 
Men to a mgs', for their own fpending. 

Mr. Knapp, Had the Prifoners at the Bar any (hare? 
Jof:Palmer, All the men had. 
Mr. Knapp, Vv7h4 fhare had Captain Kid ? 
701:Palmer, I cannot tell whether he had his forty (hares of that, or no. 
Mr. Knapp, What did they , do with the Ship? 
Yof. Palmer, They burnt her. 
Air. Soil. Gen. Fray now go on: What did they do next? 
y of Palmer, Some time in January they met with a Portuguefe Ship. 
Mr. [oil. Gen. Where ? 
YqfPalmer, Off of 'tinting°, an Englifh Fadory: It was a pretty way off fhore. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What Ship was it ? 
f'or Palmer, A Portuguefe Ship. 
Will. Kid, You faid it was juft by Ca/icut yetterday, 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Whereabouts was it ? 
jof Palmer, On the Coaí} of Malabar; it might be about ten or twelve Leagues from Calicut:. 
Mr. Sal. Gen. What Goods were in the Ship when the was taken ? 
Yof:Palmer, There were two Chetts of Indian Goods, two Chells of Opium, fome Rice, Butter; 

Wax, and Iron. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What was the value of thofe Goods ? 
Jof Palmer, Truly I cannot tell the value of them. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. What did they do with thofe Goods ? 
'PI. Palmer, The Wax and iron he put aboard the November, and fome aboard his own Ship. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. Did he fell any of thefe Goods ? 
jof. Palmer, No, but he fold the Opium on the Coaft: 
" Mr. Soil: Gen. Did he keep the Ship ? 
‘̀Yof Palmer, No, but leven or eight days, and then he quitted her; there were coral ~km 

coining, and he funk that Ship .: The Produce of the Ship was fluted.. 
Soil. Gen. Had the Prifoners at the Bar any {hare ? 

jof: Palmer, Yes. 
Clerk of Arr. Had William Kid any (hare ? 
5tor Palmer, Yes. 
Clerk of Arr. Had Robert Lamley any (hare ? 
fol.' Palmer) Yes, 

gerk 
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(..-.;.rk of Arr. Had William yenkins any fhare ? 
:i-tf• Palmer, Yes, 
Cfcrk of Arr. Had Gabriel Loff any fhare ? 
rior Palmer, Yes. 

'‘Clerk of.Arr, Had Hugh Parrot any fhare ? 
N, 'for Palmer, Yes. 

Clerk of Arr. Had R. Barlicorn any (hare ? 
Yof: Palmer, Yes. 
Clerk ff Arr. Had .Darby Molins any fhare ? 
jor Palmer, Yes; thefe Goods were fhared, and we bought Provifion with them: 

Kid, You fay this Ship was taken off of Anjingo, and that it was twelve Leagues from Ca-
licut, and this Anjingo is fifty Leagues from Calicut. 

,`.1 of. Palmer, It is all upon one Coaff. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. Give an account of your coming to Madagafear, and what followed. 
yor. Palmeri They found a Ship called the Refolution, Captain Culliford was Commander; and 

feveral of the Men came di to Captain Kid, that were formerly acquainted with him ; and they faid, 
We hear you are come to hang us; lays he, It is no fuch thing: And afterwards they went aboard 
each other, and Captain Kid made Proteflations to be true to them. There were four Guns in the 
Ship, and he prefented tilde Guns to Culliford. 
MIL KU. Did I prefent him with any Guns ? Becaufe I would not turn Pirate, you Rogues, you 

would make me one. 
Mr. B. Hatfel, What did Captain Kid lay o Cullifird, when they were drinking together? 
Yd.' Palmer, They made a Tub of Bomboo, as they call it (it is made of Water, and Limes, 

and Sugar) and there they drank to one another; and lays Captain Kid, before I would do you 
any dammage, I had rather my Soul fhould broil in Hell-fire. 

Air. Soli. Gen. Was you there then ? 
yof: Palmer, This was on the (barter-Deck of the Móco Frigate. 
Mr. Soli. Gen. What were thofé Men in that Ship ? What did you apprehend them tó be ? 
Yof. Palmer, They were Pirates. 
A*. Soli. Gen. Did Captain Kid or his Men offer to take them ? 
jot; Palmer; He did never propofe any fuch thing. 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Now you may ask him what queítions you will. 
Will. Kid, There went twenty of them aboard, and left me. 
yof Palmer, Captain Kid and Culliford were as great Friends as could be: 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Ask him what queft ions you pleafe.. 
Will. Kid, It fignifies nothing to ask any quell ions, a couple of Rogues will fivear any thing; 
Mr. Soil. Gen. Will you ask him any queitions 
Will. Kid, No 
Clerk of Arr. Lamley, will you ask him any queflions ? 
Robert Lamle], No. ity 
Clerk of Arr. William 51 enkins, will you ask him any queftions ? 
William jenkins, No; I have no more to fay, but what 1 faid before. 
Clerk of Arr. Gabriel Loft, have you any thing to ask him ? 
Gabriel Loff, No. 
Clerk of Arr. Hugh Parrot, will you ask the Witners any ciueflions ? 
Hugh Parrot, No. • 
Clerk of .Arr. Richard Barlicorn, will you ask him any thing ? 
Richard Barlicorn, No. 
Clerk of Arr. Darby Molins, will you ask him any thing ? 
Darby Molins, No; but only I fay I came home upon his Majefly's Proclamation 3 I came volun-

tarily, expeding to have the benefit of it with the Evidence. 
Mr. 7. Turton, That does not fall under the Jury's Confideration. 
Clerk of Arr. You, the Prifoners at the Bar, will you fay any thing for your felVes upon thefe two 

lndiaments ? 
Will, Kid, I will not trouble the Court any more, for it is a folly. 
Clerk of Arr. Robert Lamley, What have you to lay for your fell ? 
Robert Lamley, Nothing, but that I was a Servant. 
Clerk of Arr. William Jenkins, what have you to f'ay 1 
William yenkins, I was a Servant, my Lord. 
Clerk of Arr. Gabriel Loff, have you any thing to fay ? 
Gabriel Loff, My Lord, I ask him whether I ever aaed any thing in taking thefe Ships, but only 

under tny Captain's Command. 
Jo': Palmer, He aaed as other men did. 
Clerk of Arr. Hugh Parrot, have you any thing to fay ? 
Hugh Parrot, l can fay no more than I have faid. 
Clerk of rirr. Richard Barlicorn, have you any thing to la 
Richard Barlicorn, My Lord, I am a Servant. 
Clerk of Arr. Darby Molins, what have you to. fay ? 
Darby Molins, Did not Captain Kid often fay his Cortirniiiion would bear him out in what he did ? 

Palmer, Yes, I have heard him often fay that. 
Mr. 7. Turton, 
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Mr. 7. Tlytcr., Put how came you to go aboard Culliford ? 
Darby Mo!ins, For want, my Lord. • 
Mr. 1. rurton, Gentlemen of the Jury, Here are feveral Perfons, viz. William Kid, Robert Lam-

jeukins, Gabriel Loff; Hugh Parrot, Richard Bar/thorn, and Darby .A4olins; they all 
fland indiaed for Piracy : Indeed there are three more indiaed with them, viz, Nicholas Churchill-
'''arnes Howe, and zlbel Owens; but they have confeffed themfelves guilty, and you are now eafed o 
any inquiry concerning them, and are only to confider of the other leven, who are indiaed upon two 
leyera! Indidments: One is, for the piratical and felonious taking away a Moorifb Ketch, to the va-
lue of fifty Pounds, and the Goods therein to the value of one hundred Pounds; this was in Decem-
ber, 1697. And the other is, for piratically feizing and taking away Goods to the value of feventy 
Pounds from the Portugal Ship, twelve Leagues from Ca/icut in the Eafi Indies. Now to thefe two 
Indidments there Pritoners at the Bar have pleaded, Not Guilty; and whether they are fb or no, 
you are to determine, upon the Evidence given you. There have been two Witneffes produced for 
the King, Robert Bradinhani and jofeph Palmer; 1 will not trouble you with the repetition of their 
diflind Evidence, becaufe they agree in all things, and if I mention what one has raid, it is in effed 
what the other laid alfbJ, 

Gentlemen, It appears that Captain Kid, with feventy Perfons aboard his Ship called the Adventure 
Galley, went from England in the year 1696, having a Commifflon of Mart and Reprilál, ro take 
the Veffels, Ships and Goods of the French King, or any of his Subjeds, he being then at War with 
the King of England; and another Commillion for feizing Pirates. He has not indeed produced there' 
Commillions to you now, tho' he did on another Tryal. But he went out on a very honea defign, 
and in purfua.nce of it he took a French Ship in his Paffage to New York, and brought her thithertand 
had her legally condemned. But while he was there, it appears that he had other thoughts poffefs'd 
him, and wicked intentions to turn Pirate, and not to take them • and that he might be well mann'd 
he makes Proclamation amongfl the Mariners there, that filch of them as would come aboard his 
Ship, and affift him in his Enterprifes, fhould have their fhares of what Prizes or Booties could be 
taken; and he propos'd that he would have forty fhares himfelf, and the rea fhould be equally di-
flributed amongft the Mariners according to agreement, the whole being divided into i 6o fhares as 
I remember; by this means his number was increafed from 70 to 15'0. They let fail from New York, 
and (after many other Places mentioned by the Witneffes) they came to a place called,Babs-Key, 
which it feems is in the Red Sea; and there they flayed a confiderable time, I think about three 
weeks, and this was in expeaation to meet with the Moco Fleet, which he intended to make a Prize; 
and during his flay at Babs-Key he fent his Boat three feveral times to get intelligence of this Fleet; 
the two firft times there was no account of any thing, but the third time there was notice brought 
that they were ready to fail, and that they had Englifb, Dutch, and Moorifh Colours. And when he 
had this intelligence, to prevent their efcaping him he fends Men afhore, to go on the Highlands to 
obferve when they did adually fail; and when he had notice that they were under fail, he likewife 
failed, and went through the Fleet, and made fome fhots at fome of the Ships ; but ir appearing that 
they had a Convoy, and that they were too flrong for him, he quitted the Prize there, of which he 
had fo great expeaation. But afterwards he went on, and took his courfe towards Carra2var, and 
there he takes a Moorifh Ship; and Parker an Englifbman the Commander of her, and a Portuguele-
alfo were taken out of her. From thence they wen t to Malabar, and there he lent fume Men afhore, 
and there they burnt fome Houfes; and after that took a Moorzfh Ship for which they have been tried. 
Afterwards, in December 1697, (now I come to the firft Indidment) upon that very Coaft, forne 
Leagues from Calicut, they took a Moorifh Ketch, and this Ketch and the Goods aboard it, which 
were fome quantities of Sugar-Candy, Sugar, and Tobacco: It teems thefe Goods were (bared be-
tween them aboard the Ship; the WitnetS is not confident .what (hare the Captain then had, but 
what the Captain had not, was divided amonga them. The Witneffes fay they burnt this Ketch,be-
caufe (he was not ufeful to them, and the Men that were on board were put afhof,e. Now this is the 
matter of the fill Indiament, the piratically feizing and plundering, this Ketch, and taking the Goods 
out of her, and dividing them amongft the Prifoners ; both the Witneffes prove there was a diari-
bution of them. 

Then they come to the next Month, and that is January, and this is the matter of the fecond In-
didment, for piratically taking feveral Goods, to the value of fes'renty Pounds, from the Mariners of 
the Ship called the Portugal Ship: And thefe Witneffes prove the taking of thi3 ship on the Coaft of 
Ceilicut; and there were aboard this Ship feveral forts of Goods, Opium, Rice, Bees-wax, Butter, and 
other forts of Goods, which they judge might be worth four or five hundred Pounds. Now after this, 
there were fome Dutch Ships that gave chace to the Captain, and he was forced to leave the Ship; but 
he took fome of the Goods into his own Ship,and the ref l were fold,and the Money divided among the 
Men: The Captain called them one by one into his Cabbin, and fia they had their feveral (hares ac-
cording to the Propofals at New York, It is not pollible for them to fay they law every man's (hare 
paid, but they fay that they were all can by name to receive their (hares, and they went into the 
Cabbin for that purpofe, and they believe they had all their (hares according toAgreement, becaufe 
none complained that they had it not. 

Gentlemen, There is but one thing more that I will mention to you. When they carne to Mada-
gafcar, there was one Culliford who was a Pirate; and he íent fome of his Crew aboard, to know 
whether Captain Kid was not come with a defign to teize them, and hang them ; and he declared he 
had no Foch Dolign: And he and Culliford were extremely kind to one another, and made Vilits and 
Prefents to each other: And Captain Kid gave two Gun; to Cullford, as one of the Witneffes lays 3 
but the other Witnefs fays there were four Guns that he gave to Culliford,who was engaged in the fame 
defign of I irac y, and Culliford prefented other things to .Kid. Bue 
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But now, Gentlemen, the bufinefs you- are to inquire into is, the piratical taking of thefe Ships: And 
the Witnelles have pofitively and direly proved not only the taking the Ships but the feizing the Goods, 
and felling them, and filaring the Money. And if thefe Witnefres lay true, as nothing appears to the contra-
ry, by the Prifoners crois-examining them or otherwife ; they are not at contradided, or their credi-
bility made qutítionable : And they are fuel as are inoft likely to know what was done, being with them 
in the whole Voyage, and engaged with them in thefe Enterprifes. And if you can give entire credit to 
tITC Wimeik3, you will probably find theie Perfons guilty of the Piracy they are charged with; which 
L.awe to your Coafide..radon. 
" Now indeed there are three of them that are Servants, and perhaps you may think their Cafe is different 

from the rert; kobert Lamley, who was a Servant to Owens the Cook; Yenkins, who was Servant 
to the Mate ; and R. Baaraorn, who was Servant to Captain 1(7‘i. And tho' the WitneffCs do prove that 
they had their feveral fha res of the Goods and Money; yet, notwithfranding that, they being Servants, 
their Maltersanig,hr be entitled to their fhares. So that if you believe they were Servants, and comman-
ded io ferve and aífilt their Matters in what they did, I inuft leave it to you whether you will think fit to 
diftingd.ith their Cafe from the reft. I do not find that the others fay any thing material in their own defence, 
they have called no Witneifes at all. The Captain lays the blame on the Men, and the Men feem to lay 
the .13Janié'0I-1 him. He went out on a good defign, to take Pirates, had he purthed it; but inft.ead of that, 
it appears that he turned Pirate himfelf, and took the Ships and Goods of Friends inftead of Enemies, 
which was a notorious Breach of Trutt, as well as a manifeft Violation of Law. The Evidence feems 
itrong againft them, which I leave you to confider of. 

Then the j'ury withdrew, and after a frort fpace brought in their Verdid. 
Clerk of Arr. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names. 7o. Watfin. 
Clerk of Arr. Are you all agreed of your Verdid rn ? Zo. 71cPSII:f6Yne'S.He're,I'lc. 
Clerk of Arr. Who Caen fpeak for you ? Onznes Foreman. 
Clerk of Arr. Will. Kid, hold up thy hand, (w hich he did.) Look upon the Prifoner. How fay you ? Is 

Kid Gui icy of the Piracy and Robbgry whercofhe ftands indided in the firft Indidtment,or not Guilty ? 
Foreman, Guilty. 

Clerk of Arr. Is kobert Lamle Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman, Not Guilty. 
Clerk of Arr. Is Will.  51enkj115 Guilty; or not Guilty ? .Foreman, Not Guilty. 
Clerk of Arr. Is Gabriel Loft' Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman, Guilty.' 
Clerk of Arr. Is Hugh Parrot Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman, Guilty. 
Clerk of Arr. Is ./(-, Barlicorn Guilty, or not Guilty ? Foreman, Not Guilty. 
.Clerk of Arr. Is Darby Molins Guilty, or not Guilty Foreman, Guilty. 

The fame Vetdid was given as to all the Prifórzers upba ti5e other hzdament. 
kobert Cullzford, .Nich. Churchil, Darby Molins, and :7ohn Eldrzge, were arraigned for taking the Ship 

called the Great Mahonzet, and feizing the Goods to a confidérable value, to which they pleaded Not Guilty, 
Rob. Culliford, Churchil, Howe, and /14o/ins, were again indicted for another Ship taken piratically by 

them, to which they pleaded Not Guilty. 

kob. Cull/ford and kob. Hickman were again arraigned for piratically feizing another Ship called the Satis-
faftion, to which they pleaded Not Guilty. 

kob. COI:ford and kob. Hickman were again indided for Piracy committed on a Moo* Ship, to which 
they pleaded Not Guilty. 

Then the Court proceeding to the Tryals of the Perfons forementioned, kob Chilifbrd retraed his Plea; 
and pleaded Guilty, and .argued his coming in upon his Majefty's Proclamation; and his Cafe being parti-
cular, was argued by his Council, for the Benefit of his Majefty's Pardon. And Churchil, Howe, Molzks, 
and Hickman, likewife pleading Guilty; yam Eidridge was tried by himfelf, and found Guilty. 

After the Tryals were over,Judgment againft Cullzford was relpited,and he fet afide; the other Prifoners 
were called to the Bar in order to receive their Sentence as follows: 

Clerk of Ar;-. Will..Kfd, Hold up thy Hand, (which he did) What ¿anti thou fay for thy fell? Thou 
haft been indided for feveral Piracies and Robberies,and Murder,and hereupon haft been convided; What 
haft thou to fay for thy felf, why thou fhouldeft net die according to Law? 

Will. Kjd, Ihave nothing to fay, but that I have been fworn.againft by perjured and wicked People. 
Clerk, of Arr. Niel). Churchil, hold up thy hand, What haft thou to fay, e..j'a ? 
N. Church'', I came in upon his Majefty's Proclamation. 
Clerk of Arr. 7ames Howe, What haft thou to fay, 
7. Howe, I came in upon the King's gracious Proclamation, and hope I receive the Benefit thereof. 
Clerk of Arr. Gabriel Loff, What haft thou to lay, 
Clerk of Arr. Hugh Parrot, What haft thou to fay, d"e ? 
H. Parrot, I came and fUrrendred my felf to my Lord Bellamont. 
Clerk of Arr. Gabriel Owens, What haft thou to fay ? 
Gabriel Owens, I came in by his Majefty's Proclamation, and &fire the benefit of it 
Clerk of Arr. Darby Molins, What haft thou to fay ? 
Darby Molins, I can-me home upon the King's gracious Proclamation. 
Clerk of Arr. 9ohn Eldridge, What haft thou to fay, &e. 

7. airige, I have but little to lay, I am accufed but for one thing, and that is all, and I have been 
falfly accufed ; I call my fell on your Lordfhips and the Honourable Bench: 

Clerk of Arr. kobert Hickman, What haft thou to fay, &c? 

kobert Hickman, I came in according to the King's Proclamation, I came in within the time limited. 
Then Proclamation for Silence was made, while Sentence was pronouncing. 

Dr. Oxenden, You the Prifoners at the Bar, Will. Kid, N. Church'', Y. Howe, Gabriel Loft', Hugh par-
rot, Abel Owens, Darby Molins, kob. Hickman, and 7. Eldrige ; you have been feverally indiaed for leve-
ml Piracies and Robberies, 4nd you Will. Kid of Murder. You have been trYed by the Law of the Land, 
and convided ; and nothing now remains, but that Sentence be paífed according to the Law, And the 
Sentence of the Law is this, 

You [hall be taken from the Place where you are, and be carried to the Place from whence you came, 
and from thence to the Place of Execution, and there be feverally hanged by your Necks until you 

dead. And the Lord have Mercy on your Souls. 

My Lord, It is a very hard Sentence. For my part, I am the innocenteft Peltron of 1-!;e:n al!. 
only I have been fvvorn againft by perjured Performs. 
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